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CAUTIONARY STATEMENT
REGARDING FORWARD-LOOKING STATEMENTS
This annual report contains certain statements that are, or may be deemed to be, “forward-looking statements” within the meaning of Section 27A of the
Securities Act of 1933, as amended, and Section 21E of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, or the Exchange Act. These statements are subject
to risks and uncertainties. These statements may relate to, but are not limited to, information or assumptions about us, our capital and other expenditures,
dividends, financing plans, capital structure, cash flows, pending legal or regulatory proceedings and claims, general economic conditions, future economic
performance, operating income, costs savings and management's plans, strategies, goals and objectives for future operations and goals. We have based these
forward-looking statements largely on our current expectations and projections about future events and financial trends affecting the financial condition of our
business. These forward-looking statements are subject to a number of risks, uncertainties and assumptions, including, among other things, the risk factors
discussed in Item 1A of this annual report and other factors, most of which are beyond our control.
The words “believe,” “estimate,” “expect,” “anticipate,” “project,” “intend,” “plan,” “seek,” “could,” “should,” “may,” “potential” and similar expressions are
intended to identify forward-looking statements. All statements other than statements of current or historical fact contained in this annual report are forwardlooking statements. Although we believe that the forward-looking statements contained in this annual report are based upon reasonable assumptions, the
forward-looking events and circumstances discussed in this annual report may not occur and actual results could differ materially from those anticipated or
implied in the forward-looking statements.
Important factors that may affect our expectations, estimates or projections include:
•

our dependency on domestic oil and natural gas industry spending;

•

local and global impacts of the COVID-19 pandemic;

•

the sustained decline in, or substantial volatility of, oil and natural gas prices, and any related changes in expenditures by our customers;

•

our access to current or future financing arrangements, including ability to raise funds in the capital market or from other financing sources;

•

substantial doubt about our ability to continue as a going concern, including our ability to reduce operating, administrative, and capital expenditures;

•

our ability to satisfy our liquidity needs, including our ability to generate sufficient liquidity or cash flow or to obtain sufficient financing to fund our operations or
otherwise meet our obligations as they come due in the future;

•

our dependence on collections from our customers to provide our operating cash flows;

•

competition within our industry;

•

energy efficiency and technology trends;

•

potential future asset impairments;

•

our ability to fund our capital expenditure requirements;

•

our borrowing capacity, covenant compliance under instruments governing any of our existing or future indebtedness and cash flows;

•

a potential future downgrade of our credit rating;

•

operating hazards, including cyber-security and other risks incidental to our services;

•

environmental and other governmental regulations;

•

our ability to successfully execute, manage and integrate acquisitions;

•

the impact of Ascribe's voting control of the Company;

•

our dependency on several significant customers;

•

the effects of future acquisitions or dispositions on our business;

•

uncertainties about our ability to successfully execute our business and financial plans and strategies;

•

our ability to replace or add workers at economic rates;

•

the impact of regulations over climate change, hydraulic fracturing, and other environmental regulations;
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•

changes in regulatory, geopolitical, social, economic, tax or monetary policies and other factors resulting from the transition to the Biden administration and
Democratic control of Congress;

•

the limitations on net operating loss carryforwards following the March 2020 ownership change;

•

negative impacts of the delisting of our common stock from the New York Stock Exchange; and

•

other risks associated with the current trading price and potential dilution of our common stock.

Our forward-looking statements speak only as of the date of this annual report. Unless otherwise required by law, we undertake no obligation to publicly
update or revise any forward-looking statements, whether as a result of new information, future events or otherwise. All forward-looking statements included
herein are expressly qualified in their entirety by the cautionary statements contained or referred to in this section.
This annual report includes market share data, industry data and forecasts that we obtained from internal company surveys (including estimates based
on our knowledge and experience in the industry in which we operate), market research, consultant surveys, publicly available information, industry publications
and surveys. Industry surveys and publications, consultant surveys and forecasts generally state that the information contained therein has been obtained from
sources believed to be reliable. Although we believe such information is accurate and reliable, we have not independently verified any of the data from thirdparty sources cited or used for our management’s industry estimates, nor have we ascertained the underlying economic assumptions relied upon therein.
Statements as to our position relative to our competitors or as to market share refer to the most recent available data.
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PART I
ITEMS 1. AND 2.

BUSINESS AND PROPERTIES

General
We provide wellsite services in the United States to oil and natural gas production companies, with a focus on well servicing, water logistics, and
completion and remedial services which are trusted, safe, and reliable. These services are fundamental to establishing and maintaining the flow of oil and
natural gas throughout the productive life of a well. Our broad range of services enables us to meet multiple needs of our customers at the wellsite. We were
organized in 1992 as a Delaware corporation. References to “Basic,” the “Company,” “we,” “us” or “our” in this report refer to Basic Energy Services, Inc., and,
unless the context otherwise suggests, its wholly owned subsidiaries and its controlled subsidiaries.
Our operations are managed regionally and are concentrated in major United States onshore oil and natural gas producing regions located in Texas,
California, New Mexico, Oklahoma, Arkansas, Louisiana, Wyoming, North Dakota and Colorado. Our operations are focused on prolific basins that have
historically exhibited strong drilling and production economics in recent years as well as natural gas-focused shale plays characterized by prolific reserves.
Specifically, we have a significant presence in the Permian Basin, Bakken, Los Angeles and San Joaquin Basins, Eagle Ford, Haynesville, and Powder River
Basin. We provide our services to a diverse group of over 2,000 oil and gas companies.
On March 9, 2020, the Company acquired C&J Well Services, Inc. ("CJWS") from NexTier Holding Co. CJWS is the third largest rig servicing provider
in the U.S., with a leading footprint in California and a strong customer base. Through the acquisition of CJWS, the Company expanded its footprint in the
Permian, California and other key oil basins. The Company paid $95.7 million in total consideration for the acquisition at closing, comprised of $59.4 million in
cash and $36.3 million in other consideration described fully in Note 1. "Description of Business - Acquisition of C&J Well Services, Inc." in the notes to our
consolidated financial statements included elsewhere in this Annual Report on Form 10-K.
Our current operating segments are Well Servicing, Water Logistics, and Completion & Remedial Services. These segments were selected based on
management’s resource allocation and performance assessment in making decisions regarding the Company. Prior to December 2019, the Company operated
an Other Services segment, which was comprised of contract drilling services and manufacturing and rig servicing. Contract drilling was discontinued as a
service in the third quarter of 2019, and manufacturing and rig servicing was realigned with Well Servicing. Our Pumping Services Division, which was included
in the Completion & Remedial Services segment, was discontinued in the fourth quarter of 2019, and related assets and liabilities were divested or transferred to
Assets or Liabilities Held for Sale on the Company's Consolidated Balance Sheet. The results of both the Pumping Services Division and contract drilling
services are included in Discontinued Operations in the Company's Statement of Operations. The following is a description of our business segments included
in continuing operations:
•

Well Servicing - Our Well Servicing segment (52% of our continuing revenues in 2020) operates our fleet of 514 active well servicing rigs and
related equipment. This business segment encompasses a full range of services performed with a mobile well servicing rig, including the
installation and removal of downhole equipment and the completion of the well bore to initiate production of oil and natural gas. These services
are performed to establish, maintain and improve production throughout the productive life of an oil and natural gas well and to plug and abandon
a well at the end of its productive life. Our well servicing equipment and capabilities also facilitate most other services performed on a well.

•

Water Logistics - Our Water Logistics segment (34% of our continuing revenues in 2020) utilizes our fleet of 1,193 water logistics trucks and
related assets, including specialized tank trucks, storage tanks, pipelines, water wells, disposal facilities and other related equipment. These
assets provide, transport, store and dispose of a variety of fluids, as well as provide maintenance services. These services are required in most
workover and completion and remedial projects and are routinely used in daily producing well operations.

•

Completion & Remedial Services - Our Completion & Remedial Services segment (14% of our continuing revenues in 2020) operates an array of
specialized rental equipment and fishing tools, coiled tubing units, thru-tubing, and air compressor packages specially configured for
underbalanced drilling operations.
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General Industry Overview
Our business is driven by expenditures of oil and gas companies. Our customers' spending is categorized as either an operating or a capital
expenditure. Activities designed to add hydrocarbon reserves are classified as capital expenditures, while those associated with maintaining or accelerating
production are categorized as operating expenses.
Because existing oil and natural gas wells require ongoing spending to maintain production, expenditures by oil and gas companies for the
maintenance of existing wells historically have been relatively stable and predictable. In contrast, capital expenditures by oil and gas companies for exploration
and drilling are more directly influenced by current and expected oil and natural gas prices and generally reflect the volatility of commodity prices. We believe
our focus on production and workover activity partially insulates our financial results from the volatility of the active drilling rig count. However, significantly lower
commodity prices have impacted production and workover activities due to both customer cash liquidity limitations and well economics for these service
activities.
Capital expenditures by oil and gas companies tend to be sensitive to volatility in oil or natural gas prices because project decisions are based on a
return on investment over a number of years. As such, capital expenditure economics often require the use of commodity price forecasts which may prove
inaccurate in the amount of time required to plan and execute a capital expenditure project (such as the drilling of a deep well). When commodity prices are
depressed for even a short period of time, capital expenditure projects are routinely deferred until prices return to an acceptable level.
In contrast, both mandatory and discretionary operating expenditures are substantially more stable than exploration and drilling expenditures.
Mandatory operating expenditure projects involve activities that cannot be avoided in the short term, such as regulatory compliance, safety, contractual
obligations and projects to maintain the well and related infrastructure in operating condition (for example, repairs or replacement of wellbore production
equipment, repairs to well casings to maintain mechanical integrity or well interventions to evaluate wellbore integrity). Discretionary operating expenditure
projects may not be critical to the short-term viability of a lease or field, but these projects are relatively insensitive to commodity price volatility. Discretionary
operating expenditure work is evaluated according to a simple short-term payout criterion that is far less dependent on commodity price forecasts.
Going Concern and Strategic Initiatives
Demand for services offered by our industry is a function of our customers’ willingness and ability to make operating and capital expenditures to explore
for, develop and produce hydrocarbons in the United States. Our customers’ expenditures are affected by both current and expected levels of commodity prices.
Industry conditions during 2020 were greatly influenced by factors that impacted supply and demand in the global oil and natural gas markets, including
a global outbreak of the novel coronavirus ("COVID-19") and the announced price reductions and possible production increases by members of Organization of
the Petroleum Exporting Countries (“OPEC”) and other oil exporting nations. As a result, the posted price for West Texas Intermediate oil ("WTI") declined
sharply during early 2020 from 2019.
This decline in oil and natural gas prices, and the consequent impact on industry exploration and production activity, has adversely impacted the level
of drilling and workover activity by our customers. As a result of these weak energy sector conditions and lower demand for our products and services, customer
contract pricing, our operating results, our working capital and our operating cash flows have been negatively impacted during 2020. During the last half of 2020,
we had difficulty paying for our contractual obligations as they came due, and we continue to have this difficulty in 2021. Management has taken several steps
to generate additional liquidity, including reducing operating and administrative costs, employee headcount reductions, closing operating locations,
implementing employee furloughs, other cost reduction measures, and the suspension of growth capital expenditures.
While market prices for oil and natural gas have improved in early 2021, the overall trends in our business have not yet recovered. We expect that
demand for our services will increase as a result of these higher oil and natural gas prices; however, we are unable to predict when this increased demand and
resulting improvement in our results of operations will occur.
Our liquidity and ability to comply with debt covenants that may be required under the 10.75% Senior Secured Notes due 2023 (the "Senior Notes") and
the revolving credit facility (the “ABL Facility”) have been negatively impacted by the downturn in the energy markets, volatility in commodity prices and their
effects on our customers and us, as well as general macroeconomic conditions. If an event of default were to occur, our lenders could, in addition to other
remedies such as charging default interest, accelerate the maturity of the outstanding
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indebtedness, making it immediately due and payable, and we may not have sufficient liquidity to repay those amounts.
We continue to have difficulty paying for our contractual obligations as they come due. Management has taken several steps to generate additional
liquidity, including reducing operating and administrative costs, employee headcount reductions, closing operating locations, implementing employee furloughs,
other cost reduction measures, and the suspension of growth capital expenditures. As discussed in Note 1 to the consolidated financial statements included
elsewhere in this annual report, the recent decline in the customers’ demand for our services has had a material adverse impact on the financial condition of the
Company, resulting in recurring losses from operations, a net capital deficiency, and liquidity constraints that raise substantial doubt about its ability to continue
as a going concern. Among the other steps that our management may or is implementing to attempt to alleviate this substantial doubt include additional sales of
non-strategic assets, obtaining waivers of debt covenant requirements from our lenders, restructuring or refinancing our debt agreements, or obtaining equity
financing. In addition, we had a significant contractual obligation to pay cash or issue additional Senior Notes to our largest shareholder, Ascribe III Investments
LLC ("Ascribe"), resulting from our acquisition of CJWS. On March 31, 2021, the Company negotiated a settlement of this obligation with Ascribe in exchange
for issuing additional Senior Notes to Ascribe with an aggregate par value of $47.5 million. See Note 18. "Subsequent Event" in the notes to our consolidated
financial statements included elsewhere in this Annual Report on Form 10-K for more information about the settlement of the Make-Whole Reimbursement.
Management has prepared the consolidated financial statements included in this annual report in accordance with U.S. generally accepted accounting
principles applicable to a going concern, which contemplates that assets will be realized and liabilities will be discharged in the normal course of business as
they become due. These consolidated financial statements do not reflect the adjustments to the carrying values of assets and liabilities and the reported
revenues and expenses and balance sheet classifications that would be necessary if the Company was unable to realize its assets and settle its liabilities as a
going concern in the normal course of operations. Such adjustments could be material and adverse to the financial results of the Company.
We are engaged in ongoing discussions regarding our liquidity and financial situation with representatives of the lenders under the ABL Credit Facility,
and have received from the lenders under the ABL Credit Facility a waiver of the default that otherwise would have arisen under the ABL Credit Facility as a
result of the “going concern” disclosures described above. We also are evaluating certain strategic alternatives including financings, refinancings, amendments,
waivers, forbearances, asset sales, debt issuances, exchanges and purchases, a combination of the foregoing, or other out-of-court or in-court bankruptcy
restructurings of our debt to address these matters, which may include discussions with holders of the Senior Notes for a comprehensive de-leveraging
transaction.
If the Company is unable to effectuate a successful debt restructuring, the Company expects that it will continue to experience adverse pressures on its
relationships with counterparties who are critical to its business, its ability to access the capital markets, its ability to execute on its operational and strategic
goals and its business, prospects, results of operations and liquidity generally. There can be no assurance as to when or whether the Company will implement
any action as a result of these strategic initiatives, whether the implementation of one or more such actions will be successful, whether the Company will be able
to effect a refinancing of its Senior Notes or otherwise access the capital markets, or the effects the failure to take action may have on the Company’s business,
its ability to achieve its operational and strategic goals or its ability to finance its business or refinance its indebtedness. A failure to address the Company’s level
of corporate leverage in the near-term will have a material adverse effect on the Company’s business, prospects, results of operations, liquidity and financial
condition, and its ability to service or refinance its corporate debt as it becomes due.
Our Competitive Strengths
We believe that the following competitive strengths currently position us well within our industry:
Experienced Management with Strong Corporate Infrastructure - Our leadership team is responsible for maintaining a culture of safety and integrity to
support our diversified operations through best-in-class safety and environmental, information and technology, finance and accounting, and human resources
management. Our long-tenured regional management team has extensive knowledge of customer relationships, personnel management, accident prevention,
and equipment maintenance in their respective local markets, which are key drivers of our operating profitability. Our management structure allows us to
promote a safety culture, monitor operating performance on a daily basis, maintain financial, accounting and asset management controls, integrate acquisitions,
prepare timely financial information and manage risk.
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Extensive Domestic Footprint in the Most Prolific Basins - Our operations are focused on prolific basins located in the United States that have exhibited
strong drilling and production economics in recent years as well as natural gas-focused shale plays characterized by prolific reserves. Specifically, we have a
significant presence in the Permian Basin and the Eagle Ford and Haynesville shale plays. We operate in states that account for approximately 98% of U.S.
onshore oil and natural gas production. We believe our operations are located in the most active U.S. well services markets, as we currently focus our
operations on onshore domestic oil and natural gas production areas that include both the highest concentration of existing oil and natural gas production
activities and the largest prospective acreage for new drilling activity. We believe our extensive footprint allows us to offer our suite of services to more than
2,000 customers who are active in those areas and allows us to redeploy equipment between markets as activity shifts.
Diversified Service Offering for Further Revenue Growth and Reduced Volatility - We believe our range of wellsite services provides us a competitive
advantage over smaller companies that typically offer fewer services. Our experience, equipment and network of area offices position us to market our full range
of wellsite services to our existing customers. By utilizing a wider range of our services, our customers can use fewer service providers, which enables them to
reduce their administrative costs and simplify their logistics. Furthermore, offering a broader range of services allows us to capitalize on our existing customer
base and management structure to grow within existing markets, generate more business from existing customers, and increase our operating profits as we
spread our overhead costs over a larger revenue base.
Significant Market Position - We maintain a significant market share for each of our lines of business within our core operating areas: the Permian Basin
of West Texas and Southeast New Mexico, California, the Gulf Coast region of South Texas and Louisiana, the Central region of North Texas, Oklahoma,
Arkansas, Louisiana and Colorado. Our goal is to be the most trusted provider of the services we provide in each of our core operating areas. Our position in
each of these markets allows us to expand the range of services performed throughout the life of the well.
Modern and Competitive Fleet - We operate a modern fleet matched to the needs of the local markets in each of our business segments. We are driven
by a desire to maintain one of the most efficient, reliable and safest fleets of equipment in the country, and we have an established program to routinely monitor
and evaluate the condition of our equipment. We selectively refurbish equipment to maintain the quality of our service and to provide a safe working
environment for our personnel. We believe that by maintaining a modern and active asset base, we are better able to earn our customers’ business while
reducing the risk of potential downtime.
Our Business Strategy
The key components of our business strategy in the current industry environment include a multiphase approach that is well under way:
Phase I: Right size the organization to new reality
Phase II: Reorganize the structure to increase operating leverage
Phase III: Complete centralization of functions and evaluation of finance organization
Phase IV: Build financial leverage to execute continued inorganic growth strategy
Phase V: Run businesses to maximum free cash flow and opportunistically pursue divestment
Elements of our strategy are bolstered by focus areas as follows:
Establishing and Maintaining Leadership Positions in Core Operating Areas - We strive to establish and maintain market leadership positions within our
core operating areas. To achieve this, we promote a culture of safety, which is important to our customers and employees, and offer trusted services and
equipment that meet the scope of customers objectives. Our leading presence in our core operating areas facilitates employee retention and provides us with
brand recognition.
Developing Additional Service Offerings Within the Well Servicing Market - We intend to continue broadening the portfolio of services we provide to our
clients by utilizing our well servicing infrastructure. A customer typically begins a maintenance or workover project by securing access to a well servicing rig,
which stays on site for the duration of the project. As a result, our rigs are often the first equipment to arrive at the wellsite and typically the last to leave,
providing us the opportunity to offer our customers other complementary services. We believe the fragmented nature of the well servicing market creates an
opportunity to sell more services to our core customers and to expand our total service offering within each of our markets. We expect to continue to develop or
selectively acquire capabilities to provide additional services to expand and further strengthen our customer relationships.
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Drive Cultural Change with our Safety Program - Our approach to safety management is consistent with our corporate values to be a trusted, reliable,
and safe service provider for our customers and employees. Our business involves the operation of heavy and powerful equipment, which may result in serious
injuries to our employees and third parties and substantial damage to property. We have continuous engagement by executive management in our
comprehensive safety and training programs, which are designed to minimize accidents in the workplace and on the roadways. We have directed substantial
resources toward employee safety and quality management training programs as well as our employee review process. Our customers place great emphasis on
the safety and quality management programs of their contractors, and we expect our continued focus on safety to become a positive market differentiator in the
future.
Pursuing Growth Through Selective Capital Deployment and Divestitures - We intend to grow our business through selective acquisitions and
investments with high returns. We believe that consolidation in our industry is necessary, and we continuously look for acquisition opportunities that align with
our organization. We also look for opportunities to divest unprofitable lines of business and convert those less profitable assets into new technology and new
lines of business that leverage our existing business model.
Overview of Our Segments and Services
Well Servicing Segment
Our Well Servicing segment encompasses a full range of services performed with a mobile well servicing rig, also commonly referred to as a workover
rig, and ancillary equipment. Our rigs and personnel provide the means for hoisting equipment and tools into and out of the well bore, and our well servicing
equipment and capabilities also facilitate most other services performed on a well. Our well servicing segment performs hoisting, circulating, and rotating
services to establish, maintain and improve production throughout the productive life of an oil and natural gas well, which include:
•
new well completion services involving the preparation of newly drilled wells for oil and natural gas production after the initial drilling of the
wellbore;
•
maintenance work involving removal, repair and replacement of down-hole equipment and components, and returning the well to production after
these operations are completed;
•
well workovers which potentially include deepening, adding productive zones, isolating intervals, or repairing casings required by the operation
into and out of the well, or removing equipment from the well bore, to facilitate specialized production enhancement and well repair operations
performed by other oilfield service companies; and
•
plugging and abandonment services when a well has reached the end of its productive life.
Regardless of the type of work being performed on the well, our personnel and rigs are often the first to arrive at the wellsite and the last to leave. We
typically charge our customers an hourly rate for these services, which varies based on a number of considerations including market conditions in each region,
the type of rig and ancillary equipment required, and the necessary personnel. Our actively marketed fleet included 514 well servicing rigs as of December 31,
2020. Our well servicing rigs are mobile units that normally operate within a radius of approximately 75 to 100 miles from their respective bases.
Regular maintenance is required throughout the life of a well to sustain optimal levels of oil and natural gas production. Regular maintenance currently
comprises the largest portion of our work in this segment, and because ongoing maintenance spending is required to sustain production, we have historically
experienced relatively stable demand for these services. Maintenance services are often performed on a series of wells in proximity to each other and consist of
routine mechanical repairs necessary to maintain production, such as repairing inoperable pumping equipment in an oil well or replacing defective tubing in a
natural gas well, and removing debris such as sand and paraffin, from the well. Other services include pulling the rods, tubing, pumps, and other downhole
equipment out of the well bore to identify and repair a production problem. These downhole equipment failures are typically caused by the repetitive pumping
action of an oil well. Corrosion, water cut, grade of oil, sand production, and other factors can also result in frequent failures of downhole equipment.
The demand for maintenance does not directly depend on the level of drilling activity, although it is impacted by fluctuations in oil and natural gas
prices. Demand for our maintenance services is driven primarily by the production requirements of local oil or natural gas fields and is therefore affected by
changes in the total number of producing oil and natural gas wells in our geographic service areas.
Our well maintenance services involve relatively low-cost, short-duration jobs which are part of normal well operating costs. Well operators cannot delay
all maintenance work without a significant impact on production. Operators may, however, choose to shut in producing wells temporarily when oil or natural gas
prices are too low to justify additional expenditures, including maintenance.
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In addition to periodic maintenance, producing oil and natural gas wells occasionally require major repairs or modifications called workovers, which are
typically more complex and more time consuming than maintenance operations. Workover services include extensions of existing wells to drain new formations
either through perforating the well casing to expose additional productive zones not previously produced, deepening well bores to new zones or the drilling of
lateral well bores to improve reservoir drainage patterns. Our workover rigs are also used to convert former producing wells to injection wells through which
water or carbon dioxide is then pumped into the formation for enhanced oil recovery operations. Workovers also include major subsurface repairs such as
repair or replacement of well casing, recovery or replacement of tubing and removal of foreign objects from the well bore. These extensive workover operations
are normally performed by a workover rig with additional specialized auxiliary equipment, which may include rotary drilling equipment, mud pumps, mud tanks
and fishing tools, depending upon the particular type of workover operation. Most of our well servicing rigs are designed to perform complex workover
operations. A workover may require a few days to several weeks and additional auxiliary equipment. The demand for workover services is sensitive to oil and
natural gas producers’ intermediate and long-term expectations for oil and natural gas prices. As oil and natural gas prices increase, the level of workover
activity tends to increase as oil and natural gas producers seek to increase output by enhancing the efficiency of their wells.
New well completion services involve the preparation of newly drilled wells for production. The completion process may involve selectively perforating
the well casing in the productive zones to allow oil or natural gas to flow into the well bore, stimulating and testing these zones and installing the production
string and other downhole equipment. We provide well service rigs to assist in this completion process. Newly drilled wells are frequently completed by well
servicing rigs to minimize the use of higher cost drilling rigs in the completion process. The completion process typically requires a few days to several weeks,
depending on the nature and type of the completion, and require additional auxiliary equipment. Accordingly, completion services require less well-to-well
mobilization of equipment and normally provide higher operating margins than regular maintenance work. The demand for completion services is directly related
to drilling activity levels, which are sensitive to expectations relating to and changes in oil and natural gas prices.
Well servicing rigs are also used in the process of permanently closing oil and natural gas wells no longer capable of producing in economic quantities.
Plugging and abandonment work can be performed with a well servicing rig along with wireline and cementing equipment; however, this service is typically
provided by companies that specialize in plugging and abandonment work. Many well operators bid this work on a “turnkey” basis, requiring the service
company to perform the entire job, including the sale or disposal of equipment salvaged from the well as part of the compensation received, and comply with
state regulatory requirements. Plugging and abandonment work can provide favorable operating margins and is less sensitive to oil and natural gas prices than
drilling and workover activity since well operators must plug a well in accordance with state regulations when it is no longer productive. We perform plugging and
abandonment work throughout our core areas of operation in conjunction with equipment provided by other service companies.
For financial results for the Well Servicing segment, see Note 16, Business Segment Information of the notes to our consolidated financial statements
included in this Annual Report on Form 10-K.
Water Logistics Segment
Our Water Logistics segment provides oilfield fluid supply, transportation, storage, and midstream services. These services are required in most
workovers and are routinely used in daily producing well operations. These services include:
•
•
•
•
•

the operation of company-owned fresh water and brine source wells and of non-hazardous wastewater disposal wells;
the sale and transportation of fresh and brine water used in drilling and workover activities;
the transportation of fluids used in drilling, completion, workover, and flowback operations and of saltwater produced as a by-product of oil and
natural gas production either by truck or pipeline;
the rental of portable fracturing tanks and test tanks used to store fluids on wellsites; and
the recycling and treatment of wastewater, including produced water and flowback, to be reused in the completion and production process.

This segment utilizes our fleet of water logistics trucks and related assets, including specialized tank trucks, portable storage tanks, water wells,
disposal facilities and related equipment.
Requirements for minor or incidental water logistics are usually purchased on a “call out” basis and charged according to a published schedule of rates.
Larger projects, such as servicing the requirements of a multi-well
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drilling program or fracturing program, generally involve a bidding process. We compete for services both on a call out basis and for multi-well contract projects.
We provide a full array of fluid sales, transportation, storage, treatment, and disposal services required on most workover, completion and remedial
projects. Our breadth of capabilities in this segment allows us to serve as a one-stop source of equipment and services for our customers. Many of our smaller
competitors in this segment can provide some, but not all, of the equipment and services required by oil and gas operators, requiring them to use several
companies to meet their requirements and increasing their administrative burden.
Our water logistics segment has a base level of business volume related to the production of oil and natural gas wells. Most oil and natural gas fields
produce residual saltwater in conjunction with oil or natural gas. This residual water remains the legal property of the producer throughout the disposal process.
We transport and dispose of this water using several different methods. Water logistics trucks pick up this fluid from tank batteries at the wellsite and transport it
to a saltwater disposal well for injection. Water can also be transported from the tank battery to the saltwater disposal well by pipeline. Pipelining of water
represented approximately 43% of total disposal volumes in 2020. This type of regular maintenance work must be performed if a well is to remain active. Our
ability to outperform competitors in this segment depends on our ability to achieve significant economies relating to logistics, specifically the proximity between
the areas where saltwater is produced and the areas where our company-owned disposal wells are located. We operate saltwater disposal wells in most of our
markets, and our ownership of these disposal wells eliminates the need to pay third parties a fee for disposal.
Completion, remedial, and workover activities also provide the opportunity for higher operating margins from tank rentals and fluid sales. Drilling and
workover jobs typically require fresh or brine water for drilling mud or circulating fluid used during the job. Completion and workover procedures often also
require large volumes of water for fracturing operations, which involves stimulating a well hydraulically to increase production. Flowback fluids, spent mud, and
fluids from drilling and completion activities are required to be transported from the wellsite to an approved disposal facility. Water treatment solutions are also
utilized by customers to treat produced water and flowback, in order to be reused during the production and completion process.
Activity in the water logistics industry is comprised of a relatively stable demand for services related to the maintenance of producing wells and a highly
variable demand for services used in the drilling and completion of new wells. As a result, onshore drilling activity significantly affects the level of activity in the
water logistics industry. While there are no industry-wide statistics, the Baker Hughes Land Drilling Rig Count is an indirect indication of demand for water
logistics because it directly reflects onshore drilling activity.
At December 31, 2020, we owned 80 saltwater disposal wells through our wholly owned subsidiary, Agua Libre Midstream LLC ("Agua Libre," or "Agua
Libre Midstream"). Our disposal wells have an average permitted injection capacity of over 10,500 bbls per day per well and are strategically located in close
proximity to our customers’ producing wells. Our water logistics trucks frequently transport the fluids that are disposed of to these saltwater disposal wells. Most
oil and natural gas wells produce varying amounts of saltwater throughout their productive lives. In the states in which we operate, oil and natural gas wastes
and saltwater produced from oil and natural gas wells are required by law to be disposed of in authorized facilities, including permitted saltwater disposal wells.
Injection wells are licensed by state authorities and are completed in permeable formations below the fresh water table. We maintain separators at most of our
disposal wells, allowing us to salvage residual crude oil that we later sell.
Our network of fresh and brine water stations, particularly in the Permian Basin where surface water is normally not available, is used to supply water
necessary for the drilling and completion of oil and natural gas wells. Our strategic locations, in combination with our other fluid handling services, give us a
competitive advantage over other service providers in those areas in which these other companies cannot provide these services.
Our fluid storage tanks can store up to 500 barrels of fluid and are used by oilfield operators to store various fluids at the wellsite, including fresh water,
brine and acid for fracturing jobs, flowback, temporary production and mud storage. We transport the tanks on our trucks to well locations that are usually within
a 50-mile radius of our nearest yard. Fracturing tanks are used during all phases of the life of a producing well. We typically rent fluid services tanks at daily
rates for a minimum of three days.
At December 31, 2020, we owned and operated 1,193 water logistics trucks, each equipped with an average fluid hauling capacity of up to 150 barrels.
Each water logistics truck is equipped to pump fluids from or into wells, pits, tanks and other storage facilities. The majority of our water logistics trucks are also
used to transport water to fill fracturing tanks on well locations, including fracturing tanks provided by us and others, to transport produced saltwater to disposal
wells, including injection wells owned and operated by us, and to transport drilling and completion fluids to and from well locations. In conjunction with the rental
of our fracturing tanks, we mainly use
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our water logistics trucks to transport water for use in fracturing operations. Following completion of fracturing operations, our water logistics trucks are used to
transport the flowback produced as a result of the fracturing operations from the wellsite to disposal wells. Water logistics trucks are usually provided to oilfield
operators within a 50-mile radius of our nearest yard.
For financial results for the Water Logistics segment, see Note 16, Business Segment Information of the notes to our consolidated financial statements
included in this Annual Report on Form 10-K.
Completion & Remedial Services Segment
Our Completion & Remedial Services segment provides oil and natural gas operators with a package of services that include: rental and fishing tools,
coiled tubing, thru-tubing, and underbalanced drilling in low pressure and fluid sensitive reservoirs.
Our rental and fishing tool business provides a range of specialized services and equipment that is utilized on a non-routine basis for both drilling and
well servicing operations. Drilling and well servicing rigs are equipped with an array of tools to complete routine operations under normal conditions for most
projects in the geographic area in which they are employed. When downhole problems develop with drilling or servicing operations or conditions require nonroutine equipment, our customers will usually rely on a provider of rental and fishing tools to augment equipment that is provided with a typical drilling or well
servicing rig package.
The term “fishing” applies to a wide variety of downhole operations designed to correct a problem that has developed during the drilling or servicing of a
well. The problem most commonly involves equipment that has become lodged in the well and cannot be removed without special equipment. Our technicians
utilize tools that are specifically suited to retrieve, or “fish,” and remove the trapped equipment, allowing our customers to resume operations.
Coiled tubing services involve the use of a continuous metal pipe spooled on a large reel for oil and natural gas well interventions, including wellbore
maintenance, plugging and abandonment, nitrogen services, thru-tubing services, and formation stimulation using acid and other chemicals.
For financial results for the Completion & Remedial Services segment, see Note 16, Business Segment Information of the notes to our consolidated
financial statements included in this Annual Report on Form 10-K.
Customers
We serve numerous major and independent oil and gas companies that are active in our core areas of operations. In the current market conditions, the
loss of any current material customers could have an adverse effect on our business operations until the equipment is redeployed. During each of 2020 and
2019, our top five customers accounted for 47% and 26% of our revenues, respectively. Chevron comprised 22% of our revenues in 2020 and Occidental
Petroleum Corp. comprised 12% of our revenues in 2019. The loss of any one of our largest customers or a sustained decrease in demand by any of such
customers could result in a substantial loss of revenues and could have a material adverse effect on our results of operations.
Competition
Our competition includes small regional contractors as well as larger companies with international operations. We believe our largest well servicing
competitors are Superior Energy Services Inc., Key Energy Services, Inc., Ranger Energy Services Inc., Brigade Energy Services LLC and Pioneer Energy
Services Corp. Our main competitors are a mix of public and private companies that operate broadly across the most active oil and natural gas producing
regions in the United States, and because of their size, they market a large portion of their work to the large independent and major oil and gas operators. Our
competitors in the water logistics industry are mostly small, regionally focused companies. We believe there are currently no companies that have a dominant
position on a nationwide basis.
We differentiate ourselves from our major competition by our operating philosophy. We operate an organization that emphasizes safety, reliability, and
trust that the job will be done as required and without incident. Local, experienced management teams are responsible for operations and communication with
our customers at the field level. We concentrate on providing services to a diverse group of large and small oil and gas companies. We believe that establishing
a track record of safety, integrity, and reliability with these companies will enable us to continue to grow our business in the long-term.
Employees
As of December 31, 2020, we employed approximately 2,800 people, with approximately 80% employed on an hourly basis. Our future success will
depend on our ability to attract, retain and motivate qualified personnel. We
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are not a party to any collective bargaining agreements, and we consider our relations with our employees to be satisfactory.
Properties
Our principal executive offices are located at 801 Cherry Street, Suite 2100, Fort Worth, Texas 76102. We conduct our business through a number of
owned and leased locations, which typically consist of a yard, administrative office and maintenance facility. Our offices are located in Texas, California, New
Mexico, Oklahoma, Colorado, Louisiana, North Dakota, Wyoming, and Arkansas.
Operating Risks and Insurance
Though we make every effort to maintain a safety-focused culture, our operations are subject to hazards inherent in the oil and natural gas industry,
such as accidents, blowouts, explosions, craters, fires, and oil spills that may cause personal injury or loss of life, damage to or destruction of property,
equipment and the environment, and suspension of operations.
In addition, claims for loss of oil and natural gas production and damage to formations can occur in the well services industry. If a serious accident were
to occur at a location where our equipment and services are being used, it could result in us being named as a defendant in lawsuits asserting large claims.
Because our business involves the transportation of heavy equipment and materials, we may also experience traffic accidents that may result in spills,
property damage and personal injury.
Despite our efforts to maintain high safety standards, we have suffered accidents in the past and will likely experience accidents in the future. In addition
to the property and personal losses from these accidents, the frequency and severity of these incidents affect our operating costs and insurability and our
relationships with customers, employees and regulatory agencies. Any significant increase in the frequency or severity of these incidents, or the general level of
damage awards, could adversely affect the cost of, or our ability to obtain, workers’ compensation and other forms of insurance, and could have other material
adverse effects on our financial condition and results of operations.
Although we maintain insurance coverage of types and amounts that we believe to be customary in the industry, we are not fully insured against all
risks, either because insurance is not available or because of the high premium costs. We do maintain employer’s liability, pollution, cargo, umbrella,
comprehensive commercial general liability, workers’ compensation and limited physical damage insurance. There can be no assurance, however, that any
insurance obtained by us will be adequate to cover all losses or liabilities, or that this insurance will continue to be available or available on terms that are
acceptable to us. Liabilities for which we are not insured, or which exceed the policy limits of our applicable insurance, could have a material adverse effect on
our business and financial condition.
Environmental Regulation and Climate Change
Environment, Health and Safety Regulation, Including Climate Change
Our operations are subject to stringent federal, tribal, state and local laws regulating the discharge of materials into the environment or otherwise
relating to health and safety or the protection of the environment. Numerous governmental agencies, such as the U.S. Environmental Protection Agency (the
"EPA") and analogous state agencies, issue regulations to implement and enforce these laws, which often require stringent and costly compliance measures.
These laws and regulations may, among other things, require the acquisition of permits; govern the amounts and types of substances that may be released into
the environment in connection with oil and natural gas drilling; restrict the way we handle or dispose of our materials and wastes; limit or prohibit construction or
drilling activities in sensitive areas such as wetlands, wilderness areas or areas inhabited by endangered or threatened species; require the application of
specific health and safety criteria addressing worker protection and public health and safety; require installation of costly emission monitoring and/or pollution
control equipment; require reporting of the types and quantities of various substances that are generated, stored, processed, or released in connection with our
operations; or require investigatory and remedial actions to mitigate pollution conditions. Failure to comply with these laws and regulations may result in the
assessment of substantial administrative, civil and criminal penalties, as well as the possible issuance of injunctions limiting or prohibiting our activities. In
addition, some laws and regulations relating to protection of the environment may, in certain circumstances, impose liability for environmental damages and
cleanup costs without regard to negligence or fault. Strict adherence with these regulatory requirements increases our cost of doing business and consequently
affects our profitability. Historically, our environmental compliance costs have not had a material adverse effect on our results of operations; however, there can
be no assurance that such costs will not be material in the future or that such future compliance will not
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have a material adverse effect on our business and operating results. Moreover, environmental laws and regulations have been subject to frequent changes
over the years and tend to become more stringent over time, and the imposition of more stringent requirements could have a material adverse effect upon our
capital expenditures, earnings or our competitive position. Below is a discussion of the principal environmental laws and regulations, as amended from time to
time, that relate to our business.
The Comprehensive Environmental Response, Compensation and Liability Act, referred to as “CERCLA” or the Superfund law, and comparable state
laws impose liability, potentially without regard to fault or legality of the activity at the time, on certain classes of persons that are considered to be responsible
for the release of a hazardous substance into the environment. These persons include the current or former owner or operator of the disposal site or sites where
the release occurred and companies that disposed or arranged for the transport or disposal of hazardous substances that have been released at the site. Under
CERCLA, these persons may be subject to joint and several liabilities for the costs of investigating and cleaning up hazardous substances that have been
released into the environment, for damages to natural resources and for the costs of some health studies. In addition, neighboring landowners and other third
parties may file claims for personal injury and property damage allegedly caused by hazardous substances or other pollutants released into the environment.
The federal Solid Waste Disposal Act, as amended by the Resource Conservation and Recovery Act of 1976, referred to as “RCRA,” and analogous
state laws, regulate the management and disposal of solid and hazardous waste. Some wastes associated with the exploration and production of oil and natural
gas are exempted from the most stringent regulation in certain circumstances, such as drilling fluids, produced waters and other wastes associated with the
exploration, development or production of oil and natural gas. However, this exemption for such drilling fluids, produced waters and other oil and natural gas
wastes is subject to being limited or lost. For example, the EPA and certain non-governmental environmental groups that were contesting the EPA’s alleged
failure to timely assess its RCRA Subtitle D criteria regulations for oil and natural gas wastes entered into an agreement that was finalized in a consent decree
issued by the U.S. District Court for the District of Columbia in December 2016. Under the decree, the EPA was required to propose no later than March 15,
2019, a rulemaking for revision of certain Subtitle D criteria regulations pertaining to oil and natural gas wastes or sign a determination that revision of the
regulations is not necessary. If the EPA were to propose a rulemaking for revised oil and natural gas waste regulations, the consent decree requires that the
EPA take final action following notice and comment rulemaking no later than July 15, 2021. After initially postponing the decision due to a government
shutdown, EPA ultimately concluded in April 2019 that revisions to the federal regulations pertaining to oil and natural gas wastes under Subtitle D of RCRA are
not necessary at this time. Nevertheless, a loss of the RCRA hazardous waste exemption for drilling fluids, produced waters and related wastes could result in
an increase in customers’ drilling programs’ costs to manage and dispose of wastes they generate, which development could have a material adverse effect on
the drilling program’s operations and reduce the demand for our services. Moreover, these wastes and other wastes may be otherwise regulated by the EPA or
state agencies. In the ordinary course of our operations, industrial wastes such as paint wastes and waste solvents may be regulated as hazardous waste under
RCRA or considered hazardous substances under CERCLA.
We currently own or lease, and have in the past owned or leased, a number of properties that have been used as service yards in support of oil and
natural gas exploration and production activities. Although we have utilized operating and disposal practices that we considered standard in the industry at the
time, there is the possibility that repair and maintenance activities on rigs and equipment stored in these service yards, as well as fluids stored at these yards,
may have resulted in the disposal or release of hydrocarbons or other wastes on or under these yards or other locations where these wastes have been taken
for disposal. In addition, we own or lease properties that in the past were operated by third parties whose operations were not under our control. These
properties and the hydrocarbons or wastes disposed thereon may be subject to CERCLA, RCRA and analogous state laws. Under these laws, we could be
required to remove or remediate previously disposed wastes or property contamination.
In the course of our operations, some of our equipment may be exposed to naturally occurring radiation associated with oil and natural gas deposits,
and this exposure may result in the generation of wastes containing naturally occurring radioactive materials, or “NORM.” NORM wastes exhibiting trace levels
of naturally occurring radiation in excess of established state standards are subject to special handling and disposal requirements, and any storage vessels,
piping and work area affected by NORM may be subject to remediation or restoration requirements. Because many of the properties presently or previously
owned, operated or occupied by us or our customers have been used for oil and natural gas production operations for many years, it is possible that we may
incur costs or liabilities associated with elevated levels of NORM.
Our operations are also subject to the federal Clean Water Act ("CWA") and analogous state laws. Under these laws, permits must be obtained to
discharge pollutants into regulated surface or subsurface waters. Spill
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prevention, control and countermeasure requirements under federal law require some owners or operators of facilities that store or otherwise handle oil to
prepare plans and implement appropriate operating protocols, including containment berms and similar structures, to help prevent the contamination of
regulated waters in the event of a petroleum hydrocarbon spill, rupture or leak. In addition, the CWA and analogous state laws require individual permits or
coverage under general permits for discharges of storm water runoff from certain types of facilities or during construction or operation activities. This program
requires covered facilities to obtain individual permits, or seek coverage under a general permit. Accordingly, permits for discharges of storm water runoff may
be required for certain of our properties.
The CWA also prohibits the discharge of dredge and fill material in regulated waters, including wetlands, unless authorized by permit. In June 2015, the
EPA and the U.S. Army Corps of Engineers (“Corps”) released a final rule that attempted to clarify federal jurisdiction under the CWA over waters of the United
States, ("WOTUS") including wetlands, but legal challenges to this rule followed. The 2015 rule was stayed nationwide to determine whether federal district or
appellate courts had jurisdiction to hear cases in the matter and, in January 2017, the U.S. Supreme Court agreed to hear the case. On January 22, 2018, the
U.S. Supreme Court issued a decision finding that jurisdiction resides with the federal district courts. In addition, the EPA and Corps proposed a rulemaking in
June 2017 to repeal the June 2015 rule, announced their intent to issue a new rule defining the CWA’s jurisdiction, and published a final rule on February 6,
2018 specifying that the contested June 2015 rule would not take effect until February 6, 2020. In July 2018, the EPA issued a supplemental notice of proposed
rulemaking, offering support and clarification regarding the Agency’s June 2017 proposed repeal of the 2015 WOTUS rule. Later in 2018, the EPA’s decision
was challenged in court, which resulted in a decision by the U.S. District Court for the District of South Carolina to enjoin the EPA’s February 2018 delay rule.
Several states then acted to halt reinstatement of the 2015 WOTUS rule, the effect of all of which was that the 2015 WOTUS definition was in effect in 22 states.
In September 2019, EPA finalized the repeal of the 2015 WOTUS rule, and the repeal became effective in December 2019, reinstating the pre-2015 standards.
Litigation of the repeal quickly ensued. Meanwhile, in December 2018, the EPA and the Corps issued a proposed rule to revise the definition of "WOTUS.” The
rule was finalized in January 2020, and became effective in June 2020. The rule narrows the WOTUS definition, excluding, for example, streams that flow only
after precipitation and wetlands without a direct surface connection to traditional navigable waters. Litigation by parties opposing the rule again quickly followed,
including a challenge in the U.S. District of Colorado, which resulted in a statewide stay of the rule on June 19, 2020. This ruling is currently being appealed in
the Tenth Circuit. Regardless, the applicable WOTUS definition affects what CWA permitting or other regulatory obligations may be triggered during
development and operation of our or our customers’ properties, and changes to the WOTUS definition could cause delays in development and/or increase the
cost of development and operation of those properties.
Our underground injection operations are subject to the Safe Drinking Water Act ("SDWA") as well as analogous state and local laws and regulations
including the Underground Injection Control ("UIC") program, which includes requirements for permitting, testing, monitoring, record keeping and reporting of
injection well activities. The federal Energy Policy Act of 2005 amended the UIC provisions to exclude certain hydraulic fracturing activities from the definition of
“underground injection” under certain circumstances. However, the repeal of this exclusion has been advocated by certain advocacy organizations and others in
the public. Legislation regulating underground injection has been introduced at the state level. For example, several states in which we operate, including
Wyoming, Texas, Colorado and Oklahoma, have adopted regulations requiring operators to disclose certain information regarding hydraulic fracturing fluids.
In addition, public concerns have recently been raised regarding the disposal of produced water in injection wells. The substantial majority of our
saltwater disposal wells are located in Texas and are regulated by the Railroad Commission of Texas ("RRC"). Partly in response to public concerns, the
RRC amended its existing oil and natural gas disposal well regulations to require seismic activity data in permit applications and provisions to authorize the
imposition of certain limitations on existing wells if seismic activity increases in the area of an injection well, including a temporary injection ban. We also operate
saltwater disposal wells in New Mexico, Oklahoma, Arkansas, Louisiana and North Dakota and are subject to similar regulatory controls in those states. In
addition, in response to reports tying the increase in seismic activity in Oklahoma to the injection of produced water, the Oklahoma Corporation Commission
("OCC") has implemented a variety of measures, including the adoption of the National Academy of Science’s “traffic light system” pursuant to which the agency
reviews new disposal well applications and may restrict operations at existing wells. The OCC and the Oklahoma Geologic Survey continue to release well
completion seismicity guidance, which most recently directs operators to adopt a seismicity response plan and take certain prescriptive actions, including
mitigation, following anomalous seismic activity within a certain radius of hydraulic fracturing operations. Beginning in 2013, the OCC has ordered the reduction
of disposal volumes into the Arbuckle formation. More recently, the OCC directed the shut in of a number of disposal wells due to increased
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earthquake activity in the Arbuckle formation and imposed further disposal well volume reductions in the Covington, Crescent, Enid and Edmond areas. In
addition, since 2015, the OCC’s Oil and Gas Conservation Division has issued a number of directives restricting the future volume of wastewater disposed of via
subsurface injection and directing the shut in of certain injection wells. To date, none of our wells have been restricted.
Regulations in the states in which we operate require us to obtain a permit from the applicable regulatory agencies to operate each of our underground
saltwater disposal wells. We believe that we have obtained the necessary permits from these agencies for each of our underground injection wells and that we
are in substantial compliance with permit conditions and commission rules. Nevertheless, these regulatory agencies have the general authority to suspend or
modify one or more of these permits if continued operation of one of our underground injection wells is likely to result in pollution of freshwater, substantial
violation of permit conditions or applicable rules, leaks to the environment or other conditions such as earthquakes. Although we monitor the injection process of
our wells, any leakage from the subsurface portions of the injection wells could cause degradation of fresh groundwater resources, potentially resulting in
cancellation of operations of a well, issuance of fines and penalties from governmental agencies, incurrence of expenditures for remediation of the affected
resource and imposition of liability by third parties for property damages and personal injuries. In addition, our sales of residual crude oil collected as part of the
saltwater injection process could impose liability on us in the event that the entity to which the oil was transferred fails to manage the residual crude oil in
accordance with applicable environmental health and safety laws.
In addition, several cases have recently put a spotlight on the issue of whether injection wells may be regulated under the CWA if a direct hydrological
connection to a jurisdictional surface water can be established. The split among federal circuit courts of appeals that decided these cases engendered two
petitions for writ of certiorari to the United States Supreme Court in August 2018, one of which was granted in February 2019. The EPA has also brought
attention to the reach of the CWA’s jurisdiction in such instances by issuing a request for comment in February 2018 regarding the applicability of the CWA
permitting program to discharges into groundwater with a direct hydrological connection to jurisdictional surface water, which hydrological connections should be
considered “direct,” and whether such discharges would be better addressed through other federal or state programs. In a statement issued by EPA in April
2019, the Agency concluded that the CWA should not be interpreted to require permits for discharges of pollutants that reach surface waters via groundwater.
However, in April 2020, the Supreme Court issued a ruling in the case, County of Maui, Hawaii v. Hawaii Wildlife Fund, holding that discharges into groundwater
may be regulated under the CWA if the discharge is the “functional equivalent” of a direct discharge into navigable waters. On December 10, 2020, EPA issued
a draft guidance on the ruling, which emphasized that discharges to groundwater are not necessarily the “functional equivalent” of a direct discharge based
solely on proximity to jurisdictional waters. If in the future CWA permitting is required for saltwater injections wells as a result of the Supreme Court’s ruling in
County of Maui, Hawaii v. Hawaii Wildlife Fund, the costs of permitting and compliance for our operations could increase.
We maintain insurance against some risks associated with environmental liabilities that may occur as a result of well service activities. However, there
can be no assurance this insurance will cover all potential losses, or that insurance will continue to be commercially available or will be available at premium
levels that justify its purchase by us. The occurrence of a significant event that is not fully insured or indemnified against could have a material adverse effect on
our financial condition and operations.
We are also subject to the requirements of the federal Occupational Safety and Health Act and comparable state statutes that regulate the protection of
the health and safety of workers. In addition, the U.S. Occupational Safety and Health Administration’s hazard communication standard, the EPA’s community
right-to-know regulations under Title III of the federal Superfund Amendment and Reauthorization Act, the general duty clause and Risk Management Planning
regulations promulgated under Section 112(r) of the Clean Air Act, and comparable state statutes require that information be maintained about hazardous
materials used or produced in operations, that this information be provided to employees, state and local government authorities and the public, and that plans
for response to a release be developed for certain facilities.
We are also subject to the requirements of the Federal Motor Carrier Safety Act regulations of the U.S. Department of Transportation (“DOT”) and
comparable state statutes and implementing regulations that regulate commercial motor vehicle operations. In addition, we are also subject to the Pipeline and
Hazardous Materials Safety Administration and comparable state statutes that regulate hazardous materials shipments.
The federal Clean Air Act (“CAA”) and comparable state laws and regulations restrict the emission of various air pollutants from many sources through
air emissions standards, construction and operating permitting programs, and the imposition of other monitoring and reporting requirements. These laws and
regulations may require us to obtain pre-approval for the construction or modification of certain projects or facilities expected to
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produce or significantly increase air emissions, obtain and strictly comply with stringent air permit requirements or utilize specific equipment, operating practices,
or technologies to control emissions of certain pollutants. Obtaining required permits has the potential to delay the development of oil and natural gas projects.
Over the next several years, we and our customers may be required to incur certain capital expenditures for air pollution control equipment or other air
emissions-related issues. For example, in October 2015, the EPA issued a final rule under the CAA, lowering the National Ambient Air Quality Standard for
ground-level ozone to 70 parts per billion under both the primary and secondary standards. The EPA published a final rule in November 2017 that issued area
designations with respect to ground-level ozone for approximately 85% of the U.S. counties as either “attainment/unclassifiable” or “unclassifiable” and
completed the remaining area designations not addressed under the November 2017 final rule in April and July of 2018. Additionally, state implementation of
these revised standards could result in stricter permitting requirements, delay or prohibit our ability to obtain such permits, and result in increased expenditures
for pollution control equipment, the costs of which could be significant. Compliance with this final rule or any other new legal requirements could, among other
things, require us or our customers to install new emission controls on some equipment and to incur longer permitting timelines or significantly increased capital
expenditures and operating costs. Additionally, if such compliance reduces demand for the oil and natural gas that our customers produce, we could also incur
reduced demand for our services, which one or more developments could adversely impact our business.
Responding to scientific studies that have suggested that emissions of gases, commonly referred to as “greenhouse gases,” including gases associated
with the oil and gas sector such as carbon dioxide, methane and nitrous oxide among others, may be contributing to global warming and other environmental
effects, the EPA has begun to adopt regulations to report and reduce emissions of greenhouse gases. Any such regulations may have the potential to affect our
business, customers or the energy sector generally. In addition, the United States has been involved in international negotiations regarding greenhouse gas
reductions under the United Nations Framework Convention on Climate Change (“UNFCCC”). The U.S. was among approximately 195 nations that signed an
international accord in December 2015, the so-called Paris Agreement, which became effective in 2016, with the objective of limiting greenhouse gas
emissions. However, in August 2017, the U.S. State Department informed the United Nations of its intent to withdraw from the Paris Agreement and in
November 2019, the U.S. took another step toward withdrawal by submitting a formal notice of its withdrawal to the United Nations. Although the United States
withdrew from the Paris Agreement effective November 4, 2020, President Biden issued an Executive Order on January 20, 2021 to rejoin the Paris Agreement,
effective February 19, 2021.
A number of states, individually or in regional cooperation, have also imposed restrictions on greenhouse gas emissions under various policies and
approaches, including establishing a cap on emissions, requiring efficiency measures, or providing incentives for pollution reduction, use of renewable energy,
or use of fuels with lower carbon content.
These federal, regional and state measures generally apply to industrial sources, including facilities in the oil and gas sector, and could increase the
operating and compliance costs of our services and facilities. International accords such as the Paris Agreement may result in additional regulations to control
greenhouse gas emissions. These regulations could also adversely affect market demand or pricing for our services, by affecting the price of, or reducing the
demand for, fossil fuels or providing competitive advantages to competing fuels and energy sources. The potential increase in the costs of our operations could
include costs to operate and maintain our equipment or facilities, install new emission controls on our equipment or facilities, acquire allowances to authorize our
greenhouse gas emissions, pay taxes related to our greenhouse gas emissions, or administer and manage a greenhouse gas emissions program. While we
may be able to include some or all of such increased costs in the rates charged for our services, such recovery of costs is uncertain and may depend on events
beyond our control, including the provisions of any final regulations. In addition, changes in regulatory policies that result in a reduction in the demand for
hydrocarbon products that are deemed to contribute to greenhouse gases, or restrictions on their use, may reduce demand for our services.
There is considerable debate as to global warming and the environmental effects of greenhouse gas emissions and associated consequences affecting
global climate, oceans, and ecosystems. As a commercial enterprise, we are not in a position to validate or repudiate the existence of climate change or various
aspects of the scientific debate. However, if climate change is occurring, it could have an impact on our operations. For example, our operations in low-lying
areas such as the coastal regions of Louisiana and Texas may be at increased risk due to flooding, rising sea levels or disruption of operations from more
frequent and severe weather events, such as hurricanes. Facilities in areas with limited water availability may be impacted if droughts become more frequent or
severe. Changes in climate or weather may hinder exploration and production activities or increase or decrease the cost of production of oil and natural gas
resources and consequently affect demand for our field services. Changes in climate or weather may also affect consumer demand for energy or alter the
overall energy mix. However, we are
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not in a position to predict the precise effects of climate change on energy markets or the physical effects of climate change. We are providing this disclosure
based on publicly available information on the matter.
Finally, it should be noted that, recently, activists concerned about the potential effects of climate change have directed their attention at sources of
funding for fossil-fuel energy companies, which has resulted in certain financial institutions, funds and other sources of capital restricting or eliminating their
investment in oil and natural gas activities. In addition, spurred by increasing concerns regarding climate change, the oil and gas industry faces growing
demand for corporate transparency and a demonstrated commitment to sustainability goals. Environmental, social, and governance (“ESG”) goals and
programs, which typically include extralegal targets related to environmental stewardship, social responsibility, and corporate governance, have become an
increasing focus of investors and shareholders across the industry. While reporting on ESG metrics remains voluntary, access to capital and investors is likely to
favor companies with robust ESG programs in place. Ultimately, these initiatives could make it more difficult for our customers to secure funding for exploration
and production activities, which could reduce demand for our services. Notwithstanding potential risks related to climate change, the International Energy
Agency estimates that global energy demand will continue to rise and will not peak until after 2040 and that oil and natural gas will continue to represent a
substantial percentage of global energy use over that time.
Additional Information
We make available free of charge on our website, www.basices.com, our annual reports on Form 10-K, quarterly reports on Form 10-Q, current reports
on Form 8-K and amendments to those reports filed or furnished pursuant to the Exchange Act, as soon as reasonably practicable after we electronically file
such information with, or furnish it to, the SEC. These documents are also available on the SEC’s website at www.sec.gov, or you may read and copy any
materials that we file with or furnish to the SEC at the SEC’s Public Reference Room at 100 F Street, N.E., Washington D.C. 20549. The information on our
website is not, and shall not be deemed to be, a part of this Annual Report on Form 10-K or incorporated into any of our other filings with the SEC.
We have a Code of Ethics that applies to all of our directors, officers and employees. The Code of Ethics is available publicly on our website at
www.basices.com. Any waivers granted to directors or executive officers and any material amendments to our Code of Ethics will be posted promptly on our
website and/or disclosed in a current report on Form 8-K.
The certifications by our Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer pursuant to Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002 are filed as
exhibits to this Annual Report on Form 10-K.
ITEM 1A. RISK FACTORS
The following are some of the important factors that could affect our financial performance or could cause actual results to differ materially from
estimates contained in our forward-looking statements. We may encounter risks in addition to those described below. Additional risks and uncertainties not
currently known to us, or that we currently deem to be immaterial, may also impair or adversely affect our business, results of operations, financial condition and
prospects.
Risk Factor Summary
Our business is subject to significant risks and uncertainties, including but not limited to those described below. You should take time to carefully review
and consider the full discussion of our risk factors below. If any of these risks actually occurs, it could materially harm our business, financial condition or results
of operations. In that case, the market price of our common stock could decline.
Risks Relating to Our Business
•
•
•
•
•

Our business depends on domestic spending by the oil and natural gas industry and this spending, and thus our business, may be adversely
affected by industry and financial market conditions that are beyond our control.
The ongoing spread of COVID-19 and recent developments in the global oil and natural gas markets have and will continue to adversely affect our
business and financial condition.
Weakened global macro-economic conditions may adversely affect our industry, business, and results of operation.
The combination of the COVID-19 pandemic and the related significant decline in global oil and natural gas prices have significantly impacted the
Company’s ability to access the capital markets or obtain financing.
We may be unable to successfully effectuate any or all of the strategic alternatives that we must implement in order to address our significant
leverage.
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•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•

We may not have sufficient funds to meet our contractual obligations and accounts payable as they become due which would materially impact
our ability to operate our businesses and which could result in defaults of our contractual obligations with certain vendors and service providers.
There is substantial doubt about the Company’s ability to continue as a going concern and this could materially impact our ability to obtain capital
financing and the value of our common stock.
Our ability to generate cash is substantially dependent upon the performance of our customers and contract counterparties. Nonpayment from
either could have a materially adverse effect on our financial condition and results of operations.
Competition within the well services industry may adversely affect our ability to market our services.
Fuel conservation measures could reduce demand for oil and natural gas, which would thus reduce the demand for our services.
We cannot guarantee that we will be able to generate sufficient cash to obtain additional capital on favorable terms, if at all. Failure to fund capital
expenditures may adversely affect our business.
Our future financial results could be adversely impacted by asset impairments or other charges.
Our assets require significant amounts of capital for maintenance, upgrades and refurbishment and may require significant capital expenditures for
new equipment.
We have operated at a loss in the past, and there is no assurance of our profitability in the future.
Our indebtedness could restrict our operations and make us more vulnerable to adverse economic conditions.
Our ABL Credit Agreement and the indenture governing our Senior Notes impose restrictions on us that may affect our ability to successfully
operate our business.
A further downgrade in our credit rating could negatively impact our cost of and ability to access capital.
Variable rate indebtedness subjects us to interest rate risk, which could cause our debt service obligations to increase significantly.
Our operations are subject to inherent risks, including operational hazards and cyber-attacks. These risks may be self-insured, or may not be fully
covered under our insurance policies.
We may not be successful in implementing and maintaining technology development and enhancements. New technology may cause us to
become less competitive.
We are subject to environmental, health, and safety laws and regulations that may expose us to significant liabilities for penalties, damages or
costs of remediation or compliance.
We may not be able to grow successfully through acquisitions or effectively integrate the businesses we do acquire.
Following the Exchange Transaction, Ascribe has voting control over the Company.
Our industry is undergoing continuing consolidation that may impact our results of operations.
Our industry has experienced a high rate of employee turnover. Any difficulty we experience replacing or adding personnel could adversely affect
our business.
Our success depends on key members of our management, the loss of any of whom could disrupt our business operations.
Climate change legislation or regulations restricting or regulating emissions of greenhouse gases could result in increased costs and reduced
demand for our field services.
Legislative and regulatory initiatives related to hydraulic fracturing could result in operating restrictions or delays in the completion of oil and
natural gas wells that may reduce demand or our services and adversely affect our financial position.
Potential listing of species as “threatened” or “endangered” under federal law could result in increased costs and new operating restrictions which
could reduce the amount of services we provide to our production customers.
Limitations or restrictions on our ability to obtain, dispose of or treat water may impact the services that we can provide to our customers.
Diminished access to functional salt water disposal wells may adversely affect operations.
Our ability to use net operating losses and credit carry-forwards to offset future taxable income for U.S. federal income tax purposes may be
limited as a result of issuances of equity or other transactions.
The issuance of the Series A Preferred Stock as part of the acquisition of CJWS resulted in an ownership change.
Recently enacted U.S. tax legislation may adversely affect our business, results of operations, financial condition and cash flow.
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•

Possible adverse changes to the tax laws affecting oil and gas companies under the Biden Presidential Administration could adversely impact the
Company’s results of operations and financial condition.

Risks Relating to Ownership of Our Common Stock or Warrant s
•
•
•
•
•
•
•

Our Certificate of Incorporation and Bylaws contain provisions that could discourage acquisition bids or merger proposals, which may adversely
affect the market price of our common stock.
We are subject to reduced disclosure and governance requirements applicable to smaller reporting companies, and as a result, our common stock
may be less attractive to investors.
Investors must look solely to stock appreciation for a return on their investment in us.
We cannot assure you that an active trading market for our common stock will exist or be maintained, and the market price of our common stock
may be volatile.
If the market price of our common stock continues to trade at sustained low prices, our investors could lose a substantial part or all of their
investment.
Our outstanding warrants are exercisable for shares of our common stock. Exercise of such warrants could have a dilutive effect to stockholders.
Following the completion of the Exchange Transaction, the voting power of holders of our common stock was substantially diluted. Percentage
ownership of holders of our common stock may also be significantly diluted.

Risks Relating to Our Business
Our business depends on domestic spending by the oil and natural gas industry, and this spending and our business has been in the past,
and may in the future be, adversely affected by industry and financial market conditions that are beyond our control.
We depend on our customers’ willingness and ability to make operating and capital expenditures to explore for, develop and produce oil and natural gas
in the United States. Customers’ expectations for lower market prices for oil and natural gas, as well as the availability of capital for operating and capital
expenditures, may cause them to curtail spending, thereby reducing demand for our services and equipment.
Industry conditions are influenced by numerous factors over which we have no control, such as the supply of and demand for oil and natural gas,
domestic and worldwide economic conditions, political instability in oil and natural gas producing countries and merger, acquisition and divestiture activity
among oil and gas producers. Activities by non-governmental organizations to limit certain sources of funding for the energy sector or to restrict the exploration,
development and production of oil and natural gas may adversely affect the ability of certain of our customers to conduct operations. The volatility of the oil and
natural gas industry, environmental and other governmental regulations regarding the exploration for and production and development of oil and natural gas
reserves, and the consequent impact on exploration and production activity could adversely impact the level of drilling and workover activity by some of our
customers. This reduction may cause a decline in the demand for our services or adversely affect the price of our services. In addition, reduced discovery rates
of new oil and natural gas reserves in our market areas also may have a negative long-term impact on our business, even in an environment of stronger oil and
natural gas prices, to the extent existing production is not replaced and the number of producing wells for us to service declines.
Oil prices were low in 2019 and 2020, including the unprecedented negative pricing for oil in April 2020. Natural gas prices have been depressed for a
prolonged period and utilization and pricing for our services in our natural gas-based operating areas have remained challenged. As a result, demand for our
products and services and the prices we are able to charge our customers for our products and services have declined. Despite improvements in commodity
pricing in late 2020 and early 2021, oil and natural gas pricing is expected to continue to be volatile.
Limitations on the availability of capital, or higher costs of capital, for financing expenditures may cause oil and natural gas producers to make further
reductions to capital budgets in the future even if oil or natural gas prices increase from current levels. Any such cuts in spending will curtail drilling programs as
well as discretionary spending on well services, which may result in a reduction in the demand for our services, the rates we can charge and our utilization. In
addition, certain of our customers could become unable to pay their suppliers, including us. Any of these conditions or events could adversely affect our
operating results.
The ongoing spread of COVID-19 and recent developments in the global oil and natural gas markets have and will continue to adversely
affect our business and financial condition.
The impacts of COVID-19 and the significant drop in commodity prices have had an unprecedented impact
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on the global economy and our business. We expect that our business will continue to be adversely affected by the COVID-19 pandemic and lower commodity
prices for an indeterminate amount of time. The responses of governmental authorities and companies to reduce the spread of COVID-19 have significantly
reduced global economic activity. Various containment measures, including large-scale travel bans, border closures, quarantines, shelter-in-place orders and
business and government shutdowns, have resulted in the slowing of economic growth and a reduced demand for oil and natural gas and the disruption of
global manufacturing supply chains.
In addition, recent actions by Saudi Arabia and Russia have caused a worldwide oversupply in oil and natural gas. After OPEC and a group of oil
producing nations led by Russia failed in March 2020 to agree on oil production cuts, Saudi Arabia announced that it would cut oil prices and increase
production, leading to a sharp further decline in oil and natural gas prices. While OPEC, Russia and other oil producing countries reached an agreement in April
2020 to reduce production levels, and U.S. production has declined, oil prices remain low on account of an oversupply of oil and natural gas, with a
simultaneous decrease in demand as a result of the impact of COVID-19 on the global economy.
As our customers, commodity markets and the U.S. and global economies have been negatively impacted by these factors, we may continue to
experience lower demand for our services. Demand for our services will continue to decline as our customers revise their capital budgets downward and adjust
their operations in response to lower oil prices. Further, we have seen, and expect to see, an increasing number of energy companies filing for bankruptcy. Our
collection of receivables could be materially delayed and/or impaired if any of our customers file for bankruptcy protection.
Oil and natural gas prices are expected to continue to be volatile as a result of the ongoing COVID-19 outbreak, and as changes in oil and natural gas
inventories, industry demand and economic performance are reported. We cannot predict future oil and natural gas price volatility or how long the pandemic will
last.
We also may be exposed to liabilities resulting from operational delays due to supply chain disruption and closure or limitations imposed on our facilities
and work force by the various containment measures. In addition, in response to market conditions, management has taken several cost reduction measures,
including employee headcount reductions, closing operating locations, and employee furloughs beginning in the second quarter of 2020 and extending into
2021. Our ability to perform services could also be impaired and we could be exposed to liabilities resulting from interruption in our ability to perform due to
limited manpower and travel restrictions. These potential operational and service delays resulting from the COVID‑19 pandemic could result in contractual or
other legal claims from our customers. At this time, it is not possible to quantify these risks, but the combination of these factors could have a material impact on
our financial results.
Should COVID-19 continue to spread globally or within the U.S., and should the suggested and mandated social quarantining and work from home
orders continue, our business, financial condition and results of operations could be materially and adversely impacted. The decline in commodity prices and
demand for our services could lead to additional material impairments of our long-lived assets. It is impossible to predict the severity and longevity of the impact
of COVID-19 on the general economy and the oil and gas industry. These risks have had and could have a material adverse impact on our financial position,
results of operations and cash flows. We will continue to monitor the developments relating to COVID-19 and the volatility in oil prices closely, and will follow
health and safety guidelines as they evolve.
Weakened global macro-economic conditions may adversely affect our industry, business and results of operations.
Our overall performance depends in part on worldwide macro-economic and geopolitical conditions. The United States has experienced cyclical
downturns from time to time in which economic activity was impacted by falling demand for a variety of goods and services, restricted credit, poor liquidity,
reduced corporate profitability, volatility in credit, equity and foreign exchange markets, bankruptcies and overall uncertainty with respect to the economy. These
global macro-economic conditions can suddenly arise and the full impact of such conditions can remain uncertain. In addition, geopolitical developments, such
as existing and potential trade wars and other events beyond our control, such as the COVID-19 pandemic, can increase levels of political and economic
unpredictability globally and increase the volatility of global financial markets. The COVID-19 pandemic and associated actions taken around the world to
mitigate the spread of COVID-19, including unprecedented governmental actions ordering citizens in the United States and countries around the world to
shelter-in-place and the issuance of stay-at-home orders could result in a structural shift in the global economy and its demand for oil and natural gas as a result
of changes in the way people work, travel and interact, or lead to a global recession or depression.
The combination of the COVID-19 pandemic and the related significant decline in global oil and natural gas prices have significantly
impacted the Company’s ability to access the capital markets or obtain
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financing.
The COVID-19 pandemic and decline in the price of oil and natural gas described above has increased volatility and caused negative pressure in the
capital and credit markets for issuers in our industry and related industries. As a result of the effects these trends have had on our businesses, we may not have
access in the current environment to the capital markets or financing or be able to otherwise refinance our existing indebtedness on terms we would find
favorable or at all.
We may be unable to successfully effectuate any or all of the strategic alternatives that we must implement in order to address our
significant leverage.
The ABL Credit Facility has a covenant whereby the Company would be in default if the report of its independent registered public accounting firm on
the Company's annual financial statements included a "going concern" qualification or like exemption. We are engaged in ongoing discussions regarding our
liquidity and financial situation with representatives of the lenders under the ABL Credit Facility, and have received from the lenders under the ABL Credit
Facility a waiver of the default as a result of this covenant. We also are evaluating certain strategic alternatives including financings, refinancings, amendments,
waivers, forbearances, asset sales, debt issuances, exchanges and purchases, a combination of the foregoing, or other out-of-court or in-court bankruptcy
restructurings of our debt to address these matters, which may include discussions with holders of the Company’s Senior Notes for a comprehensive deleveraging transaction.
Among the other steps that our management may or is implementing to attempt to alleviate this substantial doubt would include additional sales of nonstrategic assets, obtaining waivers of debt covenant requirements from our lenders, restructuring or refinancing our debt agreements, or obtaining equity
financing.
If the Company is unable to effectuate a successful debt restructuring, the Company expects that it will continue to experience adverse pressures on its
relationships with counterparties who are critical to its business, its ability to access the capital markets, its ability to execute on its operational and strategic
goals and its business, prospects, results of operations and liquidity generally. There can be no assurance as to when or whether the Company will implement
any action as a result of these strategic initiatives, whether the implementation of one or more such actions will be successful, whether the Company will be able
to effect a refinancing of its Senior Notes or otherwise access the capital markets, or the effects the failure to take action may have on the Company’s business,
its ability to achieve its operational and strategic goals or its ability to finance its business or refinance its indebtedness. A failure to address the Company’s level
of corporate leverage in the near-term will have a material adverse effect on the Company’s business, prospects, results of operations, liquidity and financial
condition, and its ability to service or refinance its corporate debt as it becomes due.
Our ability to issue additional debt and/or refinance our debt is also subject to many factors that are beyond our control, such as the condition of the
capital markets in general. Even if we are able to issue additional debt and/or refinance our debt, we could, as a result, become subject to higher interest rates
and/or more onerous debt covenants, which could further restrict our ability to operate our business. To the extent that we seek to sell assets in order to meet
our debt and other obligations, we may fail to effectuate any such dispositions for fair market value in a timely manner or at all. Furthermore, the proceeds that
we realize from any such dispositions may be inadequate to meet our debt and other obligations.
We may not have sufficient funds to meet our contractual obligations and accounts payable as they become due and on a timely basis, and
since the second half of 2020, we have had difficulty meeting our contractual obligations as they come due, which would materially impact our
ability to operate our businesses and which could result in defaults of our contractual obligations generally and with certain of our vendors and
service providers.
As a result of weak energy sector conditions and lower demand for our products and services, customer contract pricing, our operating results, our
working capital and our operating cash flows have been negatively impacted during 2020. At December 31, 2020, our sources of liquidity included our cash and
cash equivalents of $1.9 million, the potential sale of non-strategic assets, and potential additional secured indebtedness. We were restricted from borrowing
under the ABL Facility at December 31, 2020. During the last half of 2020, we had difficulty paying for our contractual obligations as they came due, and we
continue to have this difficulty in 2021. If any material creditor decides to commence legal action to collect from us, it could jeopardize our ability to continue in
business. Additionally, our ability to pay our vendors and service providers in a timely manner has been impacted by our recent cash flow positioning. The loss
of certain of such vendors or service providers could materially impact our operations and could cause certain disruptions in our businesses.
Management has taken several steps to generate additional liquidity, including reducing operating and administrative costs, employee headcount
reductions, closing operating locations, implementing employee
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furloughs, other cost reduction measures, and the suspension of growth capital expenditures. Notwithstanding these measures, there remain risks and
uncertainties regarding our ability to generate sufficient revenues to pay our debt obligations and accounts payable when due.
Management may seek to implement further cost and capital expenditure reductions and take other actions to the extent available. These additional
steps may include sales of non-strategic assets, obtaining waivers of debt covenant requirements from our lenders, restructuring or refinancing our debt
agreements, or obtaining equity financing. Even if we are able to achieve some or all of the foregoing actions, there can be no assurances that we would be able
to successfully sell assets, obtain waivers, restructure our indebtedness, or complete any strategic transactions in amounts sufficient to conduct the operating
activities that we need to generate revenue to cover our costs, and our results of operations would be negatively affected.
There is substantial doubt about the Company’s ability to continue as a going concern and this could, among other things, materially and
adversely impact our ability to obtain capital financing and the value of our common stock.
Due to the uncertainty of future oil and natural gas prices and the effects the outbreak of COVID-19 will have on our future results of operations,
operating cash flows and financial condition, there is substantial doubt as to the ability of the Company to continue as a going concern. Management has taken
several steps to generate additional liquidity, including through reducing operating and administrative costs through employee headcount reductions, closing
operating locations, employee furloughs and other cost reduction measures, and the suspension of growth capital expenditures in our continuing business
operations with the goal of preserving margins and improving working capital. However, there can be no assurance that these steps will be sufficient to mitigate
the adverse trends we are experiencing in our businesses and the industries in which we operate.
Management may seek to implement further cost and capital expenditure reductions, as necessary. These additional steps may include sales of nonstrategic assets, obtaining waivers of debt covenant requirements from our lenders, restructuring or refinancing our debt agreements, or obtaining equity
financing. Even if the Company is able to achieve some or all of the foregoing actions, there can be no assurances that the Company would be able to
successfully sell assets, obtain waivers, restructure its indebtedness, or complete any strategic transactions in amounts sufficient to alleviate the substantial
doubt regarding the Company's ability to continue as a going concern.
If we cannot continue as a going concern, our stockholders would likely lose most or all of their investment in us and holders of our indebtedness may
also suffer material losses on their investments. Reports raising substantial doubt as to a company’s ability to continue as a going concern are generally viewed
unfavorably by analysts and investors and could have a material adverse effect on the Company’s business, financial position, results of operations and liquidity.
Our ability to generate cash is substantially dependent upon the performance by customers and contract counterparties, and any material
nonpayment or nonperformance by our customers or contractual counterparties could have a materially adverse effect on our financial condition
and results of operations.
We are exposed to credit and performance risk of our customers and contractual counterparties. The disruptions caused by the COVID-19 pandemic
and volatility in energy markets has heightened the risk that we may not receive payment for services performed. In most cases, we bill our customers for our
services in arrears and are, therefore, subject to our customers delaying or failing to pay our invoices. Some of our customers and contractual counterparties
may be highly leveraged and subject to their own operating and regulatory risks, which increases the risk that they may default on their obligations to us.
Furthermore, we may be faced with general downward pricing pressure from customers requesting discounts or other pricing concessions and as our
competitors compete for fewer jobs. Finally, we may be unable to collect amounts due or damages we are awarded from certain customers, and our efforts to
collect such amounts may damage our customer relationships. Our ability to generate cash is substantially dependent upon the performance by customers. Any
material nonpayment or nonperformance by our customers or our contractual counterparties could have a materially adverse effect on our financial condition
and results of operations.
If oil and natural gas prices remain volatile, or if oil or natural gas prices remain low or decline further, the demand for our services could be
adversely affected.
The demand for our services is primarily determined by current and anticipated oil and natural gas prices and the related general production spending
and level of drilling activity in the areas in which we have operations. Volatility or weakness in oil or natural gas prices (or the perception that oil or natural gas
prices will decrease) affects the spending patterns of our customers and may result in the drilling of fewer new wells or lower production spending on existing
wells. This, in turn, could result in lower demand for our services and may cause lower rates and lower utilization of our well service equipment. If oil or natural
gas prices continue to remain low or decline
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further, or if there is a reduction in drilling activities, the demand for our services and our results of operations could be materially and adversely affected.
Prices for oil and natural gas historically have been extremely volatile and are expected to continue to be volatile. The Cushing WTI Spot Oil Price
averaged $56.98 and $39.23 per barrel (“bbl”) in 2019 and 2020, respectively. The Cushing WTI oil prices have declined from over $107 per bbl in June 2014 to
$48.35 per bbl on December 31, 2020. The Henry Hub Natural Gas Spot Price averaged $2.57 and $2.04 per Mcf for 2019 and 2020, respectively.
On March 9, 2020, as a result of multiple significant factors impacting supply and demand in the global oil and natural gas markets, including the
announced price reductions and possible production increases by members of OPEC and other oil exporting nations, the posted price for West Texas
Intermediate oil declined sharply. Oil and natural gas commodity prices are expected to continue to be volatile. We cannot predict the duration or effects of this
sudden decrease, but if the prices of oil and natural gas continues to decline or remain depressed for a lengthy period, our business, financial condition, results
of operations, cash flows, and prospects may be materially and adversely affected.
Competition within the well services industry may adversely affect our ability to market our services.
The well services industry is highly competitive and fragmented and includes numerous small companies capable of competing effectively in our
markets on a local basis, as well as several large companies that have longer operating histories, possess substantially greater financial, technological and
other resources and have greater name recognition in certain operating areas than we do. As our customers, commodity markets and the U.S. and global
economies have been negatively impacted during 2020, we experienced lower demand for our services. With decreased demand for well services, multiple
sources of comparable well services are available from a number of different competitors and many contracts are awarded on a bid basis. Excess capacity may
result in (i) substantial competition for a diminishing amount of demand and/or (ii) significant price competition. Our larger competitors’ greater resources could
allow those competitors to compete more effectively than we can. If adverse oil and natural gas market conditions persist or deteriorate further, our utilization
rates or the prices we are able to charge may decline, which would have a material adverse effect on our results of operations, financial condition and
prospects.
Fuel conservation measures could reduce demand for oil and natural gas, which would in turn reduce the demand for our services.
Fuel conservation measures, alternative fuel requirements, technological advances in fuel economy and energy generation, and increasing consumer
demand for alternatives to oil and natural gas could reduce demand for oil and natural gas. The impact of the changing demand for oil and natural gas may
have a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition, prospects, results of operations and cash flows. Additionally, the increased competitiveness
of alternative energy sources (such as wind, solar, geothermal, tidal and biofuels) could reduce demand for hydrocarbons and therefore for our services, which
would lead to a reduction in our revenues.
We may require additional capital in the future. We cannot assure you that we will be able to generate sufficient cash internally or obtain
alternative sources of capital on favorable terms, if at all. If we are unable to fund capital expenditures, our business may be adversely affected.
We anticipate we will need to make substantial capital investments in the future to purchase additional equipment to expand our services, refurbish our
well servicing rigs and replace existing equipment including idled equipment brought back into service as activity levels improved. For the year ended
December 31, 2019, we invested approximately $55.4 million in cash for capital expenditures and $7.9 million of finance leases. For the year ended
December 31, 2020, we invested approximately $7.8 million in cash for capital expenditures and $1.6 million of finance leases. For 2021, we have currently
budgeted between $20 to $25 million for capital expenditures, including finance leases and excluding acquisitions. Historically, we have financed these
investments through internally generated funds, debt and equity offerings, our finance lease program and borrowings under our credit facilities. Please read Item
7. “Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operation - Liquidity and Capital Resources” for more information.
Our significant capital investments require cash that we could otherwise apply to other business needs. However, if we do not incur these expenditures
while our competitors make substantial fleet investments, our market share may decline and our business may be adversely affected. In addition, if we are
unable to generate sufficient cash internally or obtain alternative sources of capital to fund our proposed capital expenditures and acquisitions, take advantage
of business opportunities or respond to competitive pressures, it could materially and adversely affect our results of operations, financial condition and growth. If
we raise additional funds by issuing equity securities, dilution to existing stockholders may result. Adverse changes in the capital markets could make it
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difficult to obtain additional capital or obtain it at attractive rates or at all. If we are unable to maintain or obtain access to capital, we could experience a reduction
of liquidity and may result in difficulty funding our operations, repayment of short-term borrowings, payments of interest and other obligations.
Our future financial results could be adversely impacted by asset impairments or other charges.
We periodically evaluate our long-lived assets, including our property and equipment, and intangible assets. If any indication of impairment for our long
lived assets exists, we project future cash flows on an undiscounted basis for other long-lived assets, and compare these cash flows to the carrying amount of
the related assets. These cash flow projections are based on our current operating plans, estimates and judgmental assumptions. We perform the assessment
of potential impairment for our long-lived assets whenever facts and circumstances indicate that the carrying value of those assets may not be recoverable due
to various external or internal factors.
During the fiscal year ended December 31, 2020, we recorded certain impairments related to the decreased operating cash flows as a result of the
impact of low crude oil prices and the corresponding decrease in customer demand for our services as of that date. For further discussion of these impairments,
see Note 11. "Impairments and Other Charges" in the notes to our consolidated financial statements included elsewhere in this Annual Report on Form 10-K. If
we determine that our estimates of future cash flows were inaccurate or our actual results are materially different from what we have predicted, we could record
additional impairment charges in future periods, which could have a material adverse effect on our financial position and results of operations.
Our assets require significant amounts of capital for maintenance, upgrades and refurbishment and may require significant capital
expenditures for new equipment.
Our well servicing and other completion service-related equipment requires significant capital investment in maintenance, upgrades and refurbishment
to maintain competitiveness. Our equipment typically does not generate revenue while undergoing maintenance, upgrades or refurbishments. Any
maintenance, upgrade or refurbishment project for our assets could increase our indebtedness or reduce cash available for other opportunities. Furthermore,
such projects may require proportionally greater capital investments as a percentage of total asset value, which may make such projects difficult to finance on
acceptable terms. To the extent we are unable to fund such projects, we may have less equipment available for service, or our equipment may not be attractive
to potential or current customers. Additionally, increased demand, competition or advances in technology within our industry may require us to update or replace
existing fleets or build or acquire new fleets. Such demands on our capital or reductions in demand for our well servicing equipment and other completion
service-related equipment and the increase in cost to maintain labor necessary for such maintenance and improvement, in each case, could have a material
adverse effect on our business, liquidity position, financial condition, prospects and results of operations.
We have operated at a loss in the past, and there is no assurance of our profitability in the future.
Historically, we have experienced periods of low demand for our services and have incurred operating losses. In the future, we may not be able to
reduce our costs, increase our revenues, or reduce our debt service obligations sufficient to achieve or maintain profitability and generate positive operating
income. Under such circumstances, we may incur further operating losses and experience negative operating cash flow.
Our indebtedness could restrict our operations and make us more vulnerable to adverse economic conditions.
As of December 31, 2020, we had total outstanding debt of $325.3 million, net of discount and deferred financing costs, including $300 million of
aggregate principal amount due under the Senior Notes, $15.0 million due under the Senior Secured Promissory Note, $15.0 million due under the Second Lien
Delayed Draw Promissory Note, and finance lease obligations in the aggregate amount of $17.0 million. As of December 31, 2020, we had $36.0 million of
letters of credit outstanding under the Credit Facility, and were restricted from borrowing under the Credit Facility. For the years ended December 31, 2020 and
2019, we made cash interest payments totaling $37.4 million and $39.8 million, respectively.
Our current and future indebtedness could have important consequences. For example, it could:
•
•
•

impair our ability to make investments and obtain additional financing for working capital, capital expenditures, acquisitions or other general
corporate purposes;
limit our ability to use operating cash flow in other areas of our business because we must dedicate a substantial portion of these funds to make
principal and interest payments on our indebtedness;
make us more vulnerable to a downturn in our business, our industry or the economy in general as a substantial portion of our operating cash
flow will be required to make principal and interest payments on our indebtedness, making it more difficult to react to changes in our business and
in industry and market conditions;
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•
•
•
•
•

limit our ability to obtain additional financing that may be necessary to operate or expand our business;
limit management's flexibility in operating our business;
limit our flexibility in planning for, and reacting to, changes in our business or industry;
put us at a competitive disadvantage to competitors that have less debt; and
increase our vulnerability to interest rate increases to the extent that we incur variable rate indebtedness.

If we are unable to generate sufficient cash flow or are otherwise unable to obtain the funds required to make principal and interest payments on our
indebtedness, or if we otherwise fail to comply with the various covenants in instruments governing any existing or future indebtedness, we could be in default
under the terms of such instruments. In the event of a default, the holders of our indebtedness could elect to declare all the funds borrowed under those
instruments to be due and payable together with accrued and unpaid interest, secured lenders could foreclose on any of our assets securing their loans and we
or one or more of our subsidiaries could be forced into bankruptcy or liquidation. If our indebtedness is accelerated, or we enter into bankruptcy, we may be
unable to pay all of our indebtedness in full. Any of the foregoing consequences could restrict our ability to grow our business and cause the value of our
common stock to decline.
We may not be able to generate sufficient cash flows to service our indebtedness and may be forced to take actions in order to satisfy our
obligations under our indebtedness. If we are unable to service our capital needs, we may have to undertake alternative financing plans, which may
have onerous terms or may be unavailable. As a result, our indebtedness and liabilities could expose us to risks that could adversely affect our
business, financial condition and results of operations and restrict or impair our ability to satisfy our debt obligations.
Based on our Senior Note obligations, we expect to incur interest payments of approximately $16.1 million due April 15, 2021. If we do not generate
enough cash flow from operations to satisfy our debt obligations, we may have to undertake alternative financing plans, such as:
•
•
•
•

selling assets;
dedicating a substantial portion of our cash flow from operations to service our indebtedness, thereby reducing, delaying or eliminating capital
investments;
seeking to raise additional capital, which may or may not be available to us on onerous terms or at all or may be dilutive to our existing
stockholders; or
financing or restructuring our remaining debt.

However, we cannot assure you that we would be able to implement alternative financing plans, if necessary, on commercially reasonable terms or at
all, or that undertaking alternative financing plans, if necessary, would allow us to meet our debt obligations and capital requirements or that these actions would
be permitted under the terms of our various debt instruments. Our ability to make scheduled payments on, or to refinance, our debt obligations will depend on
our financial and operating performance, which is subject to prevailing economic and competitive conditions and certain financial, business and other factors
beyond our control. Lower commodity prices and in turn lower demand for our products and services have negatively impacted our revenues, earnings and cash
flows, and sustained low oil and natural gas prices could have a further adverse effect on our liquidity position. Any refinancing of our debt could be at higher
interest rates and may require us to comply with more onerous covenants, which could further restrict our business and operations. If we continue to experience
operating losses and we are not able to generate additional liquidity, including through our proposed strategic divestitures and other business operations, then
our liquidity needs may exceed availability under our ABL Facility and other facilities that we may enter into in the future, and we might need to secure additional
sources of funds, which may or may not be available to us. If we are unable to secure such additional funds, we may not be able to meet our future obligations
as they become due. If, for any reason, we are unable to meet our debt service and repayment obligations, we would be in default under the terms of the
agreements governing our debt, which would allow our creditors at that time to declare all outstanding indebtedness to be due and payable, which could in turn
trigger cross-acceleration or cross-default rights between the relevant agreements. In addition, our lenders could compel us to apply all of our available cash to
repay our borrowings, or they could prevent us from making payments on the Senior Notes. If amounts outstanding under our ABL Facility or the Senior Notes
were to be accelerated, we cannot be certain that our assets would be sufficient to repay in full the money owed to the lenders or to our other debt holders.
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Our ABL Credit Agreement and the indenture governing our Senior Notes impose restrictions on us that may affect our ability to
successfully operate our business.
Our ABL Credit Agreement and the indenture governing our Senior Notes impose limitations on our ability to take various actions, such as:
•
•
•

limitations on the incurrence of additional indebtedness;
restrictions on mergers, sales or transfers of assets without the lenders’ consent; and
limitations on dividends and distributions.

In addition, our ABL Credit Agreement, our indenture and our current and future indebtedness may require us to maintain certain financial ratios and to
satisfy certain financial conditions, some of which become more restrictive over time and may require us to reduce our debt or take some other action in order to
comply with them. The failure to comply with any of these financial conditions, including the financial ratios or covenants, would cause a default under our ABL
Credit Agreement, our indenture or future indebtedness. A default under any of our indebtedness, if not waived, could result in the acceleration of such
indebtedness or other indebtedness, in which case the debt would become immediately due and payable. In addition, a default or acceleration of any of our
indebtedness under any of our indebtedness could result in a default under, or acceleration of, other indebtedness with cross-default or cross-acceleration
provisions. In the event of any acceleration of our indebtedness, we may not be able to pay our debt or borrow sufficient funds to refinance it, and any holders of
secured indebtedness may seek to foreclose on the assets securing such indebtedness. Even if new financing is available, it may not be available on terms that
are acceptable to us. These restrictions could also limit our ability to obtain future financings, make needed capital expenditures, withstand a downturn in our
business or the economy in general, or otherwise conduct necessary corporate activities. We also may be prevented from taking advantage of business
opportunities that arise because of the limitations imposed on us by the restrictive covenants under our ABL Credit Agreement, our indenture or future
indebtedness or existing limitations on the incurrence of additional indebtedness, including in connection with acquisitions.
We are bound by a number of restrictions under the indenture for certain asset sales. For example, generally we must receive consideration at least
equal to the fair market value of such assets, and within 365 days of the receipt of any net proceeds from such asset sales, proceeds from asset sales of
collateral under the indenture must be used to repay, redeem, repurchase or otherwise retire a portion of the Senior Notes, or must be invested in other
Company assets that would constitute collateral under the Indenture. Such restrictions, and other restrictions under the indenture as described above, could
have a detrimental effect on our ability to consummate non-strategic or ordinary course asset sales, which could have a material adverse effect on our ability to
generate liquidity and on our financial position.
Please see Note 4. "Indebtedness and Borrowing Facility” in the notes to our consolidated financial statements for a discussion of our ABL Credit
Agreement.
A further downgrade in our credit rating could negatively impact our cost of and ability to access capital.
On November 10, 2020, our long‑term debt was downgraded to “Caa3” with a negative outlook by Moody’s Investors Service. On December 21, 2020,
our long‑term debt was upgraded to “CCC-” with a negative outlook by S&P Global Ratings (“S&P”). S&P previously downgraded our long-term debt rating from
“CCC+” to “CC” in November 2020 and from B- to CCC+ in January 2020. Any further downgrade in our credit ratings could negatively impact our cost of capital
and could also adversely affect our ability to effectively execute aspects of our strategy or to raise debt in the public debt markets.
While we expect to continue to have access to credit markets, our non-investment grade status may limit our ability to refinance our existing debt, could
cause us to refinance or issue debt with less favorable and more restrictive terms and conditions, and could increase certain fees and interest of our borrowings.
This could make it significantly more costly for us to borrow money, to issue debt securities, to enter into new credit facilities and to raise certain other types of
capital and/or complete additional financings. Our inability to access the capital markets may increase the need for higher levels of cash on hand, which could
decrease our ability to repay debt balances, negatively affect our cash flow and impact our access to the inventory and services needed to operate our business.
Negative credit rating actions and the reasons for such actions could materially and adversely affect our cash flows, results of operations and financial condition
and the market price of, and our ability to pay the principal of and interest on, our debt securities.
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Variable rate indebtedness subjects us to interest rate risk, which could cause our debt service obligations to increase significantly.
Borrowings under our ABL Facility bear interest at variable rates, exposing us to interest rate risk. If the interest rates increase, our debt service
obligations on the variable rate indebtedness would increase even though the amount borrowed would remain the same, and our results of operations and cash
flows for servicing our indebtedness would decrease.
Our operations are subject to inherent risks, including operational hazards and cyber-attacks. These risks may be self-insured, or may not
be fully covered under our insurance policies.
Our operations are subject to hazards inherent in the oil and natural gas industry, including, but not limited to, accidents, blowouts, explosions, craters,
fires and oil spills. These conditions can cause:
•
•
•

personal injury or loss of life;
damage to or destruction of property, equipment and the environment; and
suspension of operations.

The occurrence of a significant event or adverse claim in excess of the insurance coverage that we maintain or that is not covered by insurance could
have a material adverse effect on our financial condition and results of operations. In addition, claims for loss of oil and natural gas production and damage to
formations can occur in the well services industry. Litigation arising from a catastrophic occurrence at a location where our equipment and services are being
used may result in our being named as a defendant in lawsuits asserting large claims.
As is customary in our industry, our service contracts generally provide that we will indemnify and hold harmless our customers from any claims arising
from personal injury or death of our employees, damage to or loss of our equipment and pollution emanating from our equipment and services. Similarly, our
customers agree to indemnify and hold us harmless from any claims arising from personal injury or death of their employees, damage to or loss of their
equipment and pollution caused from their equipment or the well reservoir (including uncontained oil flow from a reservoir). Our indemnification arrangements
may not protect us in every case. For example, from time to time we may enter into contracts with less favorable indemnities or perform work without a contract
that protects us. In addition, our indemnification rights may not fully protect us if the customer is insolvent or becomes bankrupt, does not maintain adequate
insurance or otherwise does not possess sufficient resources to indemnify us. In addition, our indemnification rights may be held unenforceable in some
jurisdictions. For instance, certain states, including Texas, Louisiana, New Mexico and Wyoming, have enacted statutes generally referred to as “oilfield antiindemnity acts” expressly prohibiting certain indemnity agreements contained in or related to oilfield services agreements. Our inability to fully realize the
benefits of our contractual indemnification protections could result in significant liabilities and could adversely affect our financial condition, results of operations
and cash flows.
We maintain insurance coverage that we believe to be customary in the industry against many of these hazards. However, we do not have insurance
against all foreseeable risks, including cybersecurity risks, either because insurance is not available or because of the high premium costs. As such, not all of
our property is insured. We are also self-insured up to retention limits with regard to workers’ compensation, general liability, and medical and dental coverage.
We maintain accruals in our consolidated balance sheets related to self-insurance retentions by using third-party data and historical claims history. The
occurrence of an event not fully insured against, or the failure of an insurer to meet its insurance obligations, could result in substantial losses. In addition, we
may not be able to maintain adequate insurance in the future at rates we consider reasonable. Insurance may not be available to cover any or all of the risks to
which we are subject, or, even if available, it may be inadequate, or insurance premiums or other costs could rise significantly in the future so as to make such
insurance prohibitively expensive. It is likely that, in our insurance renewals, our premiums and deductibles will be higher, and certain insurance coverage either
will be unavailable or considerably more expensive than it has been in the recent past. In addition, our insurance is subject to coverage limits, and some policies
exclude coverage for damages resulting from environmental contamination.
We may not be successful in implementing and maintaining technology development and enhancements. New technology may cause us to
become less competitive.
The oilfield services industry is subject to the introduction of new drilling and completion techniques and services using new technologies, some of which
may be subject to patent protection. Our competitors may develop or acquire the right to use new technologies not available to us, which may place us at a
competitive disadvantage. In addition, we may face competitive pressure to implement or acquire new technologies at a substantial cost. Some of our
competitors have greater resources that may allow them to implement new technologies before we can. Our
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inability to develop and implement new technologies or products on a timely basis and at competitive cost could have a material adverse effect on our financial
position and results of operations.
We are subject to environmental, health and safety laws and regulations that may expose us to significant liabilities for penalties, damages
or costs of remediation or compliance.
Our operations are subject to federal, regional, state, local and tribal laws and regulations relating to protection of natural resources and the
environment, health and safety aspects of our operations and waste management, including the storage, transportation and disposal of waste and other
materials. These laws and regulations may impose numerous obligations on our operations, including the acquisition of permits to conduct regulated activities,
the incurrence of capital or other substantial expenditures to mitigate or prevent releases of materials from our facilities, the imposition of substantial liabilities for
pollution resulting from our operations and the application of specific health and safety criteria addressing worker protection and public health and safety.
Regulations concerning equipment certification also create an ongoing need for regular maintenance. Failure to comply with these laws and regulations could
result in investigations, restrictions or orders suspending well or other service operations, the assessment of administrative, civil and criminal penalties, the
revocation of permits and the issuance of corrective action orders, any of which could have a material adverse effect on our business, results of operations and
financial condition.
There is inherent risk of environmental costs and liabilities in our business as a result of our handling of petroleum hydrocarbons and oilfield and
industrial wastes, air emissions and wastewater discharges related to our operations, and historical industry operations and waste disposal practices. Our Water
Logistics segment includes disposal operations into injection wells that pose risks of seismic activity and environmental liability, including leakage from the wells
to surface or subsurface soils, surface water or groundwater. Some environmental laws and regulations may impose strict liability, which means that in some
situations we could be exposed to liability as a result of our conduct that was without fault or lawful at the time it occurred or as a result of the conduct of, or
conditions caused by, prior operators or other third parties. Clean-up costs and other damages arising as a result of environmental laws and costs associated
with past operations or changes in environmental laws and regulations could be substantial and could have a material adverse effect on our financial condition
and results of operations.
We operate as a motor carrier and therefore are subject to regulation by the DOT and by various state agencies and other regulatory authorities. These
regulatory authorities exercise broad powers, governing activities such as the authorization to engage in motor carrier operations and regulatory safety and
hazardous materials manifesting, labeling, placarding and marking. There are additional regulations specifically relating to the trucking industry, including testing
and specification of equipment and product handling requirements. In addition, the trucking industry is subject to possible regulatory and legislative changes that
may affect the economics of the industry by requiring changes in operating practices or by changing the demand for common or contract carrier services or the
cost of providing truckload services. Some of these possible changes include increasingly stringent environmental regulations, changes in the hours of service
regulations which govern the amount of time a driver may drive in any specific period, requirements for recording devices or electronic logging devices or limits
on vehicle weight and size.
Laws protecting the environment generally have become more stringent over time and could continue to do so, which could lead to material increases
in costs for future environmental compliance and remediation. The modification or interpretation of existing laws or regulations, or the adoption of new laws or
regulations, could curtail exploratory or developmental drilling for oil and natural gas and production of oil and natural gas and could limit well servicing
opportunities. We may not be able to recover some or any of our costs of compliance with these laws and regulations from insurance.
Please read Items 1 and 2. “Business and Properties — Environmental Regulation and Climate Change” for more information on the environmental
laws and government regulations that are applicable to us.
We may not be able to grow successfully through future acquisitions or successfully manage future growth, and we may not be able to
effectively integrate the businesses we do acquire.
Our business strategy includes growth through the acquisitions of other businesses. We may not be able to continue to identify attractive acquisition
opportunities or successfully acquire identified targets. In addition, we may not be successful in integrating our current or future acquisitions into our existing
operations, which may result in unforeseen operational difficulties or diminished financial performance or require a disproportionate amount of our
management’s attention. Even if we are successful in integrating our current or future acquisitions into our existing operations, we may not derive the benefits,
such as operational or administrative synergies, that we expected from such acquisitions, which may result in the commitment of our capital resources without
the expected returns on such capital. Furthermore, competition for acquisition opportunities may escalate, increasing our cost of making
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further acquisitions or causing us to refrain from making additional acquisitions. We may also be limited in our ability to incur additional indebtedness in
connection with or to fund future acquisitions under our credit agreements, and we therefore may be unable to execute this growth strategy.
Whether we realize the anticipated benefits from an acquisition, including the recent acquisition of CJWS, depends, in part, upon our ability to integrate
the operations of the acquired business, the performance of the underlying product and service portfolio, and the performance of the management team and
other personnel of the acquired operations. Accordingly, our financial results could be adversely affected from unanticipated performance issues, legacy
liabilities, transaction-related charges, amortization of expenses related to intangibles, charges for impairment of long-term assets, credit guarantees, partner
performance and indemnifications. While we believe that we have established appropriate and adequate procedures and processes to mitigate these risks, there
is no assurance that these transactions will be successful.
Following the completion of the Exchange Transaction, Ascribe has voting control over the Company.
Following the completion of the Exchange Transaction, Ascribe collectively beneficially controls a majority of the combined voting power of all classes of
our outstanding voting stock. Additionally, in connection with the Exchange Agreement, the Company and Ascribe entered into a Stockholders Agreement. As
contemplated by the Stockholders Agreement, simultaneously with the closing of the transactions contemplated by the Exchange Agreement, the board of
directors was reconstituted from six directors to seven directors, comprised of (i) three Class I Directors, (ii) two Class II Directors, and (iii) two Class III
Directors. Additionally, effective as of the closing of the C&J Transaction, each of Messrs. Timothy H. Day and Samuel E. Langford resigned from the Board and
(a) Lawrence First was appointed as a Class I Director, (b) Derek Jeong was appointed as a Class II Director and (c) Ross Solomon was appointed as a Class
III Director. Pursuant to the terms of the Stockholders Agreement, until the Board Rights Termination Date, Ascribe is entitled to designate for nomination for
election to the board of directors all members of the board of directors, provided that such designations must be made in a manner to ensure that at all times the
board of directors is comprised of at least two independent directors. In addition, the Stockholders Agreement provides that certain actions of the Company and
its subsidiaries require approval of a special committee of the board of directors comprised solely of at least two independent directors.
As a result, Ascribe may control all matters that require stockholder approval, as well as its management and affairs. For example, Ascribe may
unilaterally approve the election of directors, changes to our organizational documents, and any merger, consolidation or sale of all or substantially all of our
assets. This concentration of ownership makes it unlikely that any other holder or group of holders of our common stock will be able to affect the way the
Company is managed or the direction of its business. The interests of Ascribe with respect to matters potentially or actually involving or affecting the Company,
such as future acquisitions, financings and other corporate opportunities and attempts to acquire the Company, may conflict with the interests of our other
stockholders. In addition, this concentration of ownership control may:
• delay, defer or prevent a change in control;
• entrench its management and the board of directors; or
• impede a merger, consolidation, takeover or other business combination involving the Company that other stockholders may desire.
Ascribe’s concentration of stock ownership may adversely affect the trading price of our common stock to the extent investors perceive a disadvantage
in owning stock of a company with significant stockholders.
We depend on several significant customers, and a loss of one or more significant customers could adversely affect our results of
operations.
Our customers consist primarily of major and independent oil and gas companies. During 2020 and 2019, our top five customers accounted for 47%
and 26% of our revenues, respectively. One individual customer comprised 22% of our revenues in 2020. The loss of any one of our largest customers or a
sustained decrease in demand by any of such customers could result in a substantial loss of revenues and could have a material adverse effect on our results
of operations.
The industry in which we operate is undergoing continuing consolidation that may impact our results of operations.
Some of our largest customers have consolidated and are using their size and purchasing power to achieve economies of scale and pricing
concessions. This consolidation could result in reduced capital spending by such customers or decreased demand for our services. If we cannot maintain sales
levels for customers that have consolidated or replace such revenues with increased business activities from other customers, this consolidation activity could
have a significant negative impact on our results of operations or financial condition. We are unable to
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predict what effect consolidations in the industry may have on prices, capital spending by customers, selling strategies, competitive position, customer retention
or our ability to negotiate favorable agreements with customers.
Our industry has experienced a high rate of employee turnover. Any difficulty we experience replacing or adding personnel could adversely
affect our business.
Our ability to manage the recruiting, training, retention and efficient usage of our workforce and to manage the associated costs could impact our
business. Our business activity historically decreases or increases with the prices of oil and natural gas. In addition, we compete with other oilfield services
businesses and other employers to attract and retain qualified personnel with the requisite technical skills and experience. During the year ended December 31,
2020, in response to decreased demand for our services, we reduced our employee headcount and closed certain operating locations. If demand for our
services returns to pre-COVID-19 levels, we may not be able to find enough skilled labor to meet our needs, which could limit our growth. We are also subject to
the Fair Labor Standards Act, which governs such matters as minimum wage, overtime and other working conditions, which can increase our labor costs or
subject us to liabilities to our employees.
A shortage in the labor pool of skilled workers or other general inflationary pressures or changes in applicable laws and regulations could make it more
difficult for us to attract and retain personnel and could require us to enhance our wage and benefits packages. If we are not able to increase our service rates
sufficiently to compensate for wage rate increases, our operating results may be adversely affected.
Other factors may also inhibit our ability to find enough workers to meet our employment needs. Our services require skilled workers who can perform
physically demanding work. As a result of our industry volatility and the demanding nature of the work, workers may choose to pursue employment in fields that
offer a more desirable work environment at wage rates that are competitive with ours. We believe that our success is dependent upon our ability to continue to
employ and retain skilled technical personnel. Our inability to employ or retain skilled technical personnel generally could have a material adverse effect on our
operations.
Our success depends on key members of our management, the loss of any of whom could disrupt our business operations.
We depend to a large extent on the services of our executive officers. These individuals possess extensive expertise, talent and leadership. The loss of
the services of our key personnel could disrupt our operations. Although we have entered into employment agreements with our executive officers that contain,
among other provisions, non-compete agreements, we may not be able to enforce the non-compete provisions in the employment agreements.
Our business could be negatively affected by cybersecurity threats and other disruptions.
We rely heavily on information systems to conduct and protect our business. These information systems are increasingly subject to sophisticated
cybersecurity threats such as unauthorized access to data and systems, loss or destruction of data (including confidential customer information), computer
viruses, or other malicious code, phishing and cyber-attacks and other similar events. These threats arise from numerous sources, not all of which are within our
control, including fraud or malice on the part of third parties, accidental technological failure, electrical or telecommunication outages, failures of computer
servers or other damage to our property or assets, or outbreaks of hostilities or terrorist acts. While we attempt to mitigate these risks, we remain vulnerable to
additional known or unknown threats.
Given the rapidly evolving nature of cyber threats, there can be no assurance that the systems we have designed and implemented to prevent or limit
the effects of cyber incidents or attacks will be sufficient in preventing all such incidents or attacks, or avoiding a material impact to our systems when such
incidents or attacks do occur. A cyber incident or attack could result in the disclosure of confidential or proprietary customer information, theft or loss of
intellectual property, damage to our reputation with our customers and the market, temporary disruptions of service, failure to meet customer requirements or
customer dissatisfaction, theft or exposure to litigation, damage to equipment (which could cause environmental or safety issues) and other financial costs and
losses. In addition, as cybersecurity threats continue to evolve, we may be required to devote additional resources to continue to enhance our protective
measures or to investigate or remediate any cybersecurity vulnerabilities. We do not presently maintain insurance coverage to protect against cybersecurity
risks. If we procure such coverage in the future, we cannot ensure that it will be sufficient to cover any particular losses we may experience as a result of such
cyber-attacks. A cyber-related attack could adversely impact our operating results and result in other negative consequences, including damage to our
reputation or competitiveness, remediation or increased protection costs, litigation or regulatory action.
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Adverse weather conditions may affect our operations .
Our operations may be materially affected by severe weather conditions in areas where we operate. Some of these areas are adversely affected by
seasonal weather conditions, primarily in the winter and spring. During periods of heavy snow, ice or rain, we may be unable to move our equipment between
locations, thereby reducing our ability to provide services and generate revenues. Extended drought conditions in our operating regions could impact our ability
or our customers’ ability to source sufficient water or increase the cost for such water. Severe weather, such as blizzards, tornadoes, droughts, flooding,
extreme temperatures and hurricanes may cause evacuation of personnel, curtailment of services and suspension of operations, and loss of or damage to
equipment and facilities. Damage from any adverse weather conditions could delay our operations and adversely affect our financial condition, results of
operations and cash flows.
Weather conditions may also affect the price of crude oil and natural gas, and related demand for our services. Please read the risk factor above, “If oil
and natural gas prices remain volatile, or if oil or natural gas prices remain low or decline further, the demand for our services could be adversely affected.”
The results of the 2020 U.S. presidential and congressional elections may create regulatory uncertainty for the oil and natural gas industry.
Changes in environmental laws could increase costs and harm our business, financial condition and results of operations.
Joe Biden's victory in the U.S. presidential election, as well as a closely divided Congress, may create regulatory uncertainty in the oil and natural gas
industry. During his first weeks in office, President Biden has issued several executive orders promoting various programs and initiatives designed to, among
other things, curtail climate change, control the release of methane from new and existing oil and natural gas operations, and pause new oil and natural gas
leasing on public lands. This action affects us in a portion of our operations in New Mexico, although this represents a small percentage of our total operations
currently. It remains unclear what additional actions President Biden will take and what support he will have for any potential legislative changes from Congress.
Further, it is uncertain to what extent any new environmental laws or regulations, or any repeal of existing environmental laws or regulations, may affect the
operations of our customers and the demand for our services. Such actions could also increase our operating costs, which could materially harm our business,
financial condition and results of operations.
Climate change legislation or regulations restricting or regulating emissions of greenhouse gases could result in increased operating costs
and reduced demand for our field services.
In response to studies finding that emissions of carbon dioxide, methane and other greenhouse gases (“GHGs”) from industrial and energy sources
contribute to increases of carbon dioxide levels in the earth’s atmosphere and oceans and contribute to global warming and other environmental effects, EPA
has adopted various regulations under the federal CAA addressing emissions of GHGs that may affect the oil and gas industry. In 2012 the EPA published a
final rule, known as New Source Performance Standards (“NSPS”) Subpart OOOO, that includes standards to reduce volatile organic compound (“VOC”)
emissions associated with oil and natural gas production. In June 2016, the EPA also published a final rule, known as NSPS Subpart OOOOa, to reduce
methane and additional VOC emissions from oil and natural gas facilities that were constructed, reconstructed or modified after September 18, 2015. The rules
and the EPA’s subsequent actions to reconsider and propose stays of the rules have been heavily litigated, and in October 2018, the EPA released proposed
revisions to some of the 2016 requirements, including reducing the required frequency of fugitive emissions monitoring at wellsites and compressor stations. In
August 2019, the EPA proposed modifications to the NSPS Subparts OOOO and OOOOa rules—for example, proposing to remove sources in the transmission
and storage segment of the oil and natural gas industry from regulation under NSPS Subparts OOOO and OOOOa and to rescind methane requirements for all
production and processing sources in the oil and natural gas industry or, alternatively, rescind all methane requirements under the rules without removing any
sources from the oil and natural gas source category. Most recently, EPA published two new rules on September 14 and 15, 2020 that remove the transmission
and storage sectors of the oil and gas industry from regulation under the NSPS and rescind methane-specific standards for the production and processing
segments of the industry. However, states and environmental groups brought suit challenging the new rules almost immediately. Although the bulk of the 2012
and 2016 standards are currently in effect, future implementation and the ultimate scope of the 2012 and 2016 standards are uncertain at this time as a result of
these challenges and current uncertainty regarding how the standards may be altered under the Biden administration. Federal changes will affect state air
permitting programs in states that administer the federal CAA under a delegation of authority, including states in which we have operations.
Numerous legislative measures have been introduced in the past that would have imposed restrictions or costs on GHG emissions, including from the
oil and gas industry. Additionally, in 2010, EPA promulgated final rules for mandatory annual reporting of GHGs from certain onshore oil and natural gas
production, processing,
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transmission, storage and distribution facilities, as well as from facilities in other industries. In addition, the United States has been involved in international
negotiations regarding GHG reductions under the UNFCCC, which led to the signing of the Paris Agreement in December 2015. Although the Paris Agreement
became effective in November 2016, in August 2017, the U.S. State Department informed the United Nations of its intent to withdraw from the Paris Agreement,
and in November 2019, the U.S. took another step toward withdrawal by submitting a formal notice of its withdrawal to the United Nations. Although the U.S.
withdrew from the Paris Agreement effective November 4, 2020, President Biden issued an Executive Order on January 20, 2021 to rejoin the Paris Agreement,
effective on February 19, 2021. Additionally, certain U.S. states or regional coalitions of states have adopted measures regulating or limiting greenhouse gases
from certain sources or have adopted policies seeking to reduce overall emissions of greenhouse gases. The adoption and implementation of any international
treaty or of any federal or state legislation or regulations imposing new or additional reporting obligations on, or limiting emissions of GHGs from our equipment
and operations could require us to incur costs to comply with such requirements and possibly require the reduction or limitation of emissions of greenhouse
gases associated with our operations and other sources within the industrial or energy sectors. Such legislation or regulations could adversely affect demand for
the production of oil and natural gas and thus reduce demand for the services we provide to oil and natural gas producers as well as increase our operating
costs by requiring additional costs to operate and maintain equipment and facilities, install emissions controls, acquire allowances or pay taxes and fees relating
to emissions, which could adversely affect our results of operations.
Recently, activists concerned about the potential effects of climate change have directed their attention at sources of funding for fossil‑fuel energy
companies, which has resulted in certain financial institutions, funds and other sources of capital restricting or eliminating their investment in oil and natural gas
activities. In addition, spurred by increasing concerns regarding climate change, the oil and gas industry faces growing demand for corporate transparency and
a demonstrated commitment to sustainability goals. ESG goals and programs, which typically include extralegal targets related to environmental stewardship,
social responsibility and corporate governance, have become an increasing focus of investors and shareholders across the industry. While reporting on ESG
metrics remains voluntary, access to capital and investors is likely to favor companies with robust ESG programs in place. Ultimately, these initiatives could
make it more difficult for our customers to secure funding for exploration and production activities, which could reduce demand for our services. Notwithstanding
potential risks related to climate change, the International Energy Agency estimates that global energy demand will continue to rise and will not peak until after
2040 and that oil and natural gas will continue to represent a substantial percentage of global energy use over that time. Finally, it should be noted that some
scientists have concluded that increasing concentrations of GHGs may produce changes in climate or weather, such as increased frequency and severity of
storms, floods and other climatic events, which if any such effects were to occur, could have adverse physical effects on our operations, physical assets and
field services to exploration and production operators.
Federal, state and local legislative and regulatory initiatives related to hydraulic fracturing could result in operating restrictions or delays in
the completion of oil and natural gas wells that may reduce demand for our well servicing activities and could adversely affect our financial position,
results of operations and cash flows.
We provide hydraulic fracturing and fluid handling services to our customers. Hydraulic fracturing is a commonly used process that involves injection of
water, sand, and certain chemicals to fracture the hydrocarbon-bearing rock formation to allow flow of hydrocarbons into the wellbore. The federal Energy Policy
Act of 2005 amended the UIC provisions of the federal SDWA to expressly exclude certain hydraulic fracturing practices from the definition of “underground
injection.” The EPA has asserted regulatory authority over certain hydraulic fracturing activities involving diesel fuel and published proposed guidance relating to
such practices. At the state level, several states in which we operate have adopted regulations requiring the disclosure of certain information regarding hydraulic
fracturing fluids.
Scrutiny of hydraulic fracturing activities continues in other ways, as the EPA released its report on environmental impacts of hydraulic fracturing in
December 2016, concluding that hydraulic fracturing could impact drinking water resources. The federal Bureau of Land Management (“BLM”), an agency of the
U.S. Department of the Interior, published a final rule in March 2015 relating to the use of hydraulic fracturing techniques on public lands and disclosure of
fracturing fluid constituents. However, in June 2016, a Wyoming federal judge struck down this final rule, finding that the BLM lacked authority to promulgate the
rule. The BLM appealed the decision to the U.S. Court of Appeals for the Tenth Circuit in July 2016, and the appellate court issued a ruling in September 2017
to vacate the Wyoming trial court decision and dismiss the lawsuit challenging the 2015 rule in response to the BLM’s issuance of a proposed rulemaking to
rescind the 2015 rule. In December 2017, the BLM published a final rule rescinding the March 2015 rule. BLM’s repeal of the rule was challenged in court, and
in April 2020, the Northern District of California issued a ruling in favor of the BLM. These BLM hydraulic fracturing rules are in various stages
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of suspension, implementation, delay, rescission and court challenges; accordingly, the future implementation and ultimate scope of these rules is uncertain.
The EPA also issued a final rule prohibiting the discharge of wastewater resulting from hydraulic fracturing activities into publicly owned wastewater treatment
plants in June 2016. In addition, some states and localities have adopted, and others are considering adopting, regulations or ordinances that could restrict
hydraulic fracturing in certain circumstances, that would require, with some exceptions, disclosure of constituents of hydraulic fracturing fluids, or that would
impose higher taxes, fees or royalties on natural gas production. Recent research has linked disposal of produced water into disposal wells to an increase in
earthquakes across the South and Midwest. Certain state agencies, including those in Texas and Oklahoma, have implemented regulations authorizing the
imposition of certain limitations on existing wells if seismic activity increases in the area of an injection well, including a temporary injection ban. For example, in
Oklahoma, the OCC has implemented a variety of measures, including the adoption of the National Academy of Science’s “traffic light system,” pursuant to
which the agency reviews new disposal well applications and may restrict operations at existing wells. Beginning in 2013, the OCC has ordered the reduction of
disposal volumes into the Arbuckle formation. More recently, the OCC directed the shut in of a number of disposal wells due to increased earthquake activity in
the Arbuckle formation and imposed further disposal well volume reductions in the Covington, Crescent, Enid, and Edmond areas. Moreover, vigorous public
debate over hydraulic fracturing and shale gas production continues, and has resulted in delays of well permits in some areas.
Further, several cases have recently put a spotlight on the issue of whether injection wells may be regulated under the CWA if a direct hydrological
connection to a jurisdictional surface water can be established. The split among federal circuit courts of appeals that decided these cases engendered two
petitions for writ of certiorari to the United States Supreme Court in August 2018, one of which was granted in February 2019. EPA has also brought attention to
the reach of the CWA’s jurisdiction in such instances by issuing a request for comment in February 2018 regarding the applicability of the CWA permitting
program to discharges into groundwater with a direct hydrological connection to jurisdictional surface water, which hydrological connections should be
considered “direct,” and whether such discharges would be better addressed through other federal or state programs. In a statement issued by EPA in April
2019, the Agency concluded that the CWA should not be interpreted to require permits for discharges of pollutants that reach surface waters via groundwater.
However, in April 2020, the Supreme Court issued a ruling in the case, County of Maui, Hawaii v. Hawaii Wildlife Fund, holding that discharges into groundwater
may be regulated under the CWA if the discharge is the “functional equivalent” of a direct discharge into navigable waters. On December 10, 2020, EPA issued
a draft guidance on the ruling, which emphasized that discharges to groundwater are not necessarily the “functional equivalent” of a direct discharged based
solely on proximity to jurisdictional waters. If in the future CWA permitting is required for saltwater injection wells as a result of the Supreme Court’s ruling in
County of Maui, Hawaii v. Hawaii Wildlife Fund, the costs of permitting and compliance for our injection well operations could increase.
Increased regulation and attention given to the hydraulic fracturing process could lead to greater opposition, including litigation, to oil and natural gas
production activities using hydraulic fracturing techniques. Additional legislation or regulation at the federal, state, tribal or local level could also lead to
operational delays or increased operating costs in the production of oil and natural gas, including from the developing shale plays, incurred by our customers or
could make it more difficult to perform hydraulic fracturing. The adoption of any federal, state, tribal or local laws or the implementation of regulations or
ordinances restricting or increasing the costs of hydraulic fracturing could potentially increase our costs of operations and cause a decrease in the completion of
new oil and natural gas wells and an associated decrease in demand for our well servicing activities, any or all of which could adversely affect our financial
position, results of operations and cash flows.
Potential listing of species as “threatened” or “endangered” under the federal Endangered Species Act could result in increased costs and
new operating restrictions or delays on our oil and natural gas exploration and production customers, which could adversely reduce the amount of
contract drilling services that we provide to such customers.
The federal Endangered Species Act (the "ESA") and analogous state laws regulate a variety of activities, including oil and natural gas development,
which could have an adverse effect on species listed as threatened or endangered under the ESA or their habitats. The designation of previously unidentified
endangered or threatened species could cause oil and natural gas exploration and production operators to incur additional costs or become subject to operating
delays, restrictions or bans in affected areas, which impacts could adversely reduce the amount of drilling activities in affected areas. Numerous species have
been listed or proposed for protected status in areas in which we provide or could in the future provide field services. Certain wildflower species, among others,
are also species that have been or are being considered for protected status under the ESA and whose range can coincide with oil and natural gas production
activities. Similar protections are offered to migratory birds and certain species of eagles under the Migratory Bird treaty Act and the Bald and Golden Eagle
Protection Act. The presence of protected
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species in areas where operators to whom we provide contract drilling services conduct exploration and production operations could impair such operators’
ability to timely complete well drilling and development and, consequently, adversely affect the amount of contract drilling or other field services that we provided
to such operators, which reduction of services could have a significant adverse effect on our results of operations and financial position.
Limitations or restrictions on our ability to obtain, dispose of or treat water may impact the services that we can provide to our customers.
Our Water Logistics operations involve the supply of significant amounts of water for drilling and hydraulic fracturing, treatment of produced and
flowback water and disposal of a variety of fluids. Limitations or restrictions on our ability to obtain water from local sources, such as restrictions that could be
imposed during extreme drought conditions, may require us to find remote sources of water and transport that water to our service locations. In addition,
treatment and disposal of such water after use is becoming more highly regulated and restricted, as discussed in more detail above. Thus, costs for obtaining,
treating and disposing of water could increase significantly, potentially limiting the services that we can provide to our customers. This could have an adverse
effect on our business, financial condition, results of operations and cash flow.
Diminished access to functional salt water disposal wells may adversely affect operations.
Fracking results in large volumes of produced water, much of which must be disposed of. The resulting water, which is referred to as salt water,
contains significant contaminants and must be handled carefully and disposed of properly. Most salt water is disposed of at specialty disposal sites where the
salt water is injected by way of a salt water disposal well into natural underground formations. If our salt water disposal wells are damaged, then salt water may
contaminate the water supply in underground aquifers. As a result, we may face civil, criminal and administrative penalties by local, state and federal regulatory
authorities. Such penalties may have an adverse effect on our business, financial condition, results of operations and cash flows.
Our ability to use net operating losses and credit carry-forwards to offset future taxable income for U.S. federal income tax purposes may be
limited as a result of issuances of equity or other transactions.
In general, under Sections 382 and 383 of the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended (the “Code”), a corporation that undergoes an “ownership
change” is subject to limitations on its ability to utilize its pre-change net operating losses (“NOLs”), Section 163(j) disallowed interest carryforwards, recognized
built in losses, and certain tax credits to offset future taxable income and tax. In general, an ownership change occurs if the aggregate stock ownership of
certain stockholders changes by more than 50 percentage points over such stockholders’ lowest percentage ownership during the testing period (generally
three years).
The issuance of the Series A Preferred Stock as part of the acquisition of CJWS resulted in an ownership change pursuant to Section 382 of
the Code on March 9, 2020.
The Section 382 limitation impacts the Company’s ability to utilize certain pre-acquisition tax attributes, including NOLs. The projected impact of the
ownership change is to reduce the Company’s available Federal NOLs from $900.7 million as of December 31, 2019 to an estimated $383.3 million as of
December 31, 2020, which begin to expire in 2032. The Company also has $336.8 million ($19.7 million net deferred tax asset) of NOLs for state income tax
purposes, which began to expire in 2020. Federal NOLs generated after 2017 are carried forward indefinitely but usage is limited to 80% of taxable income,
while NOLs generated prior to 2018 continue to be carried forward for 20 years and have no limitation on utilization. As with what occurred in connection with
the issuance of Series A Preferred Stock as part of the acquisition of CJWS, any subsequent ownership changes under the provisions of Section 382 could
eliminate, substantially limited or otherwise adversely affect the use of our NOLs in future periods.
Recently enacted U.S. tax legislation, as well as future U.S. tax legislation, may adversely affect our business, results of operations, financial
condition and cash flow.
The Tax Cuts and Jobs Act (the “Tax Act”) was enacted on December 22, 2017, which made significant changes to U.S. federal income tax laws. The
Tax Act made broad and complex changes to the Code which includes, among other things, reducing the U.S. corporate income tax rate to 21%, limiting the
potential deductibility of business interest expense and net operating losses, limiting the deductibility for certain types of executive compensation, and allowing
for the immediate tax deduction of certain new investments instead of deductions for tax depreciation over time. In addition, the enactment of the Coronavirus
Aid, Relief, and Economic Security Act in March 2020 (the “CARES Act”) made substantial changes to the ability to utilize NOLs to offset taxable income, both in
past tax periods and carrying forward to future tax periods. For example, the CARES Act (i) increased the tax deduction for NOLs from 80% to 100%, for 2018,
2019 and 2020, (ii) suspended the $500,000 limitation on tax-deductible NOLs until 2021 and (iii) allows NOLs from 2018, 2019 and 2020 to be carried back to
up to five years,
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resulting in retroactive tax refunds. Although we have estimated the impact of the Tax Act and the CARES Act by incorporating assumptions based upon our
current interpretation and analysis to date, the Tax Act and the CARES Act are complex, far‑reaching and are in a state of being clarified by regulation.
Consequently, our analysis of the actual impact of the enactment of these laws on us is ongoing and subject to change as provisions of the Tax Act and the
CARES Act are clarified by regulation. Accordingly, either future regulations under the Tax Act and the CARES Act or our further analysis of the Tax Act and the
CARES Act could have an adverse effect on our business, results of operations, financial condition and cash flow.
Possible adverse changes to the tax laws affecting oil and gas companies under the Biden Presidential Administration may adversely affect
our business, results of operations, financial condition and cash flow.
Although it is unknown at this time whether passage is realistic or probable, due to the change in the administration from Republican to Democrat, it is
very likely that the various desired changes in the tax law by the Biden administration will reflect what was seen in the Obama presidential administration. These
proposed changes included reducing or eliminating the percentage depletion deduction for oil and natural gas as well as requiring some or all of costs
associated with intangible drilling costs to be capitalized as opposed to being expensed. Although these possible changes will not affect us directly, they could, if
enacted, have a direct and adverse impact on the oil and gas exploration and production industry and, in turn, adversely affect us.
Risks Relating to Ownership of Our Common Stock or Warrants
Our Second Amended and Restated Certificate of Incorporation and Second Amended and Restated Bylaws, as well as Delaware law,
contain provisions that could discourage acquisition bids or merger proposals, which may adversely affect the market price of our common stock.
Our Second Amended and Restated Certificate of Incorporation authorizes our board of directors to issue preferred stock without stockholder approval.
If our board of directors elects to issue preferred stock, it could be more difficult for a third party to acquire us. In addition, some provisions in our Second
Amended and Restated Certificate of Incorporation and Second Amended and Restated Bylaws could make it more difficult for a third party to acquire control of
us, even if the change of control would be beneficial to our stockholders, including:
•
•
•
•
•

a classified board of directors, so that only approximately one third of our directors are elected each year;
limitations on the removal of directors;
the prohibition of stockholder action by written consent;
limitations on the ability of our stockholders to call special meetings; and
advance notice provisions for stockholder proposals and nominations for elections to the board of directors to be acted upon at meetings of
stockholders.

Delaware law prohibits us from engaging in any business combination with any “interested stockholder,” meaning generally that a stockholder who
beneficially owns more than 15% of our stock cannot acquire us for a period of three years from the date this person became an interested stockholder, unless
various conditions are met, such as approval of the transaction by our board of directors.
We are a "smaller reporting company" and, as a result of the reduced disclosure and governance requirements applicable to smaller
reporting companies, our common stock may be less attractive to investors.
We are a “smaller reporting company,” within the meaning of the Exchange Act. As a “smaller reporting company,” we are subject to lesser disclosure
obligations in our SEC filings compared to other issuers. Specifically, “smaller reporting companies” are able to provide simplified executive compensation
disclosures in their filings, are exempt from the provisions of Section 404(b) of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act requiring that independent registered public accounting
firms provide an attestation report on the effectiveness of internal control over financial reporting, and have certain other decreased disclosure obligations in
their SEC filings, including, among other things, only being required to provide two years of audited financial statements in annual reports. Decreased
disclosures in our SEC filings due to our status a “smaller reporting company” may make it harder for investors to analyze our operating results and financial
prospects and make our common stock less attractive to investors. If some investors find our common stock less attractive as a result, there may be a less
active trading market for our common stock, and our stock price may be more volatile.
Because we have no plans to pay dividends on our common stock, investors must look solely to stock appreciation for a return on their
investment in us.
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We do not anticipate paying any cash dividends on our common stock in the foreseeable future. We currently intend to retain all future earnings to fund
the development and growth of our business. Any payment of future dividends will be at the discretion of our board of directors and will depend on, among other
things, our earnings, financial condition, capital requirements, level of indebtedness, statutory and contractual restrictions applying to the payment of dividends
and other considerations that the board of directors deems relevant. Investors must rely on sales of their common stock after price appreciation, which may
never occur, as the only way to realize a return on their investment. Investors seeking cash dividends should not purchase our common stock.
We cannot assure you that an active trading market for our common stock will exist or be maintained, and the market price of our common
stock may be volatile, which could cause the value of your investment to decline.
On December 17, 2019, the New York Stock Exchange (“NYSE”) filed a Form 25 to delist our common stock from the NYSE. Effective December 3,
2019, our common stock began trading on the OTCQX® Best Market tier of the OTC Markets Group Inc. Securities traded in over‑the‑counter markets
generally have substantially less volume and liquidity than securities traded on a national securities exchange such as the NYSE as a result of various factors,
including the reduced number of investors that will consider investing in the securities, fewer market makers in the securities, a reduction in securities analyst
and news media coverage and limited ability to issue additional securities or obtain financing in the future. As a result, holders of our common stock may have
difficulty selling their shares and our stock price could experience additional downward pressure.
Furthermore, the price of our common stock could be subject to greater volatility and could be more likely to be affected by market conditions and
fluctuations, changes in our operating results and financial performance and prospects, market perception of us and our business, future sales of equity or
equity-related securities, changes in earnings estimates or buy/sell recommendations by analysts, announcements by us or other parties with an interest in our
business and general financial, and domestic, economic and other market conditions. The lack of liquidity in our common stock may also make it difficult for us to
issue additional securities for financing or other purposes, or to otherwise arrange for any financing we may need in the future. The delisting of our common
stock from the NYSE could negatively impact us by (i) reducing the liquidity and market price of our common stock; (ii) reducing the number of investors willing
to hold or acquire our common stock, which could negatively impact our ability to raise equity financing; (iii) impacting our ability to use a registration statement
to offer and sell freely tradable securities, thereby preventing or limiting us from accessing the public capital markets; and (iv) impairing our ability to provide
equity incentives to our employees.
If the market price of our common stock continues to trade at sustained low prices, or if the price of our common stock decreases further,
our investors could lose a substantial part or all of their investment in our common stock.
The high and low bid-price of our common stock during the year ended December 31, 2020 was $0.45 per share and $0.07 per share, respectively. In
the event of a further decrease in the market price of our common stock or sustained trading at a low price, our investors could lose a substantial part or all of
their investment in our common stock. Consequently, our investors may not be able to sell shares of our common stock at prices equal to or greater than the
price they paid.
The following factors, among others, could affect our stock price:
•

our operating and financial performance;

•

actual or anticipated changes in revenue or earnings estimates or publication of reports by equity research analysts;

•

speculation in the press or investment community;

•

sales of our common stock by us or our stockholders, or the perception that such sales may occur;

•

general market conditions, including fluctuations in actual and anticipated future commodity prices;

•

our ability to meet our debt obligations;

•

errors in our forecasting of the demand for our services, which could lead to lower revenue or increased costs; and

•

domestic and international economic, legal and regulatory factors unrelated to our performance.

In addition, the stock markets in general have experienced volatility that has often been unrelated to the operating performance of particular companies.
These broad market fluctuations may also adversely affect the trading price of our common stock.
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Our outstanding warrants are exercisable for shares of our common stock. The exercise of such equity instruments could have a dilutive
effect to stockholders of the Company.
We currently have outstanding warrants that are exercisable into 2,066,576 shares of our common stock at an initial exercise price of $55.25 per
warrant. The exercise of these warrants into our common stock could have a dilutive effect to the holdings of our existing stockholders. However, as long as our
stock price is below $55.25 per share, the warrants will have limited economic value, and they may expire worthless. In addition, the warrant agreement
provides that the terms of the warrants may be amended without the consent of any holder to cure any ambiguity or correct any defective provision, but requires
the approval by the holders of at least a certain percentage of the then-outstanding warrants originally issued to make any change that adversely affects the
interests of the holders. Accordingly, we may amend the terms of the warrants in a manner adverse to a holder if holders of at least a certain percentage of the
then outstanding warrants approve of such amendment. The warrants will not expire until December 23, 2023 and may create an overhang on the market for,
and have a negative effect on the market price of, our common stock.
Future sales or the availability for sale of substantial amounts of our common stock, or the perception that these sales may occur, or the
issuance of stock as consideration for a future acquisition, could adversely affect the trading price of our common stock and could impair our
ability to raise capital through future sales of equity securities.
Our Second Amended and Restated Certificate of Incorporation, as amended, authorizes us to issue 198,805,000 shares of common stock, of which an
estimated 24,899,932 shares of common stock were outstanding as of March 26, 2021. We also have 2,481,657 and 500,000 shares of common stock
authorized for issuance as equity awards under the Basic Energy Services, Inc. 2019 Long Term Incentive Plan and Non-Employee Director Incentive Plan,
respectively. As of December 31, 2020, 194,264 shares are issuable pursuant to outstanding options and 158,664 shares are issuable pursuant to outstanding
restricted stock awards. An additional 118,805,000 shares of common stock are held in reserve for the conversion of the Series A Preferred Stock into common
stock, should that occur.
A large percentage of our shares of common stock are held by a relatively small number of investors. We entered into a registration rights agreement,
(the “Registration Rights Agreement”) with certain of those investors pursuant to which we filed a registration statement with the SEC to facilitate potential future
sales of such shares by them. Sales of a substantial number of shares of our common stock in the public markets, or even the perception that these sales might
occur, could impair our ability to raise capital through a future sale of, or pay for acquisitions using, our equity securities and may adversely affect the trading
price of our common stock.
We may issue shares of our common stock or other securities from time to time as consideration for future acquisitions and investments. If any such
acquisition or investment is significant, the number of shares of our common stock, or the number or aggregate principal amount, as the case may be, of other
securities that we may issue may in turn be substantial. We may also grant registration rights covering those shares of our common stock or other securities in
connection with any such acquisitions and investments.
We cannot predict the effect that future sales of our common stock will have on the price at which our common stock trades or the size of future
issuances of our common stock or the effect, if any, that future issuances will have on the market price of our common stock. Sales of substantial amounts of our
common stock, or the perception that such sales could occur, or the issuance of stock as consideration for a future acquisition may adversely affect the trading
price of our common stock.
Following the completion of the Exchange Transaction the voting power of holders of our common stock was substantially diluted.
Percentage ownership of holders of our common stock may also be significantly diluted.
Pursuant to the Exchange Agreement, as partial consideration for the Exchange Transaction, the Company issued to Ascribe 118,805 shares of newly
issued Series A Preferred Stock of the Company, which constituted 83% of the equity interest in the Company. Each share of the newly issued Series A
Preferred Stock entitles the holder to 1,000 votes (the vote number may be adjusted from time to time as provided in the Certificate of Designations) on all
matters submitted to a vote of the holders of common stock, voting together as a single class. As a result, the voting rights of common stock holders have been
substantially reduced.
Additionally, each share of Series A Preferred Stock may be converted into a number of shares of common stock of the Company equal to the product
of (i) the number of shares of Series A Preferred Stock being so converted and (ii) the Conversion Multiple, which initially shall be 1,000 but may be adjusted
from time to time as provided in the Certificate of Designations. As a result, the percentage ownership which your common stock
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holdings represent may be substantially diluted upon a conversion of Series A Preferred Stock into common stock, which may have a negative effect on the
market price of the common stock.
ITEM 1B. UNRESOLVED STAFF COMMENTS
None.
ITEM 3. LEGAL PROCEEDINGS
From time to time, the Company is a party to litigation or other legal proceedings that we consider to be a part of the ordinary course of business. The
Company is not currently involved in any legal proceedings that it considers probable or reasonably possible, individually or in the aggregate, to result in a
material adverse effect on its financial condition, results of operations or liquidity. The information regarding litigation and environmental matters described in
Note 13. "Commitments and Contingencies," of the notes to our audited consolidated financial statements included in this Annual Report on Form 10-K is
incorporated herein by reference.
ITEM 4. MINE SAFETY DISCLOSURES
Not applicable.
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PART II
ITEM 5. MARKET FOR REGISTRANT’S COMMON EQUITY, RELATED STOCKHOLDER MATTERS AND ISSUER PURCHASES OF EQUITY
SECURITIES
Market Price for Registrant’s Common Equity
Market Information
Our common stock trades on the OTCQX(R) Best Market tier of the OTC Markets Group Inc. (“OTCQX”) under the symbol "BASX." Any over-thecounter market quotations on the OTCQX reflect inter-dealer prices, without retail mark-up, mark-down or commission and may not necessarily represent actual
transactions. Until December 2, 2019, our common stock traded on the New York Stock Exchange under the symbol "BAS". As of March 26, 2021, we had
24,899,932 shares of common stock outstanding held by approximately 133 record holders.
Dividend Policy
We have not declared or paid any cash dividends on our common stock, and we do not currently anticipate paying any cash dividends on our common
stock in the foreseeable future. We currently intend to retain all future earnings to fund the development and growth of our business. Any future determination
relating to our dividend policy will be at the discretion of our board of directors and will depend on our results of operations, financial condition, capital
requirements and other factors deemed relevant by our board.
Unregistered Sales of Equity Securities
None
Purchases of Equity Securities by the Issuer or Affiliated Purchasers
Neither we, nor any affiliated purchaser, purchased any of our equity securities during the quarter ended December 31, 2020.
ITEM 6. SELECTED FINANCIAL DATA
Not applicable.
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ITEM 7. MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS OF FINANCIAL CONDITION AND RESULTS OF OPERATIONS
The following management's discussion and analysis ("MD&A") of our financial condition and results of operations should be read in conjunction with
our consolidated financial statements and related notes that appear elsewhere in this Annual Report on Form 10-K. In addition to historical consolidated
financial information, the following discussion contains forward-looking statements that reflect our plans, estimates, or beliefs. Actual results could differ
materially from those discussed in the forward-looking statements. Factors that could cause or contribute to these differences include those discussed below
and elsewhere in this Annual Report on Form 10-K, particularly in "Risk Factors."
Management’s Overview
We provide wellsite services in the United States to oil and natural gas production companies, with a focus on well servicing, water logistics, and
completion and remedial services which are trusted, safe, and reliable. These services are fundamental to establishing and maintaining the flow of oil and
natural gas throughout the productive life of a well. Our broad range of services enables us to meet multiple needs of our customers at the wellsite. The
Company's operations are concentrated in major United States onshore oil and natural gas producing regions located in Texas, California, New Mexico,
Oklahoma, Arkansas, Louisiana, Wyoming, North Dakota and Colorado. We operate three reportable segments: Well Servicing, Water Logistics and Completion
and Remedial Services.
In 2020, our Well Servicing segment represented 52% of our consolidated revenues. Revenue in our Well Servicing segment is derived from
maintenance, workover, completion and plugging and abandonment services. The Water Logistics segment represented 34% of our consolidated revenues.
Revenue in our Water Logistics segment is derived from our network of disposal wells, pipelines, gathering systems, and fresh and brine water wells that
comprise our midstream operations. In addition to our water midstream business, Water Logistics also includes transportation and maintenance services. Our
Completion & Remedial Services segment represented 14% of our consolidated revenues. Revenues from our Completion & Remedial Services segment are
derived from our rental and fishing tool operations, coiled tubing and related services and underbalanced drilling.
Summary Financial Results
• Total revenue for 2020 was $411.4 million, which represented a decrease of $155.9 million from 2019.
• Net loss for 2020 was $268.2 million, compared to $181.9 million in 2019.
• Adjusted EBITDA (1) for 2020 was negative $15.0 million, which represented a decrease of $54.6 million from 2019. See later in this MD&A for our
reconciliation of net loss to adjusted EBITDA.
(1)Adjusted

EBITDA is not a measure determined in accordance with United States generally accepted accounting principles ("GAAP"). See "Supplemental Non-GAAP Financial Measure Adjusted EBITDA" below for further explanation and reconciliation to the most directly comparable financial measures calculated and presented in accordance with GAAP.

Acquisition of C&J Well Services
On March 9, 2020, the Company acquired C&J Well Services, Inc. ("CJWS") from NexTier Holding Co. CJWS is the third largest rig servicing provider
in the U.S., with a leading footprint in California and a strong customer base. Through the acquisition of CJWS, the Company expanded its footprint in the
Permian, California and other key oil basins. The Company paid $95.7 million in total consideration for the acquisition at closing, comprised of $59.4 million in
cash and $36.3 million in other consideration described fully in Note 1. "Description of Business - Acquisition of C&J Well Services, Inc." in the notes to our
consolidated financial statements included elsewhere in this Annual Report on Form 10-K.
General Industry Overview
Our business is driven by expenditures of oil and gas companies. Our customers' spending is categorized as either an operating or a capital
expenditure. Activities designed to add hydrocarbon reserves are classified as capital expenditures, while those associated with maintaining or accelerating
production are categorized as operating expenses.
Because existing oil and natural gas wells require ongoing spending to maintain production, expenditures by oil and gas companies for the
maintenance of existing wells historically have been relatively stable and predictable. In contrast, capital expenditures by oil and gas companies for exploration
and drilling are more directly influenced by current and expected oil and natural gas prices and generally reflect the volatility of commodity prices. We believe
our focus on production and workover activity partially insulates our financial results from the volatility of the active drilling rig count. However, significantly lower
commodity prices have impacted production and workover activities due to both customer cash liquidity limitations and well economics for these service
activities.

37

Capital expenditures by oil and gas companies tend to be sensitive to volatility in oil or natural gas prices because project decisions are based on a
return on investment over a number of years. As such, capital expenditure economics often require the use of commodity price forecasts which may prove
inaccurate in the amount of time required to plan and execute a capital expenditure project (such as the drilling of a deep well). When commodity prices are
depressed for even a short period of time, capital expenditure projects are routinely deferred until prices return to an acceptable level.
In contrast, both mandatory and discretionary operating expenditures are substantially more stable than exploration and drilling expenditures.
Mandatory operating expenditure projects involve activities that cannot be avoided in the short term, such as regulatory compliance, safety, contractual
obligations and projects to maintain the well and related infrastructure in operating condition (for example, repairs or replacement of wellbore production
equipment, repairs to well casings to maintain mechanical integrity or well interventions to evaluate wellbore integrity). Discretionary operating expenditure
projects may not be critical to the short-term viability of a lease or field, but these projects are relatively insensitive to commodity price volatility. Discretionary
operating expenditure work is evaluated according to a simple short-term payout criterion that is far less dependent on commodity price forecasts.
Going Concern and Strategic Initiatives
Demand for services offered by our industry is a function of our customers’ willingness and ability to make operating and capital expenditures to explore
for, develop and produce hydrocarbons in the United States. Our customers’ expenditures are affected by both current and expected levels of commodity prices.
Industry conditions during 2020 were greatly influenced by factors that impacted supply and demand in the global oil and natural gas markets, including
a global outbreak of the novel coronavirus ("COVID-19") and the announced price reductions and possible production increases by members of Organization of
the Petroleum Exporting Countries (“OPEC”) and other oil exporting nations. As a result, the posted price for West Texas Intermediate oil ("WTI") declined
sharply during early 2020 from 2019.
This decline in oil and natural gas prices, and the consequent impact on industry exploration and production activity, has adversely impacted the level
of drilling and workover activity by our customers. As a result of these weak energy sector conditions and lower demand for our products and services, customer
contract pricing, our operating results, our working capital and our operating cash flows have been negatively impacted during 2020. During the last half of 2020,
we had difficulty paying for our contractual obligations as they came due, and we continue to have this difficulty in 2021. Management has taken several steps
to generate additional liquidity, including reducing operating and administrative costs, employee headcount reductions, closing operating locations,
implementing employee furloughs, other cost reduction measures, and the suspension of growth capital expenditures.
While market prices for oil and natural gas have improved in early 2021, the overall trends in our business have not yet recovered. We expect that
demand for our services will increase as a result of these higher oil and natural gas prices; however, we are unable to predict when this increased demand and
resulting improvement in our results of operations will occur.
Our liquidity and ability to comply with debt covenants that may be required under the Senior Notes and the revolving credit facility (the “ABL Facility”)
have been negatively impacted by the downturn in the energy markets, volatility in commodity prices and their effects on our customers and us, as well as
general macroeconomic conditions. If an event of default were to occur, our lenders could, in addition to other remedies such as charging default interest,
accelerate the maturity of the outstanding indebtedness, making it immediately due and payable, and we may not have sufficient liquidity to repay those
amounts.
We continue to have difficulty paying for our contractual obligations as they come due. Management has taken several steps to generate additional
liquidity, including reducing operating and administrative costs, employee headcount reductions, closing operating locations, implementing employee furloughs,
other cost reduction measures, and the suspension of growth capital expenditures. As discussed in Note 1 to the consolidated financial statements included
elsewhere in this annual report, the recent decline in the customers’ demand for our services has had a material adverse impact on the financial condition of the
Company, resulting in recurring losses from operations, a net capital deficiency, and liquidity constraints that raise substantial doubt about its ability to continue
as a going concern. Among the other steps that our management may or is implementing to attempt to alleviate this substantial doubt include additional sales of
non-strategic assets, obtaining waivers of debt covenant requirements from our lenders, restructuring or refinancing our debt agreements, or obtaining equity
financing. In addition, we had a significant contractual obligation to pay cash or issue additional Senior Notes to our largest shareholder, Ascribe, resulting from
our acquisition of CJWS. On March 31, 2021, the Company negotiated a settlement of this obligation
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with Ascribe in exchange for issuing additional Senior Notes to Ascribe with an aggregate par value of $47.5 million. See Note 18. "Subsequent Event" in the
notes to our consolidated financial statements included elsewhere in this Annual Report on Form 10-K for more information about the settlement of the MakeWhole Reimbursement.
Management has prepared the consolidated financial statements included in this annual report in accordance with U.S. generally accepted accounting
principles applicable to a going concern, which contemplates that assets will be realized and liabilities will be discharged in the normal course of business as
they become due. These consolidated financial statements do not reflect the adjustments to the carrying values of assets and liabilities and the reported
revenues and expenses and balance sheet classifications that would be necessary if the Company was unable to realize its assets and settle its liabilities as a
going concern in the normal course of operations. Such adjustments could be material and adverse to the financial results of the Company.
We are engaged in ongoing discussions regarding our liquidity and financial situation with representatives of the lenders under the ABL Credit Facility,
and have received from the lenders under the ABL Credit Facility a waiver of the default that otherwise would have arisen under the ABL Credit Facility as a
result of the “going concern” disclosures described above. We also are evaluating certain strategic alternatives including financings, refinancings, amendments,
waivers, forbearances, asset sales, debt issuances, exchanges and purchases, a combination of the foregoing, or other out-of-court or in-court bankruptcy
restructurings of our debt to address these matters, which may include discussions with holders of the Senior Notes for a comprehensive de-leveraging
transaction.
If the Company is unable to effectuate a successful debt restructuring, the Company expects that it will continue to experience adverse pressures on its
relationships with counterparties who are critical to its business, its ability to access the capital markets, its ability to execute on its operational and strategic
goals and its business, prospects, results of operations and liquidity generally. There can be no assurance as to when or whether the Company will implement
any action as a result of these strategic initiatives, whether the implementation of one or more such actions will be successful, whether the Company will be able
to effect a refinancing of its Senior Notes or otherwise access the capital markets, or the effects the failure to take action may have on the Company’s business,
its ability to achieve its operational and strategic goals or its ability to finance its business or refinance its indebtedness. A failure to address the Company’s level
of corporate leverage in the near-term will have a material adverse effect on the Company’s business, prospects, results of operations, liquidity and financial
condition, and its ability to service or refinance its corporate debt as it becomes due.
Business Environment
Our business depends on our customers’ willingness and ability to make expenditures to produce, develop and explore for oil and natural gas in the
United States. The willingness of our customers to make these expenditures is primarily influenced by current and expected future prices for oil and natural gas.
Industry conditions during 2020 were greatly influenced by factors that impacted supply and demand in the global oil and natural gas markets, including a global
outbreak of the novel coronavirus ("COVID-19") and the announced price reductions and possible production increases by members of Organization of the
Petroleum Exporting Countries (“OPEC”) and other oil exporting nations. As a result, the posted price for West Texas Intermediate oil ("WTI") declined sharply
during early 2020 from 2019.
This decline in oil and natural gas prices, and the consequent impact on industry exploration and production activity, has adversely impacted the level
of drilling and workover activity by our customers. As a result of these weak energy sector conditions and lower demand for our products and services, customer
contract pricing, our operating results, our working capital and our operating cash flows have been negatively impacted during 2020. During the last half of 2020,
we have had difficulty paying for our contractual obligations as they come due. Management has taken several steps to generate additional liquidity, including
reducing operating and administrative costs, employee headcount reductions, closing operating locations, implementing employee furloughs, other cost
reduction measures, and the suspension of growth capital expenditures.
Outlook
While market prices for oil and natural gas have improved in early 2021, the overall trends in our business have not yet recovered. We expect that
demand for our services will increase as a result of these higher oil and natural gas prices; however, we are unable to predict when this increased demand and
resulting improvement in our results of operations will occur.
We continue to have difficulty paying for our contractual obligations as they come due. Due to our current capital structure, working capital position, and
the uncertainty of our future results of operations and operating cash flows, there is substantial doubt as to the ability of the Company to continue as a going
concern. Additional steps that management could implement to alleviate this substantial doubt would include additional sales of non-strategic
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assets, obtaining waivers of debt covenant requirements from our lenders, restructuring or refinancing our debt agreements, or obtaining equity financing.
However, there can be no assurances that the Company will be able to successfully complete these actions in the current environment. For further discussion of
our liquidity position, see "Liquidity and Capital Resources."
The COVID-19 pandemic had an adverse effect on oil and natural gas prices, the demand for our services and our reported results for 2020, and may
continue to negatively impact our business during 2021. The extent to which our operations will be impacted by the pandemic will depend largely on future
developments, including the severity of the pandemic, actions by government authorities to contain it or treat its impact and success of those efforts. These are
highly uncertain and cannot be accurately predicted. We will continue to monitor the developments relating to COVID-19 and the volatility in oil and natural
prices closely, and will follow health and safety guidelines as they evolve.
Results of Operations
Revenues
Consolidated revenues decreased by 27% to $411.4 million in 2020 from $567.3 million in 2019. This decrease was due to decreased customer activity,
particularly in our Water Logistics and Completion & Remedial Services segments, as exploration and production companies significantly reduced their capital
expenditure activity during 2020 due to low oil commodity pricing. Our reportable segment revenues consisted of the following:

(dollars in thousands)
Well Servicing
Water Logistics
Completion & Remedial Services
Total revenues

Revenues
212,817
138,935
59,623
411,375

$

$

Year Ended December 31,
2020
% of Total Revenues
Revenues
52%
$
226,966
34%
199,816
14%
140,468
100%
$
567,250

2019
% of Total Revenues
40%
35%
25%
100%

The following table includes certain operating statistics related to our Well Servicing segment. This table does not include revenues and profits
associated with our legacy rig manufacturing operations:
Well Servicing
2020
2019

Weighted Average
Number of Rigs
515
308

Rig Hours
472,300
595,400

Rig Utilization Rate
34%
68%

Revenue per Rig Hour
$439
$359

Segment Profits %
18%
21%

Well Servicing revenues decreased by 6% to $212.8 million in 2020, compared to $227.0 million in 2019. The decrease in revenue was partially offset
by the March 9, 2020 acquisition of CJWS. Rig utilization decreased to 34% in 2020 from 68% during 2019. Our weighted average number of well servicing rigs
increased to 515 in 2020 from 308 during 2019 primarily due to the CJWS acquisition in the first quarter of 2020. We experienced an increase of 22% in
revenue per rig hour to $439 during 2020 from $359 during 2019, due to increased mix of higher rate work in the California markets resulting from an increased
presence in that market following the CJWS transaction. The acquisition of CJWS contributed $103.9 million of revenues to the Well Servicing segment.
The following table includes certain operating statistics related to our Water Logistics segment:
Water Logistics
2020
2019

Pipeline Volumes (in
bbls)
14,070,000
14,163,000

Trucking Volumes (in
bbls)
18,557,000
27,139,000

Weighted Average
Number of Water
Logistics Trucks
1,193
799

Truck Hours
1,145,000
1,570,100

Revenue (in
thousands)
$138,935
$199,816

Segment Profits
19%
29%

Water Logistics revenue decreased by 30% to $138.9 million in 2020, compared to $199.8 million in 2019 due to decreases in the trucking line of
business resulting from a strategic shift towards higher margin pipeline-based disposals. Pipeline disposal volumes decreased 1% to 14.1 million barrels in 2020
compared to 14.2 million barrels in 2019. Our weighted average number of water logistics trucks increased to 1,193 in 2020 from 799 in 2019, primarily from the
CJWS acquisition in the first quarter of 2020. The acquisition of CJWS contributed $36.2 million of revenues to the Water Logistics segment.
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The following table includes certain information related to our Completion & Remedial Services segment:
Completion & Remedial Services
2020
2019

Revenues (in thousands)
$59,623
$140,468

Segment Profits %
13%
30%

Completion & Remedial Services revenue decreased by 58% to $59.6 million in 2020, compared to $140.5 million in 2019. Revenues declined primarily
due to pricing pressures coupled with decreased completion activity as decreased commodity prices resulted in decreased drilling and completion activity by our
customers throughout the year. The acquisition of CJWS contributed $17.4 million of revenues to the Completion & Remedial Services segment.
Costs of Services
Consolidated costs of services, which primarily consist of labor costs, including workers’ compensation and health insurance, and maintenance and
repair costs, decreased by 20% to $338.1 million in 2020 from $421.5 million in 2019, due to decreases in activity and corresponding decreases in employee
headcount and wages to adapt to current activity levels.
Costs of services for the Well Servicing segment decreased by 4% to $174.0 million in 2020 as compared to $181.5 million in 2019, due to reduced
activity and headcount. The acquisition of CJWS contributed $82.7 million of costs of services to this segment in 2020. Segment profits as a percentage of
segment revenues decreased to 18% of revenues in 2020 from 21% of revenues in 2019 due to decreased pricing for our services in 2020.
Costs of services for the Water Logistics segment decreased by 21% to $112.2 million in 2020 from $141.4 million in 2019 due to reduced activity levels
and headcount. The acquisition of CJWS contributed $27.1 million of costs of services to this segment in 2020. Segment profits as a percentage of segment
revenues decreased to 19% in 2020 from 29% in 2019, due to decreased pricing for our services in 2020.
Costs of services for the Completion & Remedial Services segment decreased by 47% to $51.8 million in 2020 from $98.7 million in 2019, due to
reduced activity levels and headcount. The acquisition of CJWS contributed $10.9 million of costs of services to this segment in 2020. Segment profits as a
percentage of segment revenues decreased to 13% in 2020 compared to 30% in 2019, due to decreased pricing for our services in 2020.
Selling, General and Administrative Expenses
Consolidated selling, general and administrative expenses decreased by $17.4 million or 15% to $98.1 million in 2020 from $115.5 million in 2019. This
decrease was despite the March 9, 2020 acquisition of CJWS, which contributed $20.6 million of selling, general and administrative costs in 2020, and was due
to the Company's cost reduction initiatives in 2020. Stock-based compensation expense was $1.5 million during 2020 compared to $8.7 million during 2019.
Depreciation and Amortization Expenses
Consolidated depreciation and amortization expense was $52.5 million during 2020, a decrease of 24% from $69.5 million in 2019. The decrease in
depreciation and amortization expense was due to impairments of certain long-lived property and equipment assets in the first quarter of 2020 and decreased
capital spending in 2020. During 2020, we incurred $7.8 million for cash capital expenditures and $1.6 million for finance leases, compared to $55.4 million for
cash capital expenditures and $7.9 million for finance leases in 2019.
Impairments and Other Charges
The following table summarizes our impairments and other charges:
Year Ended December 31,
(in thousands)
Long lived asset impairments
Goodwill impairments
Inventory write-downs
Transaction costs
Field restructuring
Executive departure

2020
$

$

Total impairments and other charges

2019
88,697
19,089
5,281
4,734
351
—
118,152

$

$

—
—
5,266
2,153
—
843
8,262

Long-lived asset impairments - The reduction in demand for our services beginning in March 2020 for each of our businesses was an indicator that our
long-lived assets could be impaired. Our impairment testing indicated
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that our Well Servicing segment long-lived assets were not recoverable. The estimated fair value of the Well Servicing segment assets was determined to be
below its carrying value and as a result we recorded impairments of property and equipment totaling $86.0 million and write-downs of component parts inventory
totaling $4.8 million as of March 31, 2020. As of December 31, 2020, we recorded an additional $2.7 million impairment of long-lived assets related to certain
real property yard and facility locations that we no longer use.
Goodwill impairments - The Company recorded goodwill of $19.1 million in connection with the acquisition of CJWS, which was allocated to our Well
Servicing and Water Logistics reporting units. On March 31, 2020, due to the reduction in demand for our services, we determined that the fair value of the Well
Servicing reporting unit was less than its carrying value, which resulted in a goodwill impairment of $10.6 million for this reporting unit. As part of our annual
goodwill impairment test, we determined that the remaining fair value of the Water Logistics reporting unit was less than its carrying value, which resulted in a
goodwill impairment of $8.5 million for this reporting unit.
Inventory write-downs - In connection with the downturn in our business, we recorded a $4.8 million write-down of certain parts inventory in our Well
Servicing segment in the first quarter of 2020. We also recorded a $5.3 million write-down of certain parts inventory in our Well Servicing segment during 2019
due to obsolescence.
Transaction costs - In response to the downturn in our business, and in connection with our plans to adjust our capital structure accordingly, we incurred
$4.7 million of legal and professional consulting costs, including costs associated with the Exchange Offer. For further discussion of the Exchange Offer, see
Note 4. "Indebtedness and Borrowing Facility" in the notes to our consolidated financial statements included in this Annual Report on Form 10-K.
Field restructuring costs - In 2020, we incurred $0.4 million of costs associated with yard closures in connection with our field restructuring initiative.
Executive departure - In 2019, we incurred $0.8 million in costs related to the departure of our Chief Executive Officer.
Acquisition Related Costs
Acquisition related costs includes CJWS Transaction-related costs, including approximately $8.9 million of external legal and consulting fees and due
diligence costs, along with other costs associated with the CJWS acquisition, including severance costs paid to CJWS employees pursuant to the Purchase
Agreement.
Loss (Gain) on Disposal of Assets
During 2020, we sold non-strategic property and equipment as part of our continuing operations. We received $14.7 million of proceeds and recognized
a $3.5 million net gain on the sale of these assets. During 2019, we also sold non-strategic property and equipment assets. We received $6.6 million of proceeds
and recognized a $4.0 million net loss on the sale of these assets.
Gain on Derivative
The Company's derivative liability relates to our make-whole obligation to our majority shareholder for the Senior Notes they contributed to the purchase
consideration for the CJWS acquisition. The notional amount of the make-whole obligation was $28.5 million and the fair value was $4.8 million at December
31, 2020. The fair value of the derivative liability was based on a credit-adjusted recovery value based on the trading value of our Senior Notes. The fair value of
the derivative liability resulted in a net $4.9 million gain in 2020. On March 31, 2021, the Company negotiated a settlement of the Make-Whole Reimbursement
obligation with Ascribe in exchange for issuing additional Senior Notes to Ascribe with an aggregate par value of $47.5 million. See Note 18. “Subsequent
Event” in the notes to our consolidated financial statements included elsewhere in this Annual Report on Form 10-K for more information about the settlement of
the Make-Whole Reimbursement.
Interest Expense, net
The Company’s net interest expense consisted of the following:
Year Ended December 31,
(in thousands)
Cash payments for interest
Amortization of debt discounts and issuance costs
Change in accrued interest
Interest Income
Other

2020
$

$

Interest expense, net

42

2019
37,322 $
8,845
513
(63)
363
46,980 $

39,248
3,392
86
(509)
161
42,378

Consolidated net interest expense increased to $47.0 million in 2020 from $42.4 million in 2019. The increase in net interest expense in 2020 was
primarily due to additional interest expense related to our increased average outstanding debt during 2020, increased amortization of debt discounts, and the
$1.1 million accelerated amortization of deferred financing cost assets following amendments to the ABL Facility during 2020.
Income Tax (Benefit) Expense
Income tax benefit was $3.8 million in 2020 compared to $0.0 million of income tax expense in 2019. Our effective tax rate was 1.51% in 2020,
compared to an effective tax rate of negative 0.02% in 2019. The tax benefit during 2020 was generated from the impact of long-lived asset impairments
recorded during 2020 and the composition of deferred tax liabilities acquired as part of the March 2020 acquisition of CJWS. During 2019, we filed an amended
2007 federal tax return under section 172(f) of the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended, which allowed us to claim a refund of $1.9 million of 2007
taxes.
Discontinued Operations
During the year ended December 31, 2019, based on the Company's evaluation of the demand for pressure pumping and contract drilling services, we
decided to divest substantially all of our contract drilling rigs, pressure pumping equipment and related ancillary equipment, with a carrying value of $91.8 million.
A significant majority of the assets were divested in the first quarter of 2020 and proceeds from sale of assets related to discontinued operations totaled $42.7
million and $10.7 million for the year ended December 31, 2020 and 2019, respectively. The Company is pursuing opportunities to sell the remainder of these
non-strategic assets. For further discussion of financial results for discontinued operations, see Note 1, "Description of Business - Discontinued Operations" in
the notes to our consolidated financial statements included in this Annual Report on Form 10-K.
Supplemental Non-GAAP Financial Measures - Adjusted EBITDA
Adjusted EBITDA should not be considered in isolation or as a substitute for operating income, net income or loss, cash flows provided by operating,
investing and financing activities, or other income or cash flow statement data prepared in accordance with GAAP. However, the Company believes Adjusted
EBITDA is a useful supplemental financial measure used by management and directors and by external users of its financial statements, such as investors, to
assess:
• The financial performance of its assets without regard to financing methods, capital structure or historical cost basis;
• The ability of its assets to generate cash sufficient to pay interest on its indebtedness; and
• Its operating performance and return on invested capital as compared to those of other companies in the oilfield services industry.
Adjusted EBITDA has limitations as an analytical tool and should not be considered an alternative to net income, operating income, cash flow from
operating activities or any other measure of financial performance or liquidity presented in accordance with GAAP. Adjusted EBITDA excludes some, but not all,
items that affect net income and operating income, and these measures may vary among other companies.
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The following table presents a reconciliation of net loss from continuing operations to Adjusted EBITDA:
Year Ended December 31,
(in thousands)
Net loss from continuing operations
Income tax (benefit) expense
Interest expense, net
Depreciation and amortization
(Gain) loss on disposal of assets
Gain on derivative
Long lived asset impairments
Acquisition related costs
Goodwill impairments
Inventory write-downs
Transaction costs
Significant insurance claim
Significant provision for credit losses
Stock-based compensation
Reactivation costs
Field restructuring costs
Other professional fees
Executive departure

2020
$

$

Adjusted EBITDA

2019
(249,208) $
(3,832)
46,980
52,537
(6,138)
(4,866)
88,697
21,635
19,089
5,281
4,734
3,819
2,889
1,532
1,153
351
345
—
(15,002) $

(91,401)
21
42,378
69,489
2,135
—
—
—
—
5,266
2,153
—
—
8,714
—
—
—
843
39,598

Liquidity and Capital Resources
Historically, our primary capital resources have been our cash and cash equivalents, cash flows from our operations, availability under our revolving
credit facility (the “ABL Facility”), and the ability to enter into finance leases. During 2020, we also generated liquidity through additional secured indebtedness
and proceeds from the sale of non-strategic assets. At December 31, 2020, our sources of liquidity included our cash and cash equivalents of $1.9 million, the
potential sale of non-strategic assets, and potential additional secured indebtedness. We were restricted from borrowing under the ABL Facility at December 31,
2020.
Certain covenants, such as a consolidated fixed charge coverage ratio and cash dominion provisions in the ABL Facility, spring into effect if our
Availability (as defined under the ABL Facility) falls below $9.4 million. To avoid triggering the consolidated fixed charge coverage ratio and cash dominion
covenants during 2020, we advanced $8.1 million, net, of our available cash to the Administrative Agent of the ABL Facility, which increased the Availability
under the ABL Facility. As of March 26, 2021, the amount we had advanced to the Administrative Agent increased to $15.5 million.
The ABL Credit Facility has a covenant whereby the Company would be in default if the report of its independent registered public accounting firm on
the Company’s annual financial statements included a going concern qualification or like exemption. On March 31, 2021, the Company obtained a waiver under
the ABL Credit Facility with respect to any such default arising with respect to the 2020 audited financial statements and also agreed to reduce the maximum
aggregate principal amount of the ABL Credit Facility from $75 million to $60 million. As a result, the Company is in compliance with the covenants under the
ABL Credit Agreement.
The downturn in the energy markets has negatively impacted our liquidity and ability to comply with debt covenants that may be required under the
Senior Notes and the ABL Facility. Based on our operating and commodity price forecasts and capital structure, we believe that if certain financial ratios or
covenants were to come into effect under our debt instruments, we will have difficulty complying with certain of such obligations. Failure to comply with certain
covenants will result in an event of default under the ABL Facility, which will result in a cross-default under the Senior Notes. If an event of default were to occur,
our lenders could accelerate the maturity of our outstanding indebtedness, making it immediately due and payable, and we will not have sufficient liquidity to
repay those amounts without additional sources of debt or equity financings.
We had difficulty paying for our contractual obligations as they became due in 2020, and we continue to have this difficulty in 2021. Due to our current
capital structure, working capital position, and the uncertainty of our future results of operations and operating cash flows, there is substantial doubt as to the
ability of the Company to continue as a going concern. Additional steps that management could implement to alleviate this substantial doubt would include
additional sales of non-strategic assets, obtaining waivers of debt covenant requirements from our
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lenders, restructuring or refinancing our debt agreements, or obtaining equity financing. However, there can be no assurances that the Company will be able to
successfully complete these actions in the current environment.
As market conditions warrant and subject to our contractual restrictions, liquidity position and other factors, we may access the capital markets or seek
to recapitalize, refinance or otherwise restructure our capital structure. We may accomplish this through open market or privately negotiated transactions, which
may include, among other things, repurchases of our common stock or outstanding debt, debt-for-debt or debt-for-equity exchanges, refinancings, private or
public equity or debt raises and rights offerings. Many of these alternatives may require the consent of current lenders, stockholders or noteholders, and there is
no assurance that we will be able to execute any of these alternatives on acceptable terms or at all.
Our ability to make scheduled payments on, or to refinance, our debt obligations will depend on our financial and operating performance, which is
subject to prevailing economic and competitive conditions and certain financial, business and other factors beyond our control. Any refinancing of our debt could
be at higher interest rates and may require us to comply with more onerous covenants, which could further restrict our business and operations. If we continue
to experience operating losses and we are not able to generate additional liquidity, including through our proposed strategic divestitures and other business
operations, then our liquidity needs may exceed availability under our ABL Facility and other facilities that we may enter into in the future, and we might need to
secure additional sources of funds, which may or may not be available to us. If we are unable to secure such additional funds, we may not be able to meet our
future obligations as they become due. If, for any reason, we are unable to meet our debt service and repayment obligations, we would be in default under the
terms of the agreements governing our debt, which would allow our creditors at that time to declare all outstanding indebtedness to be due and payable, which
could in turn trigger cross-acceleration or cross-default rights between the relevant agreements. In addition, our lenders could compel us to apply all of our
available cash to repay our borrowings, or they could prevent us from making payments on the Senior Notes. If amounts outstanding under our ABL Facility or
the Senior Notes were to be accelerated, we cannot be certain that our assets would be sufficient to repay in full the money owed to the lenders or to our other
debt holders.
Cash Flow Summary
The Statement of Cash Flows for the periods presented includes cash flows from continuing and discontinued operations.
Cash Flows from Operating Activities
Net cash used by operating activities was $20.2 million in 2020, compared to net cash provided by operating activities of $20.2 million in 2019. The
$40.4 million decrease was primarily due to lower revenues and operating margins during 2020.
Cash Flows from Investing Activities
Net cash used by investing activities in 2020 totaled $9.8 million compared to $39.3 million during 2019. This change was due to $47.5 million in
decreased capital expenditures and $40.1 million of increased proceeds from the sale of assets in 2020. These changes were partially offset by the $59.4 million
of cash consideration paid at closing in the CJWS acquisition in 2020. The sale of assets related to our discontinued operations generated proceeds of $42.7
million and $10.7 million in 2020 and 2019, respectively.
Cash Flows from Financing Activities
Net cash provided by financing activities was $3.8 million in 2020, compared to net cash used in financing activities of $35.0 million in 2019. This
change was primarily due to proceeds of $15.0 million from the Senior Secured Promissory Note issued in connection with the CJWS Transaction and proceeds
of $15.0 million from the Second Lien Delayed Draw Promissory Note used for working capital purposes.
Cash Requirements
As of December 31, 2020, we had no borrowings under the ABL Facility, $330.0 million of aggregate principal amount of indebtedness, and $17.0
million of finance lease obligations. See Note 4. "Indebtedness and Borrowing Facility" in the notes to our consolidated financial statements included elsewhere
in this Form 10-K for further discussion of our outstanding debt. Our interest payments for our indebtedness are expected to be approximately $34 million in
2021. In 2021, we have planned capital expenditures ranging from $20 to $25 million. On March 31, 2021, the Company negotiated a settlement of the MakeWhole Reimbursement obligation with Ascribe in exchange for issuing additional Senior Notes to Ascribe with an aggregate par value of $47.5 million. See Note
18. “Subsequent Event” in the notes to our consolidated financial statements included elsewhere in this Annual Report on Form 10-K for more information about
the settlement of the Make-Whole Reimbursement.
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Off-Balance Sheet Arrangements
We have no off-balance sheet arrangements that have or are reasonably likely to have a material current or future effect on our financial condition,
changes in financial condition, revenues or expenses, results of operations, liquidity, capital expenditures or capital resources.
Critical Accounting Policies and Estimates
The preparation of financial statements in conformity with United States GAAP requires management to make estimates and assumptions. These
estimates and assumptions affect the amounts reported in our Consolidated Financial Statements and notes. We base our estimates on historical experience,
current trends and various other assumptions that we believe to be reasonable under the circumstances. Actual results may differ from these estimates, and
estimates are subject to change due to modifications in the underlying conditions or assumptions. Below are expanded discussions of our more significant
accounting policies, estimates and judgments, i.e., those that reflect more significant estimates and assumptions used in the preparation of our financial
statements. A complete summary of these policies is included in Note 2. "Summary of Significant Accounting Policies" of the notes to our consolidated financial
statements.
Impairments - We have a variety of long-lived assets on our balance sheet including property, plant and equipment, goodwill, and other intangible
assets. Impairment is the condition that exists when the carrying amount of a long-lived asset exceeds its fair value, and any impairment charge that we record
reduces our operating income. We conduct impairment tests of goodwill annually, as of December 31 each year, or more frequently whenever events or
changes in circumstances indicate an impairment may exist. We conduct impairment tests on long-lived assets, other than goodwill, whenever events or
changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying value may not be recoverable.
When conducting an impairment test on long-lived assets, other than goodwill, we first group individual assets based on the lowest level for which
identifiable cash flows are largely independent of the cash flows from other assets. This requires some judgment. We then compare estimated future
undiscounted cash flows expected to result from the use and eventual disposition of the asset group to its carrying amount. If the undiscounted cash flows are
less than the asset group's carrying amount, we then determine the asset group's fair value by using discounted cash flow analysis. This analysis is based on
estimates such as management's short-term and long-term forecast of operating performance, including revenue growth rates and expected profitability
margins, estimates of the remaining useful life and service potential of the assets within the asset group, terminal value growth rate, and a discount rate, based
on our weighted average cost of capital, used in the discounted cash flow model. An impairment loss is measured and recorded as the amount by which the
asset group's carrying amount exceeds its fair value. As part of goodwill impairment testing, fair value is determined by using a combination of the income
approach and the market approach. The income approach estimates the fair value by using forecasted revenues and operating cash flows, estimating terminal
values and associated growth rates, and discounting them using an estimate of the discount rate, or expected return, that a market participant would have
required as of the valuation date. The market approach involves the selection of the appropriate peer group companies and valuation multiples. See Note 11.
"Impairments and Other Charges" in the consolidated financial statements for further discussion of impairments recorded during the year ended December 31,
2020.
Litigation, Self-Insured Risk Reserves, and Other Contingent Liabilities - Litigation, self-insured risk reserves, and other loss contingencies are uncertain
and unresolved matters that arise in the ordinary course of business and result from events or actions by others that have the potential to result in a future loss.
The preparation of our consolidated financial statements requires us to make estimates and judgments that affect the reported amounts of assets, liabilities,
revenue and expenses and related disclosures as well as disclosures about any contingent assets and liabilities. We estimate our reserves related to litigation,
self-insured risks, and other contingencies based on the facts and circumstances specific to a particular matter and our past experience with similar claims. The
actual outcome of litigation, insured claims, and other contingencies could differ materially from estimated amounts. We are self-insured up to retention limits
with regard to workers’ compensation, general liability claims, and medical and dental coverage of our employees. We have deductibles per occurrence for
workers’ compensation, general liability claims, and medical and dental coverage of $2 million, $1 million, and $0.4 million, respectively. We maintain accruals in
our consolidated balance sheets related to self-insurance retentions based upon our claims history.
Acquisition Purchase Price Allocations - We account for acquisitions of businesses using the acquisition method of accounting in accordance with
Accounting Standards Codification ("ASC") No. 805 "Business Combinations," which requires the allocation of the purchase price consideration based on the
fair values of the assets and liabilities acquired. We estimate the fair values of the assets and liabilities acquired using accepted valuation methods, and, in
many cases, such estimates are based on our judgments as to the future operating cash
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flows expected to be generated from the acquired assets throughout their estimated useful lives. Following the March 9, 2020 acquisition of CJWS, we
accounted for the various assets (including intangible assets) and liabilities acquired and issued as consideration based on our estimates of their fair values.
Goodwill represents the excess of acquisition purchase price consideration over the estimated fair values of the net assets acquired. Our estimates and
judgments of the fair value of acquired businesses could prove to be inexact, and the use of inaccurate fair value estimates could result in the improper
allocation of the acquisition purchase price consideration to acquired assets and liabilities, which could result in asset impairments, the recording of previously
unrecorded liabilities, and other financial statement adjustments. The difficulty in estimating the fair values of acquired assets and liabilities is increased during
periods of economic uncertainty.
Recent Accounting Pronouncements
See Note 2. "Summary of Significant Accounting Policies,” to the Consolidated Financial Statements for a description of the recent accounting
pronouncements.
ITEM 7A. QUANTITATIVE AND QUALITATIVE DISCLOSURES ABOUT MARKET RISK
Not applicable.
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Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm

To the Stockholders and Board of Directors
Basic Energy Services, Inc.:
Opinion on the Consolidated Financial Statements
We have audited the accompanying consolidated balance sheets of Basic Energy Services, Inc. and subsidiaries (the Company) as of December 31, 2020 and
2019, the related consolidated statements of operations, stockholders’ equity (deficit), and cash flows for the years then ended, and the related notes
(collectively, the consolidated financial statements). In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the financial
position of the Company as of December 31, 2020 and 2019, and the results of its operations and its cash flows for the years then ended, in conformity with
U.S. generally accepted accounting principles.
Going Concern
The accompanying consolidated financial statements have been prepared assuming that the Company will continue as a going concern. As discussed in Note 1
to the consolidated financial statements, the recent decline in the customers’ demand for the Company’s services has had a material adverse impact on the
financial condition of the Company, resulting in recurring losses from operations, a net capital deficiency, and liquidity constraints that raise substantial doubt
about its ability to continue as a going concern. Management’s plans in regard to these matters are also described in Note 1. The consolidated financial
statements do not include any adjustments that might result from the outcome of this uncertainty.
Basis for Opinion
These consolidated financial statements are the responsibility of the Company’s management. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these consolidated
financial statements based on our audits. We are a public accounting firm registered with the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States)
(PCAOB) and are required to be independent with respect to the Company in accordance with the U.S. federal securities laws and the applicable rules and
regulations of the Securities and Exchange Commission and the PCAOB.
We conducted our audits in accordance with the standards of the PCAOB. Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable
assurance about whether the consolidated financial statements are free of material misstatement, whether due to error or fraud. The Company is not required to
have, nor were we engaged to perform, an audit of its internal control over financial reporting. As part of our audits, we are required to obtain an understanding
of internal control over financial reporting but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the Company’s internal control over financial
reporting. Accordingly, we express no such opinion.
Our audits included performing procedures to assess the risks of material misstatement of the consolidated financial statements, whether due to error or fraud,
and performing procedures that respond to those risks. Such procedures included examining, on a test basis, evidence regarding the amounts and disclosures
in the consolidated financial statements. Our audits also included evaluating the accounting principles used and significant estimates made by management, as
well as evaluating the overall presentation of the consolidated financial statements. We believe that our audits provide a reasonable basis for our opinion.
Critical Audit Matters
The critical audit matters communicated below are matters arising from the current period audit of the consolidated financial statements that were
communicated or required to be communicated to the audit committee and that: (1) relate to accounts or disclosures that are material to the consolidated
financial statements and (2) involved our especially challenging, subjective, or complex judgments. The communication of critical audit matters does not alter in
any way our opinion on the consolidated financial statements, taken as a whole, and we are not, by communicating the critical audit matters below, providing
separate opinions on the critical audit matters or on the accounts or disclosures to which they relate.
Impairment of Long-Lived Assets
As discussed in Notes 2 and 11 to the consolidated financial statements, the Company evaluates the recoverability of long-lived assets, including property and
equipment whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying amount of a long-lived asset or asset group may not be recoverable. During
March 2020, the Company experienced a significant reduction in demand for their services as a result of multiple significant factors impacting supply and
demand in the global oil and natural gas markets. The Company considered the significant reduction in
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demand for their services as an indicator that certain long-lived tangible assets may be impaired as of March 31, 2020. As a result, the Company performed an
impairment test for certain long-lived assets in the Well Servicing and Completion & Remedial Services segments which included property and equipment
acquired as part of the March 9, 2020 acquisition of C&J Well Servicing, Inc., and determined the estimated fair value for these assets using discounted cash
flows. The Company recorded impairment expenses of property and equipment assets of $84.2 million.
We identified the evaluation of the impairment analysis for long-lived assets in the Well Servicing and Completion & Remedial segments as a critical audit
matter. Testing the forecasted revenues, terminal value growth rates, and the discount rates used in the discounted cash flow model involved a high degree of
subjectivity and complex auditor judgment.
The following are the primary procedures we performed to address this critical audit matter. We evaluated the design of certain internal controls over the
Company’s impairment of long-lived asset process including controls over the forecasted revenues, terminal value growth rates, and the discount rates utilized
in the fair value measurement. We evaluated the reasonableness of the Company’s forecasted revenues for the Well Servicing and Completion & Remedial
segments by comparing them to historical actual results. In addition, we involved valuation professionals with specialized skills and knowledge who assisted in:
•
•

evaluating the reasonableness of the terminal value growth rates by comparing them to economic growth forecasts and industry trends
evaluating the Company’s discount rates by comparing them against discount rates that were independently developed using publicly available third-party
market data for comparable entities.

Goodwill Impairment of the Well Servicing and Water Logistics reporting units
As discussed in Notes 2 and 11 to the consolidated financial statements, the Company acquired C&J Well Services, Inc. on March 9, 2020, which resulted in
the Company recording $19.1 million of goodwill as part of the acquisition, of which $10.6 million and $8.5 million were allocated to the Well Servicing and Water
Logistics reporting units, respectively. Management determined as of March 31, 2020, that given the significant downturn in the economy, the carrying value of
the goodwill established at March 9, 2020, likely exceeded its fair value, and performed impairment testing using a discounted cash flow model. As a result, the
Company recorded impairment of the goodwill in the Well Servicing reporting unit of $10.6 million.
We identified the evaluation of the goodwill impairments of the Well Servicing and Water Logistics reporting units as a critical audit matter. Testing the
forecasted revenues, terminal value growth rate, and discount rates used in the discounted cash flow model involved a high degree of subjectivity and complex
auditor judgment.
The following are the primary procedures we performed to address this critical audit matter. We evaluated the design of certain internal controls over the
Company’s goodwill impairment process including controls over the forecasted revenues, terminal value growth rates, and the discount rates utilized in the fair
value measurement of the Well Servicing and Water Logistics reporting units. We evaluated the reasonableness of the Company’s forecasted revenues for the
Well Servicing and Water Logistics reporting units by comparing them to historical actual results. In addition, we involved valuation professionals with specialized
skills and knowledge who assisted in:
•
•

evaluating the reasonableness of the terminal value growth rates by comparing them to economic growth forecasts and industry trends
evaluating the Company’s discount rates by comparing them against discount rates that were independently developed using publicly available third-party
market data for comparable entities.

We have served as the Company’s auditor since 1992.
KPMG
Dallas, Texas
March 31, 2021
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Basic Energy Services, Inc.
Consolidated Statements of Operations
Year Ended December 31,
(Dollars in thousands, except per share amounts)

2020

Revenues

$

Costs of services, excluding depreciation and amortization
Selling, general and administrative
Depreciation and amortization
Impairment and other charges
Acquisition related costs
Loss (gain) on disposal of assets
Total operating expenses

2019
411,375

$

338,067 0
98,048
52,537
118,152
21,635
(6,138)
622,301

567,250
421,549
115,464
69,489
8,262
—
2,135
616,899

Operating loss

(210,926)

(49,649)

Interest expense, net
Gain on derivative
Other income
Loss from continuing operations before income taxes
Income tax (benefit) expense
Loss from continuing operations
Loss from discontinued operations
Net loss

$

(46,980)
4,866
—
(253,040)
(3,832)
(249,208)
(18,967)
(268,175)

$

(42,378)
—
647
(91,380)
21
(91,401)
(90,497)
(181,898)

$
$
$

(10.00)
(0.76)
(10.76)

$
$
$

(3.50)
(3.46)
(6.96)

Loss from continuing operations per share, basic and diluted
Loss from discontinued operations per share, basic and diluted
Net loss per share, basic and diluted

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements.
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Basic Energy Services, Inc.
Consolidated Balance Sheets
December 31,
(in thousands)
ASSETS
Current assets:
Cash and cash equivalents
Restricted cash
Trade accounts receivable, net
Inventories
Assets held for sale
Prepaid expenses and other current assets
Total current assets
Property and equipment, net
Operating lease right-of-use assets
Intangible assets, net
Other assets, net

2020

$

$

Total assets
LIABILITIES AND STOCKHOLDERS' EQUITY (DEFICIT)
Current liabilities:
Accounts payable
Accrued expenses
Current portion of insurance reserves
Current portion of finance lease liabilities
Current portion of operating lease liabilities
Other current liabilities
Total current liabilities
Long-term debt, net
Insurance reserves
Asset retirement obligations
Operating lease liabilities
Other long-term liabilities
Total liabilities

$

Series A Participating Preferred Stock; $0.01 par value; 5,000,000 authorized and 118,805 and zero
shares outstanding at December 31, 2020 and 2019, respectively
Stockholders' equity (deficit):
Common stock, $0.01 par value: 198,805,000 and 80,000,000 shares authorized, 27,912,059 and
27,912,059 shares issued, and 24,899,932 and 24,904,485 shares outstanding at December 31, 2020
and 2019, respectively
Additional paid-in capital
Retained deficit
Treasury stock, at cost 3,012,127 and 3,007,574 shares at December 31, 2020 and 2019, respectively
Total stockholders' equity (deficit)

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements.
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1,902
8,083
60,351
8,716
4,383
12,010
95,445
210,563
9,614
6,178
27,273
349,073

$

64,944
55,264
22,587
7,520
1,936
8,371
160,622
317,763
19,636
9,697
8,488
13,499
529,705

$

$

22,000

$

Total liabilities and stockholder's equity (deficit)

2019

279
493,767
(691,344)
(5,334)
(202,632)
349,073 $

36,217
—
99,739
20,262
55,149
9,021
220,388
297,113
14,540
2,603
15,830
550,474

60,002
39,230
15,814
18,738
4,906
9,494
148,184
308,365
16,582
9,044
9,634
17,542
509,351

—

279
472,594
(423,169)
(8,581)
41,123
550,474

Basic Energy Services, Inc.
Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows
Year Ended December 31,
(in thousands)
Cash flows from operating activities:
Net loss
Adjustments to reconcile net loss to net cash provided by (used in) operating activities:
Depreciation and amortization
Goodwill and other long-lived asset impairments
Inventory write-downs
Gain on derivative
Accretion of asset retirement obligation
Provision for expected credit losses, net of recoveries
Amortization of debt discounts and debt issuance costs
Stock-based compensation
Loss (gain) on disposal of assets
Deferred income taxes
Changes in operating assets and liabilities, net of acquisitions:
Accounts receivable
Inventories
Prepaid expenses and other assets
Accounts payable
Accrued expenses
Other liabilities
Net cash (used in) provided by operating activities
Cash flows from investing activities:
Capital expenditures
Proceeds from sale of assets
Payments to acquire business, net of cash acquired
Payments for other long-term assets
Net cash used in investing activities
Cash flows from financing activities:
Proceeds from issuance of long-term debt
Repayments of long-term debt
Repurchases of common stock
Payments of debt issuance costs
Other financing activities
Net cash provided by (used in) financing activities
Net decrease in cash, cash equivalents, and restricted cash
Cash and cash equivalents; beginning of period
Cash, cash equivalents and restricted cash; end of period
Supplemental cash flow information and non-cash investing and financing activities:
Interest paid
Income taxes paid, net of refunds
Operating lease liabilities incurred from obtaining right-of-use assets
Finance lease liabilities incurred from obtaining right-of-use assets
Capital expenditures included in accounts payable
Issuance of Series A Participating Preferred Stock
Recognition of derivative liability
Other non-cash change in asset retirement obligations

2020
$

$

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements.
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2019
(268,175) $

(181,898)

52,537
112,164
5,281
(4,866)
1,924
10,268
8,845
1,532
(3,503)
(119)

114,657
35,801
10,607
—
1,051
4,686
3,392
8,714
4,013
—

67,750
6,921
(1,415)
(4,806)
3,734
(8,301)
(20,229)

40,455
6,529
7,483
(36,371)
11
1,057
20,187

(7,825)
57,384
(59,350)
—
(9,791)

(55,353)
17,297
—
(1,260)
(39,316)

53,000
(46,952)
(15)
(720)
(1,525)
3,788
(26,232)
36,217
9,985 $

—
(29,364)
(5,121)
(469)
—
(34,954)
(54,083)
90,300
36,217

37,322 $
—
5,661
1,553
(620)
22,000
9,713
(9)

39,248
(1,872)
14,541
7,941
(2,806)
—
—
7,362

Basic Energy Services, Inc.
Consolidated Statements of Stockholders’ Equity (Deficit)

(in thousands)

Balance at December 31, 2018
Issuances of restricted stock
Amortization of stock-based compensation
Purchase of treasury stock
Net loss
Balance at December 31, 2019
Amortization of stock-based compensation
Vesting of stock awards
Acquisition related capital contribution
Net loss
Balance at December 31, 2020

Common Stock
Shares
Amount
26,990 $
270
922
9
—
—
—
—
—
—
27,912 $
279
—
—
—
—
—
—
—
—
27,912 $
279

Additional
Paid-In Capital
$
464,264
(9)
8,714
(375)
—
$
472,594
1,532
(3,263)
22,904
—
$
493,767

Treasury
Retained
Total Stockholder's
Shares
Amount
Deficit
Equity (Deficit)
242 $
(3,835) $
(241,271) $
219,428
73
(331)
—
(331)
—
—
—
8,714
2,692
(4,415)
—
(4,790)
—
—
(181,898)
(181,898)
3,007 $
(8,581) $
(423,169) $
41,123
—
—
—
1,532
5
3,247
—
(16)
—
—
—
22,904
—
—
(268,175)
(268,175)
3,012 $
(5,334) $
(691,344) $
(202,632)

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements.
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BASIC ENERGY SERVICES, INC.
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
December 31, 2020 and 2019
1. Description of Business
Basic Energy Services, Inc. (“Basic” or the “Company”) provides a wide range of wellsite services to oil and natural gas drilling and producing
companies, including well servicing, water logistics and completion and remedial services. The Company’s operations are concentrated in major United States
onshore oil and natural gas producing regions located in Texas, California, New Mexico, Oklahoma, Arkansas, Louisiana, Wyoming, North Dakota and
Colorado.
The Company’s reportable business segments are Well Servicing, Water Logistics, and Completion & Remedial Services. These segments are based
on management’s resource allocation and performance assessment in making decisions regarding the Company. These reportable segments are described
below:
Well Servicing: This segment encompasses a full range of services performed with a mobile well servicing rig, including the installation and removal of
downhole equipment and elimination of obstructions in the well bore to facilitate the flow of oil and natural gas. These services are performed to establish,
maintain and improve production throughout the productive life of an oil and natural gas well and to plug and abandon a well at the end of its productive life. The
Company’s well servicing equipment and capabilities also facilitate most other services performed on a well. This segment also includes the manufacture and
servicing of mobile well servicing rigs.
Water Logistics: This segment utilizes a fleet of trucks and related assets, including specialized tank trucks, storage tanks, water wells, disposal
facilities, water treatment and related equipment. The Company employs these assets to provide, transport, store and dispose of a variety of fluids. These
services are required in most workover, completion and remedial projects as well as part of daily producing well operations. Also included in this segment are
the Company's construction services, which provide services for the construction and maintenance of oil and natural gas production infrastructures.
Completion & Remedial Services: This segment utilizes coiled tubing services, air compressor packages specially configured for underbalanced drilling
operations, an array of specialized rental equipment and fishing tools and thru-tubing units.
Current Environment, Liquidity and Going Concern
Demand for services offered by our industry is a function of our customers’ willingness and ability to make operating and capital expenditures to explore
for, develop and produce hydrocarbons in the United States. Our customers’ expenditures are affected by both current and expected levels of commodity prices.
Industry conditions during 2020 were greatly influenced by factors that impacted supply and demand in the global oil and natural gas markets, including
a global outbreak of the novel coronavirus ("COVID-19") and the announced price reductions and possible production increases by members of Organization of
the Petroleum Exporting Countries (“OPEC”) and other oil exporting nations. As a result, the posted price for West Texas Intermediate oil ("WTI") declined
sharply during early 2020 from 2019.
This decline in oil and natural gas prices, and the consequent impact on industry exploration and production activity, has adversely impacted the level
of drilling and workover activity by our customers. As a result of these weak energy sector conditions and lower demand for our products and services, customer
contract pricing, our operating results, our working capital and our operating cash flows have been negatively impacted during 2020. During the last half of 2020,
we had difficulty paying for our contractual obligations as they came due, and we continue to have this difficulty in 2021. Management has taken several steps
to generate additional liquidity, including reducing operating and administrative costs, employee headcount reductions, closing operating locations,
implementing employee furloughs, other cost reduction measures, and the suspension of growth capital expenditures.
While market prices for oil and natural gas have improved in early 2021, the overall trends in our business have not yet recovered. We expect that
demand for our services will increase as a result of these higher oil and natural gas prices; however, we are unable to predict when this increased demand and
the resulting improvement in our results of operations will occur.
Our liquidity and ability to comply with debt covenants that may be required under the 10.75% Senior Secured Notes due 2023 (the "Senior Notes") and
the revolving credit facility (the "ABL Facility") have been negatively impacted by the downturn in the energy markets, volatility in commodity prices and their
effects on our customers and us, as well as general macroeconomic conditions.
Based on our current operating and commodity price forecasts and capital structure, we believe that if
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certain financial ratios or cash dominion covenants were to come into effect under our debt instruments, we will have difficulty complying with certain of such
obligations. Certain covenants, such as consolidated fixed charge coverage ratio and cash dominion provisions in the ABL Facility spring into effect under
certain triggers defined in the ABL Credit Agreement, as amended, for so long as such applicable trigger period is in effect. Additionally, certain triggers in the
ABL Facility increase certain financial and borrowing base reporting requirements for so long as such applicable trigger period is in effect. Failure to comply, for
example, with a “springing” consolidated fixed charge coverage ratio requirement under the ABL Facility would result in an event of default under the ABL
Facility, which would result in a cross-default under the Senior Notes. If an event of default were to occur, our lenders could, in addition to other remedies such
as charging default interest, accelerate the maturity of the outstanding indebtedness, making it immediately due and payable, and we may not have sufficient
liquidity to repay those amounts.
To avoid triggering these consolidated fixed charge coverage ratios and cash dominion covenants as of June 30, 2020, in early July 2020 we repaid the
$2.6 million amount of borrowings that was previously outstanding under our ABL Facility, and during the third and fourth quarter of 2020, we advanced
$8.1 million, net, of our available cash balance to the Administrative Agent. Also beginning during the third quarter of 2020, we are currently subject to the
increased financial and borrowing base information reporting. As of March 26, 2021, the amount of cumulative net advances of our available cash balance to the
Administrative Agent has been increased to $15.5 million. As of December 31, 2020, we had no borrowings under the ABL Facility and approximately
$325.3 million of total other indebtedness, net of discount and deferred financing costs, including $ 300 million of aggregate principal amount due under the
Senior Notes, a $15.0 million Senior Secured Promissory Note, a $ 15.0 million Second Lien Delayed Draw Promissory Note, and finance lease obligations in
the aggregate amount of $17.0 million. Additionally, on March 31, 2021, the Company negotiated a settlement of a significant contractual obligation with Ascribe
III Investments LLC ("Ascribe") in exchange for issuing additional Senior Notes to Ascribe with an aggregate par value of $47.5 million. See Note 18.
“Subsequent Event” for more information about the settlement of this obligation.
We continue to have difficulty paying for our contractual obligations as they come due. Management has taken several steps to generate additional
liquidity, including reducing operating and administrative costs, employee headcount reductions, closing operating locations, implementing employee furloughs,
other cost reduction measures, and the suspension of growth capital expenditures. The recent decline in the customers’ demand for our services has had a
material adverse impact on the financial condition of the Company, resulting in recurring losses from operations, a net capital deficiency, and liquidity
constraints that raise substantial doubt about its ability to continue as a going concern. Among the other steps that our management may or is implementing to
attempt to alleviate this substantial doubt include additional sales of non-strategic assets, obtaining waivers of debt covenant requirements from our lenders,
restructuring or refinancing our debt agreements, or obtaining equity financing. In addition, we had a significant contractual obligation to pay cash or issue
additional 10.75% Senior Secured Notes due 2023 to our largest shareholder, Ascribe, resulting from our acquisition of CJWS. On March 31, 2021, the
Company negotiated a settlement of this obligation with Ascribe in exchange for issuing additional Senior Notes to Ascribe with an aggregate par value of
$47.5 million. See Note 18. “Subsequent Event” for more information about the settlement of this obligation.
Management has prepared these consolidated financial statements in accordance with U.S. generally accepted accounting principles applicable to a
going concern, which contemplates that assets will be realized and liabilities will be discharged in the normal course of business as they become due. These
consolidated financial statements do not reflect the adjustments to the carrying values of assets and liabilities and the reported revenues and expenses and
balance sheet classifications that would be necessary if the Company was unable to realize its assets and settle its liabilities as a going concern in the normal
course of operations. Such adjustments could be material and adverse to the financial results of the Company.
We are engaged in ongoing discussions regarding our liquidity and financial situation with representatives of the lenders under the ABL Credit Facility,
and have received from the lenders under the ABL Credit Facility a waiver of the default that otherwise would have arisen under the ABL Credit Facility as a
result of the “going concern” disclosures described above. We also are evaluating certain strategic alternatives including financings, refinancings, amendments,
waivers, forbearances, asset sales, debt issuances, exchanges and purchases, a combination of the foregoing, or other out-of-court or in-court bankruptcy
restructurings of our debt to address these matters, which may include discussions with holders of the Company’s 10.75% Senior Secured Notes due 2023 for a
comprehensive de-leveraging transaction.
If the Company is unable to effectuate a successful debt restructuring, the Company expects that it will continue to experience adverse pressures on its
relationships with counterparties who are critical to its business, its ability to access the capital markets, its ability to execute on its operational and strategic
goals and its business,
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prospects, results of operations and liquidity generally. There can be no assurance as to when or whether the Company will implement any action as a result of
these strategic initiatives, whether the implementation of one or more such actions will be successful, whether the Company will be able to effect a refinancing
of its Senior Notes or otherwise access the capital markets, or the effects the failure to take action may have on the Company’s business, its ability to achieve
its operational and strategic goals or its ability to finance its business or refinance its indebtedness. A failure to address the Company’s level of corporate
leverage in the near-term will have a material adverse effect on the Company’s business, prospects, results of operations, liquidity and financial condition, and
its ability to service or refinance its corporate debt as it becomes due.
Concentrations of Risk
The Company’s customer base consists primarily of multi-national and independent oil and natural gas producers. The Company performs ongoing
credit evaluations of its customers but generally does not require collateral on its trade receivables. The Company maintains an allowance for potential credit
losses for its trade receivables. For the year ended December 31, 2020, one customer represented 22% of consolidated revenue. Financial instruments, which
potentially subject the Company to concentration of credit risk, consist primarily of temporary cash investments and trade receivables. The Company restricts
investment of temporary cash investments to financial institutions with high credit standing.
Acquisition of C&J Well Services, Inc.
On March 9, 2020, the Company entered into a Purchase Agreement (the “Purchase Agreement”) with Ascribe, NexTier Holding Co., a Delaware
corporation (“Seller”) and C&J Well Services, Inc., a Delaware corporation, and wholly owned subsidiary of Seller (“CJWS”), whereby the Company acquired all
of the issued and outstanding shares of capital stock of CJWS, such that CJWS became a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company. CJWS is the third largest
rig servicing provider in the U.S., with a leading footprint in California and a strong customer base. Following the acquisition of CJWS, the Company has
expanded its footprint in the Permian, California and other key oil basins.
Pursuant to the Purchase Agreement, among other things, (i) Seller transferred and delivered to the Company and the Company purchased and
acquired from Seller, all of the issued and outstanding shares of capital stock of CJWS held by Seller (the "Stock Purchase"); (ii) as a portion of the
consideration for the Stock Purchase, Ascribe, on behalf of the Company, conveyed to Seller certain 10.75% Senior Secured Notes due October 2023 (the
"Senior Notes") issued by the Company to Ascribe in an aggregate par value amount equal to $ 34.4 million (the "Ascribe Senior Notes"); and (iii) Ascribe
entered into an Exchange Agreement, dated March 9, 2020, with the Company (the "Exchange Agreement") pursuant to which, among other things, Ascribe
exchanged the Ascribe Senior Notes for (a) 118,805 shares of newly issued preferred stock, designated as "Series A Participating Preferred Stock," par value
$0.01 per share, of the Company (the "Series A Preferred Stock") and (b) an amount in cash for accrued interest on the Ascribe Senior Notes approximately
equal to $1.5 million (the "Exchange Transaction" and, together with the Stock Purchase and the other transactions contemplated by the Purchase Agreement,
the "CJWS Transaction"). For further discussion of the Series A Preferred Stock, see Note 6. "Series A Participating Preferred Stock."
Pursuant to the Purchase Agreement, Seller received consideration in the aggregate amount of $ 95.7 million comprised of (a) cash consideration paid
at closing equal to $59.4 million (which was subject to post-closing working capital adjustments) and (b) the Ascribe Senior Notes transferred to Seller by Ascribe
(on behalf of the Company) as described above. In connection with the CJWS Transaction, pursuant to the Purchase Agreement, Ascribe has certain
contingent obligations to the Seller to make Seller whole on the par value of the Ascribe Senior Notes as of the earlier of the first anniversary of the closing of
the Stock Purchase, a bankruptcy of the Company, or a change of control of the Company (the "Make-Whole Payment"). Considering this contingent MakeWhole Payment by Ascribe to the Seller, the fair value of the Ascribe Senior Notes issued to the Seller on March 9, 2020, was $ 36.3 million. If Ascribe is
required to pay the Make-Whole Payment to Seller pursuant to the Purchase Agreement, the Company will be required to reimburse to Ascribe the amount of
such Make-Whole Payment (such amount, the "Make-Whole Reimbursement Amount") either (i) in cash (a) to the extent the Company has available cash (as
determined by an independent committee of the Company's board of directors) and (b) subject to satisfaction of certain "Payment Conditions" set forth in the
ABL Credit Agreement (as defined below) or (ii) if the Company is unable to pay the full Make-Whole Reimbursement Amount in cash pursuant to clause "(i)" of
this paragraph, in additional Senior Notes as permitted under the Indenture. In consideration of providing the Make-Whole Payment to Seller, the Company paid
Ascribe $1.0 million in cash at the closing of the CJWS Transaction. The Company's obligation to Ascribe associated with the Make-Whole Reimbursement
Amount is reflected as a derivative instrument in accordance with Accounting Standards Codification ("ASC") No. 815 "Derivatives and Hedging" ("ASC 815")
with an initial fair value of approximately $9.7 million based on a risk-adjusted market
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differential between the fair value of the Ascribe Senior Notes and their $ 34.4 million par value as of the March 9, 2020, closing date. Changes in fair value of
the Make-Whole Reimbursement Amount each period are "marked to market" and charged or credited to Gain (Loss) on Derivative in the accompanying
consolidated statements of operations. The fair value of the Make-Whole Reimbursement Amount liability as of December 31, 2020, is approximately
$4.8 million and results in $4.9 million of derivative gain during the year ended December 31, 2020. The Make-Whole Reimbursement Amount liability is
classified within Other Current Liabilities in the accompanying balance sheet. On March 31, 2021, the Company negotiated a settlement of the Make-Whole
Reimbursement obligation with Ascribe in exchange for issuing additional Senior Notes to Ascribe with an aggregate par value of $ 47.5 million. See Note 18.
“Subsequent Event” for more information about the settlement of this obligation.
Of the cash consideration paid to the Seller, $ 15.0 million was funded from a Senior Secured Promissory Note to Ascribe. For a further discussion of
the Exchange Agreement and the Senior Secured Promissory Note, see Note 4. "Indebtedness and Borrowing Facility."
The CJWS Transaction was considered an acquisition of a business and the Company applied the acquisition method of accounting. The impact of
adjustments to the allocation of the purchase price recorded during the year was not material. The Company's allocation of the purchase price, including
working capital adjustments, to the estimated fair value of the CJWS net assets is as follows:
(in thousands)
Current assets
Property and equipment
Operating lease right-of-use-assets
Intangible assets
Other assets
Goodwill
Total assets acquired

March 9, 2020
$

Current liabilities
Long-term liabilities
Total liabilities assumed
$

Net assets acquired

41,997
63,418
734
4,000
1,859
19,089
131,097
24,893
12,051
36,944
94,153

The allocation of purchase price includes approximately $ 19.1 million allocated to nondeductible goodwill recorded to our Well Servicing and Water
Logistics segments based on relative fair values of these acquired lines of business. The acquired property and equipment is stated at fair value, and
depreciation on the acquired property and equipment is computed using the straight-line method over the estimated useful lives of each asset. The acquired
intangible assets represent approximately $4.0 million for the CJWS trade name that is stated at its estimated fair value and is amortized on a straight-line basis
over an estimated useful life of 15 years.
In 2020, our revenues and pretax earnings included $ 157.5 million and $16.5 million (excluding the impact of asset impairments of $ 36.1 million),
respectively, associated with the CJWS acquired operations after the closing on March 9, 2020. In addition, CJWS Transaction-related costs of approximately
$9.0 million were incurred in 2020, consisting of external legal and consulting fees and due diligence costs. These CJWS Transaction related costs, along with
other costs associated with the CJWS acquisition, including severance costs paid to CJWS employees pursuant to the Purchase Agreement, have been
recognized in Acquisition Related Costs in the consolidated statements of operations.
Unaudited Pro Forma Information - The unaudited pro forma information presented below has been prepared to give effect to the CJWS Transaction as
if it had occurred at the beginning of the periods presented. The unaudited pro forma information includes the impact from the allocation of the acquisition
purchase price on depreciation and amortization and the impact on interest expense associated with acquisition financing. It also excludes the impact of the
CJWS Transaction acquisition costs charged to earnings during the 2020 period. The unaudited pro forma information is presented for illustration purposes only
and is based on estimates and assumptions the Company deemed appropriate. The following unaudited pro forma information is not necessarily indicative of
the results that would have been achieved if the CJWS Transaction had occurred in the past, and should not be relied upon as an indication of the operating
results that the Company would have achieved if the transaction had occurred at the beginning of the periods presented, and our operating results, or the future
results
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that we will achieve, may be different from those reflected in the unaudited pro forma information below.
Year Ended December 31,
(in thousands, except per share information)
Revenues
Loss from continuing operations
Loss from continuing operations per share, basic and diluted
Weighted average shares outstanding, basic and diluted

2020
$

2019
469,180 $
(234,260)
(9.40) $
24,925

$

953,359
(103,749)
(3.97)
26,141

Discontinued Operations
During the third and fourth quarters of 2019, based on the Company's evaluation of the demand for pressure pumping and contract drilling services, the
Company's management decided to divest all of its contract drilling rigs, and a majority of pressure pumping equipment and related ancillary equipment, having
a combined net book value of $91.8 million. As a result of this strategic shift, the Company recorded a non-cash impairment charge of $32.6 million in 2019 to
write down the value of the assets. The majority of the real estate and equipment was sold during late 2019 and the first half of 2020, with the remaining
pumping and related assets, which are primarily real estate, classified as Other Current Assets or Other Assets on our Consolidated Balance Sheet. The
Company is pursuing opportunities to sell the remainder of these non-strategic assets. The Company recorded an impairment on these remaining assets of
$2.3 million at March 31, 2020 and an additional $ 2.0 million as of December 31, 2020. The Company recorded an impairment of $ 3.2 million in 2019 on
contract drilling assets that were subsequently divested through auctions.
Assets and liabilities related to the discontinued operations are included in the Consolidated Balance Sheet as of December 31, 2020 and 2019 and are
detailed in the table below:
Year Ended December 31,
(in thousands)
Assets held for sale
Inventories
Operating lease right-of-use assets
Property and equipment, net

2020
$

2019

Total assets held for sale
Other long term assets
Real estate held for sale
Liabilities related to assets held for sale
Operating lease liabilities
Finance lease liabilities

$

—
—
1,523
1,523

$

4,802

Total liabilities related to assets held for sale

$

508
—
508

$

$

2,069
1,659
50,496
54,224

$

—

$

1,659
3,589
5,248

The operating results of the divested pressure pumping operations and contract drilling operations, which were historically included in the Completions
& Remedial Services and Other Services segments, respectively, have been reclassified as discontinued operations in the Consolidated Statement of
Operations for the years ended December 31, 2020, and 2019, as detailed in the table below:
Year Ended December 31,
(in thousands)
Revenues

2020

2019

$

120

$

142,885

$

5,305
6,705
—
4,378
2,635
19,023
(18,903)
(64)
(18,967)

$

134,778
15,174
45,168
35,801
1,878
232,799
(89,914)
(583)
(90,497)

Loss from discontinued operations
Loss from discontinued operations per share, basic and diluted

$

(0.76)

$

(3.46)

Cost of services
Selling, general and administrative
Depreciation and amortization
Asset impairments
Loss on disposal of assets
Total operating expenses
Operating loss
Interest expense

Interest expense in discontinued operations is related to interest expense on finance lease assets that
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operated in the discontinued Completions & Remedial Services and Other Services segments. Impairment expense was recorded during the three month
periods ended March 31, 2020 and December 31, 2020, associated with certain assets with carrying values that were in excess of their current estimated
selling price. Selling, general and administrative expense during 2020 consisted primarily of bad debt expense recorded on customer receivables from
discontinued operations.
Applicable Consolidated Statements of Cash Flow information related to the discontinued operations for the years ended December 31, 2020 and 2019
are detailed in the table below:
Year Ended December 31,
(in thousands)
Cash Flows from Discontinued Operations
Net cash provided by (used in) operating activities
Net cash provided by investing activities

2020
$
$

2019
(11,953) $
42,713 $

2,120
133

Capital expenditures and finance lease additions related to discontinued operations were $ 10.6 million and $ 1.5 million, respectively, for the year ended
December 31, 2019. The Company did not have any capital expenditures or lease additions related to discontinued operations for the year ended December
31, 2020. Proceeds from sale of assets related to discontinued operations totaled $42.7 million and $ 10.7 million for the years ended December 31, 2020 and
2019, respectively.
Related Parties
In connection with the CJWS Transaction and pursuant to the Exchange Agreement, as partial consideration for the Exchange Transaction, on March 9,
2020, the Company issued to Ascribe 118,805 shares of the Series A Preferred Stock. The Series A Preferred Stock constituted 83% of the equity interest in the
Company. Upon consummation of the Exchange Transaction, the Company's public stockholders owned approximately 14.94% of the equity interests in the
Company, and Ascribe held approximately 85.06%. For further discussion of the Series A Preferred Stock, see Note 6. "Series A Participating Preferred Stock."
For further discussion of other transactions with Ascribe, including amounts outstanding pursuant to the Senior Secured Promissory Note, the Second Lien
Delayed Draw Promissory Note, and the Make-Whole Reimbursement Amount, see Note 4. "Indebtedness and Borrowing Facility."
2. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies
Principles of Consolidation
The accompanying consolidated financial statements include the accounts of the Company's subsidiaries, for which the Company holds a majority
voting interest. All intercompany transactions and balances have been eliminated. There were no items of other comprehensive income during the periods
presented.
Use of Estimates
Preparation of the accompanying consolidated financial statements in conformity with GAAP requires management to make estimates and assumptions
that affect the reported amount of assets and liabilities and disclosures of contingent liabilities at the date of the consolidated financial statements and the
reported amounts of revenues and expenses during the reporting period. Management uses historical and other pertinent information to determine these
estimates. Actual results could differ materially from those estimates. Areas where critical accounting estimates are made by management include impairments
of long-lived assets, certain financial instruments, acquisition purchase price allocation, litigation and self-insurance liabilities.
Restricted Cash
The Company’s restricted cash at December 31, 2020 consists of net advances made to the Administrative Agent under our ABL Credit Facility. See
Note 4. "Indebtedness and Borrowing Facility," for further discussion of the ABL Credit Facility. The Company’s restricted cash is included in current assets as of
December 31, 2020. The following table provides a reconciliation of cash, cash equivalents and restricted cash:
December 31,
(in thousands)
Cash and cash equivalents
Restricted cash

2020
$

Total cash, cash equivalents and restricted cash

$

Accounts Receivable and Allowance for Credit Losses
The Company estimates its allowance for credit losses on accounts receivable based on past collections
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2019
1,902
8,083
9,985

$
$

36,217
—
36,217

and expectations for future collections. The Company regularly reviews accounts for collectability. After all collection efforts are exhausted, if the balance is still
determined to be uncollectable, the balance is written off. Expense related to the write off of uncollected accounts is recorded in selling, general and
administrative expense. For accounts receivable related to products and services, the Company estimates its expected credit losses by reviewing and
monitoring updated customer credit scores and risk ratings provided by third party and internal resources, considering the future impact of the current business
and industry environment, and reviewing the historical loss experience by type of customer.
Inventories
For rental and fishing tools, inventories consisting mainly of grapples, controls and drill bits are stated at lower of cost or net realizable value. Other
inventories, consisting mainly of manufacturing raw materials, rig components, repair parts, drilling and completion materials and gravel, are held for use in the
operations of the Company and are stated at lower of cost or net realizable value, with cost being determined on the first-in, first-out method.
Assets Held for Sale
Assets are classified as held for sale when, among other factors, they are identified and marketed for sale in their present condition, management is
committed to their disposal, and the sale of the asset is probable within one year. During 2020, the Company classified to assets held for sale $3.9 million of
certain rig construction assets, associated with our Taylor manufacturing facility, the majority of which were sold, or are expected to be sold, by mid-2021. Also
included in assets classified as held for sale are certain real property and equipment assets of our pressure pumping operations and contract drilling operations
that were classified as discontinued operations beginning in late 2019. At December 31, 2020, we reclassified $ 4.4 million of real property assets from assets
held for sale to other non-current assets on the consolidated balance sheet because we no longer considered the sale of these assets as being probable in the
next year.
Property and Equipment
Property and equipment are stated at cost or at estimated fair value at acquisition date if acquired in a business combination. Expenditures for repairs
and maintenance are charged to expense as incurred and additions and improvements that significantly extend the lives of the assets are capitalized. Upon the
sale or other retirement of depreciable property, the cost and accumulated depreciation and amortization are removed from the related accounts and any gain or
loss is reflected in operations. All property and equipment are depreciated or amortized (to the extent of estimated salvage values) on the straight-line method.
The Company is obligated under various finance leases for certain vehicles and equipment that expire at various dates during the next five years.
Leases
The Company determines if an arrangement is a lease at inception of the arrangement. To the extent that we determine an arrangement represents a
lease, we classify that lease as an operating lease or a finance lease. We capitalize operating and finance leases on our consolidated balance sheets through a
right-of-use (“ROU”) asset and a corresponding lease liability. ROU assets represent our right to use an underlying asset for the lease term, and lease liabilities
represent our obligation to make lease payments arising from the lease.
Operating and finance lease ROU assets and liabilities are recognized at the commencement date of the lease based on the present value of lease
payments over the lease term. Lease expense for operating leases is recognized on a straight-line basis over the lease term.
Goodwill and Intangible Assets
We record as goodwill the excess purchase price over the fair value of the tangible and identifiable intangible assets acquired in a business acquisition.
In connection with the March 9, 2020 acquisition of CJWS, the Company recorded goodwill of $19.1 million, which was initially allocated to its Well Servicing
and Water Logistics reporting units based on their respective fair values. The amount of recorded goodwill was fully impaired during 2020. For further discussion
of impairment of goodwill see Note 11. "Impairments and Other Charges." Activity during the period ended December 31, 2020, associated with goodwill by
reporting units is as follows:
(in thousands)
Balance as of December 31, 2019
Additions to goodwill
Goodwill impairment
Balance as of December 31, 2020

Well Servicing
$

$

—
10,565
(10,565)
—
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Water Logistics
$

$

—
8,524
(8,524)
—

Completion & Remedial
$
—
—
—
$
—

Total
$

$

—
19,089
(19,089)
—

The Company had trade name intangible assets of $ 7.2 million and $3.2 million as of December 31, 2020, and 2019, respectively. In connection with the
CJWS Transaction, the Company recorded intangible assets for CJWS trade name and goodwill. Developed technology are amortized over a 5-year life. Trade
names are amortized over a 15-year life. The Company evaluates intangible assets for impairment with our long-lived asset groups.
Long-Lived Asset Impairments
We perform a review of our long-lived asset groups for impairment when, in management’s judgment, events or changes in circumstances indicate that
the carrying amount of a long-lived asset may not be recovered over its remaining service life. Impairment is indicated when the sum of the estimated future
cash flows, on an undiscounted basis, is less than the asset group's carrying amount. If the undiscounted cash flows are less than the asset group's carrying
amount, we then determine the asset group's fair value by using discounted cash flow analysis. An impairment loss is measured and recorded as the amount by
which the asset group's carrying amount exceeds its fair value.
Self-Insurance Liabilities
The Company is self-insured up to retention limits as it relates to workers’ compensation, general liability claims, and medical and dental coverage of its
employees. The Company estimates its reserves related to litigation and self-insured risks based on the facts and circumstances specific to the litigation and
self-insured claims and its past experience with similar claims. The Company records liabilities in the consolidated balance sheets to cover self-insurance
retentions. As of December 31, 2020 and 2019, the Company had recorded $ 22.6 million and $15.8 million, respectively, for the current portion of estimated
workers' compensation, automobile liability, and general liability self-insured claims. The outcome of any claim could differ materially from estimated amounts.
Asset Retirement Obligations
The Company has asset retirement obligations ("ARO") related to our saltwater disposal facilities, brine and freshwater wells. The Company records a
liability for the fair value of ARO that we can reasonably estimate, on a discounted basis, in the period in which the asset is acquired. The fair value of the
liability is calculated using discounted cash flow techniques and based on internal estimates and assumptions related to future retirement costs, expected
remaining lives of the assets, future inflation rates and credit adjusted risk-free interest rates. Significant increases or decreases in these assumptions could
result in a significant change to the fair value measurement. The Company capitalizes an equal amount as a cost of the asset and depreciates it over the useful
life of the asset. Subsequently, the obligation is adjusted at the end of each period to reflect the passage of time, any changes in the estimated future cash
flows underlying the obligation, and settlements of obligations.
Environmental Contingencies
The Company is subject to extensive federal, state and local environmental laws and regulations. These laws, which are constantly changing, regulate
the discharge of materials into the environment and may require the Company to remove or mitigate the adverse environmental effects of disposal or release of
petroleum, chemical and other substances at various sites. Environmental expenditures are expensed or capitalized depending on the future economic benefit.
Expenditures that relate to an existing condition caused by past operations and that have no future economic benefits are expensed. Liabilities for expenditures
of a non-capital nature are recorded when environmental assessment and/or remediation is probable and the costs can be reasonably estimated. The Company
had no environmental contingent liabilities recorded during the periods presented.
Revenue Recognition
The Company recognizes revenue to match the delivery of goods or services to customers. Our revenues are generated by services, which are
consumed as provided by our customers on their sites. Contracts for our services are negotiated on a regional level and are on a per job basis, with jobs being
completed in a short period of time, usually one day or up to a week. Revenue is recognized as performance obligations have been completed on a daily basis
either as Accounts Receivable or Work-in-Process ("WIP"), when all of the proper approvals are obtained. A small percentage of our jobs may require
performance obligations which extend over a longer period of time and are not invoiced until all performances obligations in the contract are complete, such as
plugging a well, fishing services, and pad site preparation jobs. Because these jobs are performed on the customer's job site, and we are contractually entitled to
bill for our services performed to date, revenues for these service lines are recognized on a daily basis as services are performed and recorded as Contract
Assets rather than WIP or Accounts Receivable. Contract Assets are typically invoiced within 30 to 60 days of recognizing revenue. The Company does not
have any long-term service contracts; nor do we have revenue expected to be recognized in any future year related to remaining performance obligations or
contracts with variable consideration related to
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undelivered performance obligations.
Stock-Based Compensation
The Company has historically compensated our directors, executives and employees using a combination of performance and time-based stock option,
restricted share, and restricted share unit awards. The Company values awards at the date of the grant and recognizes expense over the vesting period of the
grant. The method of determining the fair value of share-based payments depends on the type of award. Share-based awards that vest over a certain service
period with no market conditions are valued at the closing market price on the grant date. Share-based awards that are dependent upon certain market
performance conditions being met are valued using a Monte Carlo simulation with inputs determined on the date of the grant. Option grants are valued using
the Black-Scholes-Merton model using inputs that are determined on the date of the grant.
Income Taxes
The provision for income taxes is determined using the asset and liability method of accounting. Deferred tax assets and liabilities are recorded based
upon differences between the tax basis of assets and liabilities and their carrying values for financial reporting purposes, and are measured using the enacted
tax rates and laws that will be in effect when the differences are expected to reverse. We record deferred tax assets net of a valuation allowance to the extent
we believe these assets will more likely than not be realized. In making such determination, we consider all available positive and negative evidence, including
future reversals of existing taxable temporary differences, projected future taxable income, tax planning strategies and recent financial operations. In the event
we determine that we would be able to realize more of our deferred income tax assets in the future, we would make an adjustment to reduce the valuation
allowance which would reduce our income tax expense.
Fair Value Measurements
Fair value is the price that would be received to sell an asset or the amount paid to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction between market
participants at the measurement date. There is a fair value hierarchy that prioritizes the inputs used to measure fair value. The hierarchy gives the highest
priority to quoted prices in active markets for identical assets or liabilities (Level 1 measurement) and the lowest priority to unobservable inputs (Level 3
measurement). The Company classifies fair value balances based on the observability of those inputs. The three levels of the fair value hierarchy are as follows:
Level 1 — Quoted prices in active markets for identical assets or liabilities that the Company has the ability to access. Active markets are those in
which transactions for the asset or liability occur in sufficient frequency and volume to provide pricing information on an ongoing basis.
Level 2 — Inputs are other than quoted prices in active markets included in Level 1, which are either directly or indirectly observable. These inputs are
either directly observable in the marketplace or indirectly observable through corroboration with market data for substantially the full contractual term of the
asset or liability being measured.
Level 3 — Inputs reflect management’s best estimate of what market participants would use in pricing the asset or liability at the measurement date.
Consideration is given to the risk inherent in the valuation technique and the risk inherent in the inputs to the model.
For further discussion of fair value measurements utilized in the presentation of these consolidated financial statements, see Note 15. "Fair Value
Measurements."
Reclassifications
Certain reclassifications have been made to prior period amounts to conform to the current period presentation. These reclassifications do not impact
net loss and do not reflect a material change to the information previously presented in our consolidated financial statements.
Recent Accounting Pronouncements
Standards Adopted in 2020.
In June 2016, the Financial Accounting Standards Board ("FASB") issued Accounting Standards Update ("ASU") 2016-13, "Financial Instruments —
Credit Losses (Topic 326): Measurement of Credit Losses on Financial Instruments" ("ASU 2016-13"). ASU 2016-13 requires a financial asset (or a group of
financial assets) measured at amortized cost basis to be presented at the net amount expected to be collected, utilizing an expected loss methodology in place
of the previously used incurred loss methodology. The provisions require credit impairments to be measured over the contractual life of an asset and developed
with consideration for past events, current conditions, and forecasts of future economic information. The new standard is effective for fiscal years, and for
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interim periods within those fiscal years, beginning after December 15, 2022, with early adoption permitted. The Company early adopted this standard on
January 1, 2020, using the prospective transition method, and the standard did not have a material impact on our consolidated financial statements upon its
adoption.
In August 2018, the FASB issued ASU 2018-15 "Intangibles — Goodwill and Other - Internal Use Software (Subtopic 350-40): Customer's Accounting
for Implementation Costs Incurred in a Cloud Computing Arrangement That is a Service Contract" ("ASU 2018-15"). ASU 2018-15 clarifies the accounting for
implementation costs in cloud computing arrangements. We adopted ASU 2018-15 on its January 1, 2020, effective date, using the prospective transition
method, and this standard did not have a material impact on our consolidated financial statements.
Standards Not Yet Adopted
In December 2019, the FASB issued ASU 2019-12, “Income Taxes (Topic 740): Simplifying the Accounting for Income Taxes” ("ASU 2019-12"). ASU
2019-12 intends to simplify various aspects related to accounting for income taxes and removes certain exceptions to the general principles in the standard.
Additionally, the ASU clarifies and amends existing guidance to improve consistent application of its requirements. The amendments of ASU 2019-12 are
effective for fiscal years beginning after December 15, 2020, and interim periods within those fiscal years. Early adoption is permitted. The Company anticipates
that the impact on its consolidated financial statements upon adoption of ASU 2019-12 will not be material.
In March 2020, the FASB issued ASU 2020-04, “Reference Rate Reform (Topic 848)” ("ASU 2020-04"), which provides optional expedients and
exceptions for applying US GAAP to contracts, hedging relationships, and other transactions affected by the discontinuation of the London Interbank Offered
Rate (“LIBOR”) or by another reference rate expected to be discontinued. The ASU is effective for all entities as of March 12, 2020, through December 31,
2022. Entities may elect to apply the amendments for contract modifications as of any date from the beginning of an interim period that includes or is
subsequent to March 12, 2020, or prospectively from a date within an interim period that includes or is subsequent to March 12, 2020. We are currently
evaluating the timing of our adoption and the impacts of the provisions of ASU 2020-04 on our consolidated financial statements.
3. Supplemental Balance Sheet Information
Accounts Receivable
The following table summarizes our accounts receivable balance:
December 31,
(in thousands)
Trade accounts receivable
Allowance for credit losses

2020
$

Accounts receivable, net

$

2019
63,404
(3,053)
60,351

$

101,947
(2,208)
99,739

$

The Company included in its allowance for credit losses the impact of the approximately $ 39.5 million of accounts receivable from the acquisition of
CJWS as of the March 9, 2020, closing date.
The following table presents activity in the allowance for credit losses:
Year Ended December 31,
(in thousands)
Balance as of December 31, 2019
Provision for expected credit losses, net of writeoffs & recoveries
Uncollectible receivables written off
Balance as of December 31, 2020

2020
$

$

2019
2,208 $
10,268
(9,423)
3,053 $

1,838
4,686
(4,316)
2,208

The provision for expected credit losses and uncollectible receivables written off for the year ended December 31, 2020 and 2019 includes $ 4.0 million
and $1.0 million, respectively, of items related to discontinued operations.
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Inventories
The following table summarizes our inventories:
December 31,
(in thousands)
Service tools
Coiled tubing
Manufacturing related
Other

2020
$

$

Total inventories

2019
7,859
239
—
618
8,716

$

8,081
1,558
8,925
1,698
20,262

$

Manufacturing related inventory decreased due to the closure of our manufacturing facility.
Prepaid Expenses and Other Current Assets
The following table summarizes our prepaid expenses and other current assets:
December 31,
(in thousands)
Prepaid expenses
Other

2020
$

Total prepaid expenses and other current assets

$

2019
8,240
3,770
12,010

$

6,407
2,614
9,021

$

Property and Equipment, net
The following table summarizes our property and equipment. Prior year amounts are adjusted for the discontinued pumping services and contract
drilling operations:
Estimated
Useful Life
3-15 years
10-15 years
2-15 years
20-30 years

(in thousands)
Service equipment
Brine and saltwater disposal facilities
Rental equipment
Buildings and improvements
Land
Light vehicles
Other
Total property and equipment
Less accumulated depreciation and amortization

December 31,
2020
$

3-7 years

$

Property and equipment, net

2019
173,805 $
90,677
46,812
34,432
17,832
14,529
4,772
382,859
(172,296)
210,563 $

262,578
92,103
60,886
30,902
15,682
26,630
4,844
493,625
(196,512)
297,113

The table below summarizes the gross amount of property and equipment and related accumulated amortization recorded under finance leases and
included above:
December 31,
(in thousands)
Service equipment
Light vehicles
Rental equipment

2020
$

Less accumulated amortization
$

Finance lease right-of-use assets

2019
40,809 $
7,137
881
48,827
(22,691)
26,136 $

51,075
19,563
1,130
71,768
(27,727)
44,041

Intangible Assets, net
The Company’s intangible assets subject to amortization were as follows:
December 31,
(in thousands)
Trade names
Other intangible assets
Sub-total
Less accumulated amortization

2020
$

$

Intangible assets, net
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2019
7,230 $
48
7,278
(1,100)
6,178 $

3,230
48
3,278
(675)
2,603

Amortization expense for each of the years ended December 31, 2020 and 2019 was approximately $ 0.4 million and $ 0.2 million, respectively. In 2019,
the Company wrote off $0.2 million of net trade names related to the discontinued pumping services line of business.
Amortization expense for the next five succeeding years is expected to be as follows:
(in thousands)
2021
2022
2023
2024
2025
Thereafter

Amortization Expense
$

492
482
482
482
482
3,758
6,178

$

Total

Other Assets
The following table summarizes our other assets:
December 31,
(in thousands)
Cash surrender value of company-owned life insurance
Real estate held for sale
Cloud computing capitalized costs, net
Deposits
Deferred debt issuance costs for credit facility
Other

2020
$

$

Total other assets

2019
10,839
10,634
2,291
1,206
957
1,346
27,273

$

10,300
—
1,260
1,853
2,198
219
15,830

$

Accrued Expenses
The following table summarizes our accrued expenses:
December 31,
(in thousands)
Employee compensation and benefits
Accrued interest
Property taxes
Sales and use taxes
Federal and state income tax
Other

2020
$

$

Total accrued expenses

2019
29,789
9,326
7,724
4,070
3,032
1,323
55,264

$

20,889
8,996
4,672
2,114
2,375
184
39,230

$

Other Current Liabilities
The following table summarizes our other current liabilities:
December 31,
(in thousands)
Make-whole derivative liability
Current portion of asset retirement obligations
Liabilities associated with assets held for sale
Other

2020
$

$

Total other current liabilities

2019
4,847
1,021
508
1,995
8,371

$

$

—
1,285
5,248
2,961
9,494

Asset Retirement Obligations
The Company has the obligation to plug and remediate its saltwater disposal wellsites when the assets are retired. This ARO includes plugging the
well, removal of surface equipment, and remediation of soil contamination.
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The following table presents activity in our asset retirement obligations:
Year Ended December 31,
(in thousands)
Balance as of January 1, 2020
Additions
Revision in estimate
Disposals
Expenditures
Accretion of discount
Balance as of December 31, 2020
Less: current portion of asset retirement obligations

2020
$

2019
10,329 $
281
—
(290)
(1,526)
1,924
10,718
(1,021)
9,697 $

$

2,587
281
7,205
(124)
(671)
1,051
10,329
(1,285)
9,044

Other Liabilities
The following table summarizes our other liabilities:
December 31,
(in thousands)
Deferred compensation
Loans secured by company-owned life insurance
Deferred income tax liability
Other

2020
$

$

Total other liabilities

2019
6,533
6,013
424
529
13,499

$

10,838
3,622
—
3,082
17,542

$

4. Indebtedness and Borrowing Facility
Long-term debt consists of the following:
December 31,
(in thousands)

2020

10.75% Senior Notes due 2023
Senior Secured Promissory Note
Second Lien Delayed Draw Promissory Note
Finance lease liabilities
Total principal amount
Less unamortized discount and debt issuance costs
Total debt
Less current portion of finance leases
Total long-term debt

2019

$

300,000

$

300,000

$

15,000
15,000
16,986
346,986
(21,703)
325,283
(7,520)
317,763 $

—
—
35,898
335,898
(8,795)
327,103
(18,738)
308,365

As of December 31, 2020, the aggregate maturities of debt, excluding finance leases, total $ 330.0 million due October 2023. The Company was in
compliance with the debt covenants under its existing debt agreements as of December 31, 2020.
Senior Secured Notes
On October 2, 2018, the Company issued $ 300.0 million aggregate principal amount of 10.75% Senior Secured Notes due October 2023 (the “Senior
Notes”) in an offering exempt from registration under the Securities Act. The Senior Notes were issued at a price of 99% of par to yield 11.0%. The Company
may redeem all or a part of the Senior Notes at any time on or after October 15, 2020, at the redemption prices set forth in the Indenture, plus accrued and
unpaid interest, if any, to the redemption date.
The Senior Notes were issued under and are governed by an indenture, dated as of October 2, 2018 (the “Indenture”), by and among the Company, the
guarantors named therein (the “Guarantors”), and UMB Bank, N.A. as Trustee and Collateral Agent (the “Trustee”). The Senior Notes are jointly and severally,
fully and unconditionally guaranteed (the “Guarantees”) on a senior secured basis by the Guarantors and are secured by first priority liens on substantially all of
the Company’s and the Guarantors’ assets, other than accounts receivable, inventory and certain related assets. The Indenture contains covenants that limit the
ability of the Company and certain subsidiaries to:
• incur additional indebtedness or issue preferred stock;
• pay dividends or make other distributions to its stockholders;
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•
•
•
•
•
•

repurchase or redeem capital stock or subordinated indebtedness and certain refinancings thereof;
make certain investments;
incur liens;
enter into certain types of transactions with affiliates;
limit dividends or other payments by restricted subsidiaries to the Company; and
sell assets or consolidate or merge with or into other companies .

These limitations are subject to a number of important qualifications and exceptions.
Upon an Event of Default (as defined in the Indenture), the Trustee or the holders of at least 25% in aggregate principal amount of the outstanding
Senior Notes may declare the entire principal, premium, if any, and accrued and unpaid interest, if any, on all the Senior Notes to be due and payable
immediately. The Senior Notes have a cross-default provision whereby if the Company is in default under the terms of another of its debt agreements then that
will be an Event of Default under the Senior Notes. If the Company experiences a Change of Control, the Company may be required to offer to purchase the
Senior Notes at a purchase price equal to 101% of the principal amount, plus accrued and unpaid interest, if any, to the purchase date.
In connection with the CJWS acquisition, Ascribe, on behalf of the Company, conveyed to Seller Senior Notes with an aggregate par amount equal to
$34.4 million (the "Ascribe Senior Notes") and Ascribe entered into an Exchange Agreement dated March 9, 2020, with the Company pursuant to which, among
other things, Ascribe exchanged the Ascribe Senior Notes for 118,805 shares of Series A Preferred Stock and approximately $ 1.5 million in cash for accrued
interest on the Ascribe Senior Notes.
The conveyance of the $34.4 million in Ascribe Senior Notes to Seller by Ascribe, along with other aspects of the Exchange Agreement and Purchase
Agreement considered in the aggregate, was accounted for as an effective extinguishment of the existing Ascribe Senior Notes and a reissuance of a new issue
of Ascribe Senior Notes as of March 9, 2020. The new issue of Ascribe Senior Notes was recorded at its estimated fair value based on the bond market pricing
discount of 37% at March 9, 2020, resulting in a net carrying value at time of reissuance of $ 21.6 million, net of discount. This discount is amortized over the
remaining term of the Ascribe Senior Notes through 2023. The deemed reissuance of Ascribe Senior Notes, along with the issuance of the Senior Secured
Promissory Note discussed below and the Series A Preferred Stock, each also recorded at their estimated fair values, resulted in a net debt extinguishment
gain of $22.9 million, net of transaction fees paid to Ascribe. As Ascribe was a beneficial owner of the Company prior to the acquisition, the net extinguishment
gain was accounted for as a capital contribution as an adjustment to additional paid-in capital in the Company’s consolidated balance sheet.
On November 5, 2020, the Company commenced a private offer (the “Exchange Offer”) to exchange its outstanding Senior Notes for newly issued
11.00% Senior Secured Notes due 2025 and provide for a $ 20.0 million rights offering to holders of its Senior Notes participating in the Exchange Offer to
purchase new 9.75% Super Priority Lien Senior Secured Notes due 2025 to be issued by the Company. The Exchange Offer expired in accordance with its
terms and resulted with no Senior Notes accepted for exchange.
The Senior Secured Promissory Note
In connection with the CJWS acquisition, the Company issued a Senior Secured Promissory Note on March 9, 2020, in favor of Ascribe in an aggregate
principal amount equal to $15 million (the "Senior Secured Promissory Note"). Interest on the Senior Secured Promissory Note is payable monthly, at an initial
annual interest rate of 10%, increasing by an additional 2% per annum beginning on January 1, 2021, and on January 1 of each succeeding year thereafter until
the Senior Secured Promissory Note matures on October 15, 2023. The Senior Secured Promissory Note was originally recorded at its estimated fair value,
resulting in a discount of $7 million at time of issuance. This discount is amortized using the effective interest method over the remaining term of the Senior
Secured Promissory Note.
The Senior Secured Promissory Note is secured by a lien upon certain of the Company's existing and after-acquired property, which are also secured
by the Company's existing Senior Notes. The Senior Secured Promissory Note has a cross-default provision whereby if the Company is in default under the
terms of the Senior Notes or ABL Facility then we will be in default under the Senior Secured Promissory Note.
Second Lien Promissory Note
On October 15, 2020, the Company entered into a Second Lien Delayed Draw Promissory Note, in favor of Ascribe, in an aggregate principal amount
equal to $15.0 million (the “Second Lien Promissory Note”). The Company borrowed $ 7.5 million on October 15, 2020 and $ 7.5 million on December 9, 2020.
Interest on the Second
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Lien Promissory Note is payable quarterly on January 1, April 1, July 1, and October 1, at an annual interest rate of
The proceeds of the Second Lien Promissory Note were used for general corporate and working capital purposes.

9.75% until maturity on October 30, 2023.

The Second Lien Promissory Note is secured by a second lien upon certain of the Company’s existing and after-acquired property pursuant to that
certain Second Lien Security Agreement, dated as of October 15, 2020, by and among the Company and certain subsidiaries of the Company in favor of
Ascribe, as secured party. This collateral also secures the Company’s ABL Credit Agreement on a first lien basis. The Second Lien Promissory Note has a
cross-default provision whereby if the Company is in default under the terms of the Senior Notes or ABL Facility or other material debt then we will be in default
under the Second Lien Promissory Note.
Make-Whole Reimbursement Amount to Ascribe
If Ascribe is required to pay the Make-Whole Payment to Seller, as described in the CJWS acquisition disclosures in Note 1. “Description of Business,”
then the Company will be required to reimburse to Ascribe the amount of the Make-Whole Payment ("Make-Whole Reimbursement Amount") either in cash or, if
the Company is unable to pay the full Make-Whole Reimbursement Amount in cash, in additional Senior Notes as permitted under the Indenture. On March 31,
2021, the Company negotiated a settlement of the Make-Whole Reimbursement obligation with Ascribe in exchange for issuing additional Senior Notes to
Ascribe with an aggregate par value of $47.5 million. See Note 18. “Subsequent Event” for more information about the settlement of this obligation.
ABL Facility
On October 2, 2018, the Company terminated its then existing asset-based lending credit facility and term loan agreement and entered into a new
asset-based lending credit agreement among the Company and the lenders that expires on October 2, 2023. The credit agreement will expire on July 3, 2023, if
the Senior Notes have not been redeemed by that time. The new credit agreement included a revolving credit facility (the “ABL Credit Facility”) with an initial
maximum aggregate principal amount of $150.0 million. The ABL Credit Facility was amended multiple times during 2020. After these amendments, the
maximum aggregate principal amount was lowered to $75 million. In connection with the reductions in the aggregate commitment amount, debt issuance costs
of $1.1 million were charged to interest expense in 2020.
The amount of borrowings available under the ABL Credit Facility are limited to a borrowing base capacity, which is based on eligible accounts
receivable and eligible pledged cash, which the Company can advance to the administrative agent as necessary. The ABL Credit Facility includes a sublimit for
letters of credit of up to $50.0 million.
If the availability under the ABL Credit Facility falls below $ 9.4 million, then certain covenants including a consolidated fixed charge coverage ratio and
cash dominion provisions will spring into effect.
Borrowings under the ABL Credit Facility bear interest at a rate per annum equal to an applicable rate, plus, at the Company’s option, either a base rate
or a LIBOR rate. The applicable rate in a fiscal quarter is determined by the average daily availability as a percentage of the borrowing base during the previous
fiscal quarter.
As of December 31, 2020, the Company had no borrowings and $ 36.0 million of letters of credit outstanding under the ABL Credit Facility. As of
December 31, 2020, we had $10.5 million of availability under the ABL Credit Facility, but we are subject to borrowing restrictions that are in place. We are
restricted from borrowing this amount because of restrictions regarding the eligible pledged cash and the requirement to maintain the minimum availability noted
above.
To avoid triggering certain of the consolidated fixed charge coverage ratios and cash dominion covenants which spring into effect under certain
minimum availability covenant requirements defined in the ABL Credit Facility, during 2020 we advanced a net $ 8.1 million of our available cash balance to the
administrative agent. The amount of cash advanced to the administrative agent as of December 31, 2020 is reflected as restricted cash in the accompanying
consolidated balance sheet. As of March 26, 2021, the amount of cash advanced to the administrative agent has been increased to $15.5 million.
Substantially all of the domestic subsidiaries of the Company guarantee the borrowings under the ABL Credit Facility, and the Company guarantees the
payment and performance by each specified loan party of its obligations under its guaranty with respect to swap obligations. All obligations under the ABL
Credit Facility and the related guarantees are secured by a perfected first-priority security interest in substantially all accounts receivable, inventory, and certain
other assets, not including equity interests.
The ABL Credit Facility has a covenant whereby the Company would be in default if the report of its independent registered public accounting firm on
the Company’s annual financial statements included a going concern qualification or like exemption. On March 31, 2021, the Company obtained a waiver under
the ABL Credit
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Facility with respect to any such default arising with respect to the 2020 audited financial statements and also agreed to reduce the maximum aggregate
principal amount of the ABL Credit Facility from $75.0 million to $60.0 million. As a result, the Company is in compliance with the covenants under the ABL
Credit Agreement.
5. Leases
The Company leases its corporate office headquarters in Fort Worth, Texas, and conducts its business operations through various regional offices
located throughout the United States. These operating locations typically include regional offices, storage and maintenance yards, disposal facilities and
employee housing sufficient to support its operations in the area. The Company leases most of these properties under either non-cancelable term leases, many
of which contain renewal options that can extend the lease term from one to five years and some of which contain escalation clauses, or month-to-month
operating leases. Options to renew these leases are generally not considered reasonably certain to be exercised. Therefore, the periods covered by such
optional periods are not included in the determination of the term of the lease. The Company also leases supplemental equipment, typically under cancellable
short-term contracts which are less than 30 days. Due to the nature of the Company's business, any option to renew these short-term leases is generally not
considered reasonably certain to be exercised. Therefore, the periods covered by such optional periods are not included in the determination of the term of the
lease, and the lease payments during these periods are similarly excluded from the calculation of operating lease asset and lease liability balances.
During 2020, the Company modified the operating lease for its headquarters office building, which resulted in an extension of the lease term and
abatements for certainly monthly periods. In addition, the Company also modified the finance lease for certain of its lease vehicles, resulting in an extension of
the lease term and a reduction in monthly lease payments. For each of these modifications, the Company remeasured the asset and liability balances as of the
modification date, resulting in a $3.7 million increase for the headquarters office building operating lease and a $ 0.8 million decrease for the vehicle finance
lease. Headquarters office building total lease expense is recognized on a straight line basis over the remaining lease terms. The classification of each modified
lease was unchanged.
The following table summarizes the components of the Company's lease expense recognized for the year ended December 31, 2020 and 2019,
respectively, excluding variable lease and prepaid rent costs:
Year Ended December 31,
(in thousands)
Operating lease expense:
Operating lease
Short-term lease

2020
$

Total operating lease expense
Finance lease expense:
Amortization of right-of-use assets
Interest on lease liabilities

$

Total finance lease expense

$

$

2019
6,872
4,933
11,805

$

11,327
2,281
13,608

$

8,681
5,691
14,372

$

19,171
5,005
24,176

$

Supplemental information related to leases was as follows:
Year Ended December 31,
2020

2019

Operating leases
Weighted average remaining lease term
Weighted average discount rate

2.8 years
12.8%

3.1 years
14.8%

Finance leases
Weighted average remaining lease term
Weighted average discount rate

2.2 years
8.3%

2.1 years
8.2%
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Supplemental cash flow information related to leases was as follows:
Year Ended December 31,
(in thousands)
Cash paid for amounts included in the measurement of lease liabilities:
Operating cash outflows from operating leases
Operating cash outflows from finance leases
Financing cash outflows from finance leases

2020
$

2019
11,805
2,281
19,846

$

14,372
5,005
29,364

Future annual minimum operating lease payments were as follows:
(in thousands)
2021
2022
2023
2024
2025
Thereafter
Total lease payments
Less: Imputed interest
Total

Operating Leases
$

$
$

2,380 $
2,446
2,211
1,999
1,506
5,033
15,575 $
(5,151)
10,424 $

Finance Leases
7,746
6,442
2,994
576
29
—
17,787
(801)
16,986

6. Series A Participating Preferred Stock
In connection with the CJWS acquisition, the Company issued to Ascribe 118,805 shares of the Series A Preferred Stock. The Series A Preferred Stock
constituted 83% of the equity interest in the Company. Upon consummation of the CJWS acquisition, the Company's public stockholders owned approximately
14.94% of the equity interests in the Company, and Ascribe held approximately 85.06%.
Each share of Series A Preferred Stock is entitled to dividends in an amount per share equal to 1,000 times the per share amount of each dividend
declared on the Company's common stock, 1,000 votes on all matters submitted to a vote of the holders of the Company's common stock, and upon any
liquidation, dissolution or winding up of the Company, an amount equal to 1,000 times the per share amount to be distributed to each share of the Company's
common stock. Each share of Series A Preferred Stock is convertible at the option of the Company or the holder into 1,000 shares of Company common stock.
As a result of Ascribe's effective controlling equity interest in the Company, and in accordance with ASC No. 480 "Distinguishing Liabilities from Equity"
("ASC 480"), the Series A Preferred Stock is classified outside of permanent equity in the Company's balance sheet as of December 31, 2020. The Series A
Preferred Stock was recorded at its fair value, approximately $22.0 million as of March 9, 2020, based on the trading price of the Company's common shares,
plus a control premium.
7. Stockholders' Equity (Deficit)
Common Stock
On May 6, 2020, the Company's stockholders, and the holders of common stock voting separately, approved the proposal to increase the number of
authorized shares of common stock by 118,805,000, to allow for the conversion of Series A Preferred Stock shares to common shares. As of December 31,
2020, the Company had 198,805,000 authorized shares of its common stock, par value $ 0.01 per share, with 27,912,059 shares issued and 24,899,932 shares
outstanding.
Treasury Stock
The Company acquired treasury shares through net share settlements for payment of payroll taxes upon the vesting of restricted stock unit awards,
forfeitures of restricted share awards, and through a previous publicly announced repurchase program. The Company issued and repurchased a net total of
4,553 and 2,692,116 common shares for the years ended December 31, 2020 and 2019, respectively.
Warrant Agreement
On December 23, 2016, the Company entered into a warrant agreement (the “Warrant Agreement”) with American Stock Transfer & Trust Company,
LLC, as warrant agent. The Company issued warrants (the “Warrants,” and holders thereof “Warrantholders”), which in the aggregate, are exercisable to
purchase up to approximately
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2,066,627 shares of the Company's common stock. As of December 31, 2020 there were 2,066,576 warrants outstanding, exercisable until December 23, 2023,
to purchase at an initial exercise price of $55.25 per share, subject to adjustment as provided in the Warrant Agreement. At issuance, the warrants were
recorded at fair value, which was determined using the Black-Scholes option pricing model. The warrants are equity classified and, at issuance, were recorded
as an increase to additional paid-in capital in the amount of $8.4 million. All unexercised Warrants will expire, and the rights of the Warrantholder to purchase
common stock will terminate on December 23, 2023.
8. Revenues
The following table sets forth the Company's disaggregation of revenues by geographical markets for the years ended December 31, 2020 and 2019:
(in thousands)
Year Ended December 31, 2020
Central U.S.
Western U.S.
Eliminations

$

Total revenues

$

Year Ended December 31, 2019
Central U.S.
Western U.S.
Eliminations
Total revenues

Well Servicing

Water Logistics

106,575 $
108,491
(2,249)
212,817 $

$

$

193,233 $
45,796
(12,063)
226,966 $

Completion &
Remedial Services

98,932 $
45,356
(5,353)
138,935 $

188,289 $
22,310
(10,783)
199,816 $

31,172
30,783
(2,332)
59,623

Total
$
$
$

74,351 $
69,526
(3,409)
140,468 $

236,679 $
184,630 $
(9,934)
411,375 $

455,873 $
137,632
(26,255)
567,250 $

Discontinued
Operations
115
5
—
120

139,378
3,507
—
142,885

At December 31, 2020, the Company had $ 2.1 million of contract assets and no contract liabilities on our consolidated balance sheet. At December 31,
2019, the Company had $1.4 million of contract assets and $ 0.9 million contract liabilities recorded on our consolidated balance sheet.
9. Stock-Based Compensation
Management Incentive Plan
On May 14, 2019, the stockholders of the Company approved the Basic Energy Services, Inc. 2019 Long Term Incentive Plan (the “2019 LTIP”) to
succeed the Basic Energy Services, Inc. Management Incentive Plan (the “MIP”). The 2019 LTIP became effective on May 14, 2019, and replaced the MIP. A
total of 2,481,657 shares of the Company’s common stock are reserved for issuance pursuant to the 2019 LTIP. No further awards will be granted under the
MIP.
During the years ended December 31, 2020 and 2019, compensation expense related to share-based arrangements under the MIP and the 2019 LTIP,
including restricted stock, restricted stock units and stock option awards, was approximately $1.5 million and $ 8.7 million, respectively. For share-based
compensation expense recognized during the year ended December 31, 2020 and 2019, the Company did not recognize a tax benefit due to the valuation
allowance on our deferred tax assets.
At December 31, 2020, there was $ 0.3 million unrecognized compensation related to non-vested share-based compensation arrangements granted
under the MIP and the 2019 LTIP. That cost is expected to be recognized over a weighted average period of 1.4 years. Expenses described below are for
employee awards granted under the MIP or the 2019 LTIP, as applicable.
Stock Option Awards
Total expense related to stock options was approximately $ 2,000 in 2020 and $ 1.9 million in 2019. These stock options became fully vested and
expensed as of the first quarter of 2020. Options granted under the MIP expire 10 years from the date they are granted, and generally vest over a period of
three years.
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The following table reflects the summary of stock options outstanding at December 31, 2020:
Weighted Average
Exercise Price

Stock Options
Non-statutory stock options:
Outstanding at beginning of period
Granted
Forfeited
Exercised
Expired
Outstanding and exercisable at end of period

306,506
—
(5,396)
—
(106,846)
194,264

Weighted Average
Remaining Contractual
Term (Years)

Aggregate Intrinsic
Value (000's)

6.09

$—

$39.23
—
41.90
—
39.09
$39.23

Time-based Restricted Stock Awards
A summary of the Company’s non-vested restricted stock activity during 2020 is presented in the following table:
Restricted Stock Units
573,066
—
(289,281)
(125,126)
158,659

Non-vested at beginning of period
Granted
Vested
Forfeited
Non-vested at end of period

Weighted Average Grant Date
Fair Value Per Unit
$4.46
—
5.84
3.71
$2.53

In the second quarter of 2019, the Board also made grants of time-based restricted stock awards representing an aggregate 533,160 shares of common
stock of the Company to certain members of management. These grants are subject to vesting over a three-year period and are subject to accelerated vesting
under certain circumstances. The first one-third of the grant vested on May 15, 2020 with the next two installments scheduled for May 15, 2021 and 2022,
respectively.
The fair value of time vesting restricted stock is equal to the quoted market price for the shares on the date of the grant. The total fair value of timevesting restricted stock vested in fiscal 2020 and 2019 was $0.1 million and $0.3 million, respectively, and is measured as the quoted market price of the
Company’s common stock on the vesting date for the number of shares vested.
Performance-based Restricted Stock Awards
A summary of the Company’s non-vested performance-based restricted stock activity during 2020 is presented in the following table:
Number of Performance Stock
Units
312,238
—
(116,227)
(167,519)
(28,492)
—

Non-vested at beginning of period
Granted
Vested
Performance Adjustment
Forfeited
Non-vested at end of period

Weighted Average Grant Date
Fair Value Per Unit
$20.52
—
35.29
9.52
24.95
$—

The total fair value of performance-based restricted stock units vested in 2020 and 2019 was $ 22,000 and $1.0 million, respectively, and is measured
as the quoted market price of the Company’s common stock on the vesting date for the number of shares vested.
Phantom Stock Awards
The Compensation Committee also approves grants of phantom restricted stock awards to employees. Phantom shares are recorded as a liability at
their current market value and are included in other current liabilities. These grants remain subject to vesting annually in one-third increments over a three-year
period, and are subject to accelerated vesting in certain circumstances. Based on the trading price of the Company's common stock, the amount of liability
recorded related to phantom stock awards was not significant at December 31, 2020.
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10. Retirement and Deferred Compensation Plan
In April 2005, the Company established a deferred compensation plan for certain employees. Participants may defer up to 50% of their salary and
100% of any cash bonuses. The Company may make contributions of 100% of the first 3% of the participants’ deferred pay and 50% of the next 2% of the
participants’ deferred pay to a maximum match of $10,000 per year. Employer matching contributions and earnings thereon are subject to a five-year vesting
schedule with full vesting occurring after five years of service. Employer contributions to the deferred compensation plan net of earnings approximated an
expense of $0.1 million and $0.2 million in 2020 and 2019, respectively. The Company elected to suspend matching for this plan during portions of 2020 and
2019.
The Company has a 401(k) profit sharing plan that covers substantially all employees. After one year of employment, employees may contribute up to
their base salary not to exceed the annual federal maximum allowed for such plans. At management’s discretion, the Company may make a matching
contribution proportional to each employee’s contribution. Employee contributions are fully vested at all times. Employer matching was suspended during
portions of 2020 and 2019. Employer matching contributions vest immediately. Employer contributions to the 401(k) plan approximated $1.1 million and
$2.4 million in 2020 and 2019, respectively.
11. Impairments and Other Charges
The following table provides a reconciliation of our impairments and other charges:
Year Ended December 31,
(in thousands)
Long lived asset impairments
Goodwill impairments
Inventory write-downs
Transaction costs
Field restructuring
Executive departure

2020
$

$

Total impairments and other charges

2019
88,697
19,089
5,281
4,734
351
—
118,152

$

$

—
—
5,266
2,153
—
843
8,262

Long-lived asset impairments - The reduction in demand for our services beginning in March 2020 for each of our businesses was an indicator that our
long-lived assets could be impaired. Our impairment testing indicated that our Well Servicing segment long-lived assets were not recoverable. The estimated
fair value of the Well Servicing segment assets was determined to be below its carrying value and as a result we recorded impairments of property and
equipment totaling $86.0 million and write-downs of component parts inventory totaling $ 4.8 million as of March 31, 2020. As of December 31, 2020, we
recorded an additional $2.5 million impairment of long-lived assets primarily related to certain real property yard and facility locations that we no longer use and
are planning to dispose. For assets being disposed, fair value is determined based on expected sales proceeds, less cost to dispose. For long-lived assets
being impaired, other than goodwill, fair value is determined using an income approach calculated by using forecasted revenues and probability weighted
operating cash flows, estimating terminal values and associated growth rates, and discounting them using an estimate of the discount rate.
Goodwill impairments - The Company recorded goodwill of $ 19.1 million in connection with the acquisition of CJWS, which was allocated to our Well
Servicing and Water Logistics reporting units. On March 31, 2020, due to the reduction in demand for our services, we determined that the fair value of the Well
Servicing reporting unit was less than its carrying value, which resulted in a goodwill impairment of $10.6 million for this reporting unit. As part of our annual
goodwill impairment test, we determined that the remaining fair value of the Water Logistics reporting unit was less than its carrying value, which resulted in a
goodwill impairment of $8.5 million for this reporting unit. For goodwill, fair value is determined by using a combination of the income approach and the market
approach. The income approach estimates the fair value by using forecasted revenues and operating cash flows, estimating terminal values and associated
growth rates, and discounting them using an estimate of the discount rate, or expected return, that a market participant would have required as of the valuation
date. The market approach involves the selection of the appropriate peer group companies and valuation multiples.
Inventory write-downs - In connection with the downturn in our business, we recorded a $ 4.8 million write-down of certain parts inventory in our Well
Servicing segment in the first quarter of 2020. We also recorded a $5.3 million write-down of certain parts inventory in our Well Servicing segment during 2019
due to obsolescence.
Transaction costs - In response to the downturn in our business, and in connection with our plans to adjust our capital structure accordingly, we incurred
$4.7 million of legal and professional consulting costs, including costs associated with the Exchange Offer. For further discussion of the Exchange Offer, see
Note 4. "Indebtedness and Borrowing Facility."
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Field restructuring costs - In 2020, we incurred $ 0.4 million of costs associated with yard closures in connection with our field restructuring initiative.
Executive departure - In 2019, we incurred $ 0.8 million in costs related to the departure of our Chief Executive Officer.
12. Income Taxes
Income tax (benefit) expense consists of the following:
Year Ended December 31,
(in thousands)
Current:
Federal
State
Total

2020
$

(119) $
474
355

Deferred:
Federal
State
Total
Total income tax (benefit) expense

2019

$

(1,900)
1,921
21

(3,739)
(448)
(4,187)

—
—
—

(3,832) $

21

The Company paid no federal income taxes during the years 2020 and 2019. The Company received a federal income tax refund of $ 2.8 million during
the year ended December 31, 2019 as a result of a tax year 2017 election to monetize the remaining alternative minimum tax credit carryforward in lieu of
accelerated tax depreciation, and as a result of amending our 2007 federal tax return under section 172(f) of the Internal Revenue Code of 186, which allowed
us to carry-back and recover workers' compensation expenses in the years we had net operating losses for the previous 10 years.
The issuance of the Series A Preferred Stock as part of the acquisition of CJWS resulted in an ownership change pursuant to Internal Revenue Code
Section 382 on March 9, 2020. The Section 382 limitation impacts the Company's ability to utilize certain pre-acquisition tax attributes, including net operating
losses. The projected impact of the ownership change will reduce the Company's available federal net operating losses from $900.7 million as of December 31,
2019 to an estimated $383.3 million as of December 31, 2020, which begin to expire in 2032 and $ 382.8 million of net operating loss carryforwards for state
income tax purposes which begin to expire in 2021.
The reconciliation between the amount determined by applying the U.S. Federal corporate tax rate of 21% to loss before income taxes (benefit) for the
years ended December 31, 2020 and 2019 is as follows:
Year Ended December 31,
(in thousands)

2020

Loss from continuing operations before income taxes
U.S. federal statutory rate
Income tax benefit at U.S. federal statutory rate
NOLs derecognized due to Section 382 limitation
State taxes, net of federal benefit
Equity compensation shortfall
Change in estimates & other
Change in valuation allowance

$

Income tax (benefit) expense

$

2019
(253,040)
$
21 %
(53,138)
158,116
(4,132)
1,868
2,936
(109,482)
(3,832)
$

(91,380)
21 %
(19,190)
—
580
2,601
206
15,824
21

The change in valuation allowance during 2020 was primarily due to the Section 382 limitation, less the impact from the additional tax losses generated
during the year.
The Company provides a valuation allowance when it is more likely than not that some portion of the deferred tax assets will not be realized.
Management assesses the available positive and negative evidence to estimate if sufficient future taxable income will be generated to utilize the existing
deferred tax assets. Based on this evaluation, as of December 31, 2020, a valuation allowance of approximately $145.4 million has been recorded on the net
deferred tax assets for all federal and state tax jurisdictions in order to measure only the portion of the deferred tax asset that more likely than not will be
realized. As of December 31, 2019, a valuation allowance of $210.8 million was recorded against the net deferred tax assets not expected to be realized.
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Interest is recorded in interest expense and penalties are recorded in income tax expense. We had no interest or penalties related to an uncertain tax
positions during 2020. The Company files federal income tax returns and state income tax returns in Texas and other state tax jurisdictions.
The tax effects of temporary differences that give rise to significant portions of the deferred tax assets and deferred tax liabilities are as follows:
Year Ended December 31,
(in thousands)
Deferred tax assets:
Net operating loss carryforwards
Goodwill and intangibles assets
Interest expense limitation
Accrued liabilities
Operating lease liabilities
Deferred compensation
Asset retirement obligation
Other
Total deferred tax assets
Valuation allowances

2020
$

Total net deferred tax assets
Deferred tax liabilities:
Property and equipment
Operating lease right-of-use assets
Other

2019
99,569 $
25,505
25,859
11,679
2,367
1,302
2,430
823
169,534
(145,404)
24,130
20,447
2,184
1,923

Total deferred tax liabilities
$

Net deferred tax liability

24,554
424

205,367
19,350
16,721
11,139
3,299
2,889
2,344
2,374
263,483
(210,808)
52,675
48,980
3,299
396
52,675

$

—

The deferred tax liabilities acquired with the acquisition of CJWS provided a source of future taxable income which allowed the Company to recognize a
tax benefit on a portion of the long-lived asset impairment recorded during the three months ended March 31, 2020, as well as the Company's other deferred
tax assets, and is the primary reason for the tax benefit for the year ended December 31, 2020.
On August 15, 2019, the Company was notified by the Oklahoma Tax Commission (the "OTC") that the tax court had issued findings, conclusions, and
recommendations in an on-going tax case related to tax years 2006 through 2008. Based on the ruling and the advice of our Oklahoma tax counsel, the
Company decided to negotiate a settlement with the OTC. The Company's analysis is that the potential liability associated with the settlement may range up to
$3.5 million. The Company recorded $2.5 million of income tax and interest payable, which is included as accrued expenses on our consolidated balance
sheets.
13. Commitments and Contingencies
Environmental
The Company is subject to various federal, state and local environmental laws and regulations that establish standards and requirements for protection
of the environment. The Company cannot predict the future impact of such standards and requirements which are subject to change and can have retroactive
effectiveness. The Company continues to monitor the status of these laws and regulations.
Currently, the Company has not been fined, cited or notified of any environmental violations that would have a material adverse effect upon its financial
position, liquidity or capital resources. However, management does recognize that by the very nature of its business, material costs could be incurred to
maintain compliance. The amount of such future expenditures is not determinable due to several factors, including the unknown magnitude of possible
regulation or liabilities, the unknown timing and extent of the corrective actions which may be required, the determination of the Company's liability in proportion
to other responsible parties and the extent to which such expenditures are recoverable from insurance or indemnification.
Litigation
FASB ASC 450 - "Contingencies" (“ASC 450”) governs the Company’s disclosure and recognition of loss contingencies, including pending claims,
lawsuits, disputes with third parties, investigations and other actions that are incurred in the operation of our business. ASC 450 uses the following defined terms
to describe the likelihood of a future loss: probable – the future event or events are likely to occur, remote – the chance of the future event or
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events is slight, and reasonably possible – the chance of the future event or events occurring is more than remote but less than likely. ASC 450 also contains
certain requirements with respect to how we accrue for and disclose information concerning our loss contingencies. We accrue for a loss contingency when we
conclude that the likelihood of a loss is probable and the amount of the loss can be reasonably estimated. When the reasonable estimate of the loss is within a
range of amounts, and no amount in the range constitutes a better estimate than any other amount, we accrue for the amount at the low end of the range. We
adjust our accruals from time to time as we receive additional information, but the loss we incur may be significantly greater than or less than the amount we
have accrued. We disclose loss contingencies if there is at least a reasonable possibility that a material loss has been incurred. No accrual or disclosure is
required for losses that are remote.
Arlisa Ann Carr, Individually and as Representative of the Estate of Dexture Carr, Deceased v. Dewan Tyrel Mosley and C&J Well Services, Inc. : On or
around October 2, 2018, Arlisa Carr filed a lawsuit against CJWS in the 115th District Court of Upshur County, Texas (Cause No.630-18), alleging, among other
things, that CJWS was negligent with respect to an automobile accident in March 2018. MS. Carr is seeking monetary relief of more than $1 million. CJWS
denies these allegations and the case is currently set for trial in April 2021. The outcome of this case is uncertain and the ultimate resolution of it could have a
material adverse effect on our consolidated financial statements in the period in which the resolution is recorded.
We believe that costs associated with other legal matters, individually or in the aggregate, will not have a material adverse effect on our consolidated
financial statements.
Sales and Use Tax Audit
The Company is subject to sales and use tax audits as a normal course of its business. The Company is currently subject to sales and use tax audits
conducted by the Texas State Comptroller’s office for audit periods from 2010 through 2016. Preliminary audit reports were issued for these audits, and the
Company will appeal the preliminary reports through the redetermination process. Based on the Company's analysis, the potential liability associated with these
audits, including costs to be incurred in defending and settling these audits, range from $6.0 million up to $31.0 million. This range could potentially change in
future periods as the appeal and redetermination process progresses. Net of $2.7 million of good faith payments made by the Company, the Company currently
has recorded a $3.4 million liability which is included as accrued expenses on our consolidated balance sheets. Included in the $ 3.4 million liability is
approximately $2.1 million of accrued interest associated with the tax liability, including $ 0.2 million of interest expense recognized for the year ended
December 31, 2020.
Self-Insured Risk Accruals
The Company is self-insured up to retention limits as it relates to workers’ compensation, automobile liability, general liability claims, and medical and
dental coverage of its employees. The Company has deductibles per occurrence for workers’ compensation, automobile liability, general liability, and medical
and dental coverage of $2.0 million, $1.0 million, $1.0 million and $ 0.4 million, respectively. The Company maintains accruals in the accompanying consolidated
balance sheets related to self-insurance retentions based upon our claims history.
14. Net Loss Per Share
Loss per common share is determined by dividing net loss applicable to common stock by the weighted average number of common shares
outstanding during the year. Diluted loss per common share is based on the increased number of shares that would be outstanding assuming conversion of
dilutive outstanding securities.
The following table sets forth the computation of basic and diluted loss per share:
Year Ended December 31,
(in thousands, except per share data)
Numerator (both basic and diluted):
Loss from continuing operations
Loss from discontinued operations, net of tax

2020
$

Net loss available to common stockholders
Denominator:
Weighted-average shares used for basic and diluted earnings per share (a)

$

Loss from continuing operations per share, basic and diluted
Loss from discontinued operations per share, basic and diluted

$

Net loss per share, basic and diluted

$

2019
(249,208) $
(18,967)
(268,175) $
24,925
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(10.00) $
(0.76)
(10.76) $

(91,401)
(90,497)
(181,898)
26,141
(3.50)
(3.46)
(6.96)

(a) The Company has issued potentially dilutive instruments. However, the Company did not include these instruments in its calculation of diluted loss per share, because to
include them would be anti-dilutive.

The following table sets forth the weighted-average number of potentially dilutive instruments:
Year Ended December 31,
(in thousands)
Series A Preferred Stock
Warrants
Unvested restricted stock units
Stock options

2020

2019
96,407
2,067
257
194
98,925

Total

—
2,067
374
306
2,747

15. Fair Value Measurements
Recurring Fair Value Measurements
The following table summarizes our liability measured at fair value on a recurring basis:
Year Ended December 31,

2020
(in thousands)
Make-Whole Reimbursement Amount

Hierarchy
Level
3

$

Carrying
Amount
4,847

$

2019
Fair
Value
4,847

Carrying
Amount
$

Fair
Value
—

$

—

As a result of the CJWS acquisition, the Company has a Make-Whole Reimbursement derivative in place, which is classified within Other Current
Liabilities on our consolidated balance sheet. Changes in the fair value of derivative instruments subsequent to the initial measurement are recorded as Gain
(Loss) on Derivative in the accompanying consolidated statement of operations. The estimated fair value of the Company’s derivative liability is determined at
discrete points in time derived from the fair value of our Senior Notes, which resulted in the Company classifying the derivative liability as Level 3. As of
December 31, 2020, the fair value of the Make-Whole Reimbursement derivative is based on the risk-adjusted value of the $28.5 million estimated Make-Whole
Reimbursement Amount, which is calculated based on the differential between the trading value of the Ascribe Senior Notes as of December 31, 2020 and their
$34.4 million par value. The Company recorded a gain of $ 4.9 million as a result of the change in fair value of the Make-Whole Reimbursement derivative in the
year ended December 31, 2020. The Company did not have any additional assets or liabilities that were measured at fair value on a recurring basis as of
December 31, 2020 or December 31, 2019.
Nonrecurring Fair Value Measurements
Certain assets are not measured at fair value on an ongoing basis, but are subject to fair value adjustments only in certain circumstances. These
assets can include long-lived assets that have been reduced to fair value when they are held for sale and long-lived assets, including goodwill, that are written
down to fair value when they are impaired. Assets that are written down to fair value when impaired are not subsequently adjusted to fair value unless further
impairment occurs. For further discussion of these impairments, see Note 11. "Impairments and Other Charges." See Note 6. "Series A Participating Preferred
Stock" for further discussion of the valuation of this instrument.
The following table summarizes our fair value measurements made on a nonrecurring basis as of various dates during the periods presented. Please
note that these amounts represent the carrying amounts and fair values at the time of each measurement.
(in thousands)

Date of
Measurement

Hierarchy
Level

Well Servicing long-lived assets
Series A Participating Preferred Stock
Non-strategic real estate assets to be disposed
Well Servicing goodwill
Water Logistics goodwill

March 31, 2020
March 9, 2020
Dec 31, 2020
March 31, 2020
Dec 31, 2020

3
3
3
3
3

Carrying
Amount
$
$
$
$
$

153,879
22,000
8,231
10,565
8,524

Fair
Value
$
$
$
$
$

69,535
22,000
6,657
—
—

Fair Values of Financial Instruments
The carrying amounts of cash and cash equivalents, accounts receivable, accounts payable, and other current liabilities approximate fair value due to
the short maturities of these instruments. The carrying amount, if any,
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of our ABL Credit Facility in Long-Term Debt also approximates fair value due to its priority on security and variable-rate characteristics. The carrying amount of
the Second Lien Promissory Note, issued in October 2020, also approximates fair value as of December 31, 2020, after considering the sufficiency of its
security. The following is a summary of the carrying amounts, net of discounts, and estimated fair values of the Company's Senior Notes, Senior Secured
Promissory Note, and Second Lien Promissory Note as of December 31, 2020 and 2019:
December 31, 2020
Carrying
Fair
Amount
Value

Hierarchy
Level

(in thousands)

10.75% Senior Notes due 2023
Senior Secured Promissory Note
Second Lien Delayed Draw Promissory Note

2
3
3

$
$
$

289,359
9,184
15,000

$
$
$

December 31, 2019
Carrying
Fair
Amount
Value

44,992
2,103
15,000

$
$
$

297,844
—
—

$
$
$

213,246
—
—

The fair value of the 10.75% Senior Notes is based on their trading price as of December 31, 2020. The fair value of the Senior Secured Promissory
Note as of December 31, 2020 is calculated in accordance with ASC 820 "Fair Value Measurements" considering its security as compared to the Senior Notes
as well as the difference between the stated interest rate of this promissory note and market rates.
16. Business Segment Information
The Company’s reportable business segments are Well Servicing, Water Logistics, and Completion & Remedial Services. Costs related to other
business activities, primarily corporate headquarters functions, are disclosed separately from the three operating segments as "Corporate and Other." Corporate
expenses include general corporate expenses associated with managing all reportable operating segments. Corporate assets consist principally of working
capital and debt financing costs.
The Company evaluates segment performance on revenue less cost of services. Products are transferred between segments and geographical areas
on a basis intended to reflect as nearly as possible the market value of the products.
The following table sets forth financial information with respect to our reportable segments:
(in thousands)
Year ended December 31, 2020
Revenues
Costs of services
Segment profits
Depreciation and amortization
Capital expenditures
Total assets
Year ended December 31, 2019
Revenues
Costs of services
Segment profits
Depreciation and amortization
Capital expenditures
Total assets

Well Servicing
$

$
$

$

Completion &
Remedial Services

Water Logistics

212,817
174,011
38,806
9,447
2,359
39,812

$

226,966
181,516
45,450
18,766
14,525
78,686

$

$

$

138,935
112,232
26,703
25,115
3,585
102,232

$

199,816
141,379
58,437
26,143
26,209
118,960

$
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$

$

Corporate and
Other

59,623
51,824
7,799
11,774
1,764
54,601

$

140,468
98,654
41,814
19,964
7,033
42,560

$

$

$

Discontinued
Operations

Total

—
—
—
6,201
117
146,103

$

—
—
—
4,616
654
256,044

$

$

$

411,375
338,067
73,308
52,537
7,825
342,748

$

567,250
421,549
145,701
69,489
48,421
496,250

$

$

$

120
5,305
(5,185)
—
—
6,325
142,885
134,778
8,107
45,168
12,067
54,224

The following table reconciles the segment profits reported above to the loss from continuing operations before income taxes as reported in the
consolidated statements of operations:
Year Ended December 31,
(in thousands)
Segment profits
General and administrative expenses
Depreciation and amortization
Gain (loss) on disposal of assets
Impairment and other charges
Acquisition related costs
Interest expense, net
Gain on derivative
Other income

2020
$

$

Loss from continuing operations before income taxes

2019
73,308 $
(98,048)
(52,537)
6,138
(118,152)
(21,635)
(46,980)
4,866
—
(253,040) $

145,701
(115,464)
(69,489)
(2,135)
(8,262)
—
(42,378)
—
647
(91,380)

17. Quarterly Financial Data (Unaudited)
The following table summarizes results for each of the four quarters in the years ended December 31, 2020, and 2019:
(in thousands, except per share data)
Year ended December 31, 2020:
Total revenues
Total segment profits(1)
Loss from continuing operations
Loss from discontinued operations
Net loss
Loss from continuing operations per share, basic and diluted
Loss from discontinued operations per share, basic and diluted
Net loss per share, basic and diluted
Shares used in computing basic and diluted earnings per share
Year ended December 31, 2019:
Total revenues
Total segment profits(1)
Loss from continuing operations
Loss from discontinued operations
Net loss
Loss from continuing operations per share, basic and diluted
Loss from discontinued operations per share, basic and diluted
Net loss per share, basic and diluted
Shares used in computing basic and diluted earnings per share

First Quarter
$

$
$
$
$

$

$
$
$
$
$

Second Quarter

128,403
26,228
(136,429)
(8,452)
(144,881)
(5.48)
(0.34)
(5.82)
24,914

$

153,190
42,067
(14,786)
(12,690)
(27,476)
(0.55)
(0.47)
(1.02)
26,850

$

$
$
$
$

$
$
$
$
$

Third Quarter

89,637
18,361
(39,725)
(4,873)
(44,598)
(1.59)
(0.19)
(1.78)
24,957

$

147,975
38,915
(19,315)
(8,462)
(27,777)
(0.71)
(0.31)
(1.02)
27,204

$

$
$
$
$

$
$
$
$
$

Fourth Quarter

95,400
12,138
(29,153)
(2,926)
(32,079)
(1.17)
(0.12)
(1.29)
24,927

$

144,163
39,448
(24,778)
(14,100)
(38,878)
(0.97)
(0.55)
(1.52)
25,606

$

$
$
$
$

$
$
$
$
$

97,935
16,581
(43,901)
(2,716)
(46,617)
(1.76)
(0.11)
(1.87)
24,900
121,922
25,271
(32,522)
(55,245)
(87,767)
(1.30)
(2.22)
(3.52)
24,924

The sum of individual quarterly net loss per share may not agree to the total for the year due to each period's computation being based on the weighted average number of common shares
outstanding during such period.
(1) Total segment profits for the quarterly periods of 2019 and 2020 have been adjusted to conform to the current period presentation. These adjustments do not impact net loss for any
quarterly period and do not reflect a material change to the information previously presented in our consolidated financial statements.

18. Subsequent Event
Make-Whole Reimbursement
On March 31, 2020, the Company negotiated a settlement of the Make-Whole Reimbursement obligation with Ascribe as further discussed in Note 4.
“Indebtedness and Borrowing Facility” in exchange for issuing additional Senior Notes to Ascribe with an aggregate par value of $ 47.5 million. While the
Company is currently evaluating the accounting for this transaction, the final accounting treatment could result in a material charge to earnings in March 2021.
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ITEM 9. CHANGES IN AND DISAGREEMENTS WITH ACCOUNTANTS ON ACCOUNTING AND FINANCIAL DISCLOSURE
None.
ITEM 9A. CONTROLS AND PROCEDURES
Disclosure Controls and Procedures
Based on their evaluation as of the end of the fiscal year ended December 31, 2020, our principal executive officer and principal financial officer have
concluded that our disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e) under the Exchange Act) are effective to ensure, at a
reasonable assurance level, that information required to be disclosed in reports that we file or submit under the Exchange Act are recorded, processed,
summarized and reported within the time periods specified in the SEC’s rules and forms and effective to ensure that information required to be disclosed in such
reports is accumulated and communicated to our management, including our principal executive officer and principal financial officer, to allow timely decisions
regarding required disclosure.
Changes in Internal Control over Financial Reporting
As discussed in this Annual Report on Form 10-K, on March 9, 2020, we acquired all of the issued and outstanding shares of capital stock of CJWS. In
accordance with SEC Staff guidance, CJWS was excluded from our assessment of the effectiveness of internal control over financial reporting as of the end of
each quarterly period during 2020, as disclosed in our Form 10-Q. During the quarter ended December 31, 2020, we completed our integration of CJWS and
the oversight, policies, procedures, and monitoring that support our internal control over financial reporting has been extended to include CJWS.
During the most recent fiscal quarter, there have been no other changes in our internal control over financial reporting that have materially affected, or
are reasonably likely to materially affect, our internal control over financial reporting. We may make changes in our internal control procedures from time to time
in the future.
Design and Evaluation of Internal Control over Financial Reporting
Management’s Report on Internal Control over Financial Reporting is set forth below.
Management's Report on Internal Control over Financial Reporting
Management of Basic Energy Services, Inc. (“Basic” or the “Company”) is responsible for establishing and maintaining adequate internal control over
financial reporting and for the assessment of the effectiveness of internal control over financial reporting for the Company. As defined by the Securities and
Exchange Commission (Rule 13a-15(f) under the Exchange Act of 1934, as amended), internal control over financial reporting is a process designed by, or
under the supervision of Basic’s principal executive and principal financial officers and effected by its Board of Directors, management and other personnel, to
provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of the consolidated financial statements in accordance with
U.S. generally accepted accounting principles.
The Company’s internal control over financial reporting is supported by written policies and procedures that (1) pertain to the maintenance of records
that, in reasonable detail, accurately and fairly reflect the Company’s transactions and dispositions of the Company’s assets; (2) provide reasonable assurance
that transactions are recorded as necessary to permit preparation of the consolidated financial statements in accordance with U.S. generally accepted
accounting principles, and that receipts and expenditures of the Company are being made only in accordance with authorization of the Company’s management
and directors; and (3) provide reasonable assurance regarding prevention or timely detection of unauthorized acquisition, use or disposition of the Company’s
assets that could have a material effect on the consolidated financial statements.
Because of its inherent limitations, internal control over financial reporting may not prevent or detect misstatements. Also, projections of any evaluation
of effectiveness to future periods are subject to the risk that controls may become inadequate because of changes in conditions, or that the degree of
compliance with the policies or procedures may deteriorate.
In connection with the preparation of the Company’s annual consolidated financial statements, management has undertaken an assessment of the
effectiveness of the Company’s internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2020, based on criteria established in Internal Control — Integrated
Framework (2013) issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission (the COSO Framework). Management’s assessment
included an evaluation of the design of the Company’s internal control over financial reporting and testing of the operational effectiveness of those controls.
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Based on this assessment, management has concluded that as of December 31, 2020, the Company’s internal control over financial reporting was
effective to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in
accordance with U.S. generally accepted accounting principles.
ITEM 9B. OTHER INFORMATION
None.
PART III
Pursuant to paragraph 3 of General Instruction G to Form 10-K, the information required by Item 10, to the extent not set forth in Part I, Items 1 and 2
above, and Items 11 through 14 of Part III of this Report is incorporated by reference from our proxy statement for our 2021 annual meeting of stockholders,
which is to be filed pursuant to Regulation 14A within 120 days after the end of our fiscal year ended December 31, 2020.
PART IV
ITEM 15. EXHIBITS, FINANCIAL STATEMENT SCHEDULES
(a) Financial Statements, Schedules and Exhibits
(1) Financial Statements — Basic Energy Services, Inc. and Subsidiaries:
The Financial Statements listed in the Index to Consolidated Financial Statements are filed as part of this report on Form 10-K ( see Part II, Item 8,
Financial Statements and Supplementary Data ).
(2) Financial Statement Schedules
All consolidated financial statement schedules have been omitted because they are not required, are not applicable, or the required information has
been included elsewhere within this Form 10-K.
(3) Exhibits
The information required by this Section (a)(3) of Item 15 is set forth on the exhibit index following this page.
ITEM 16. FORM 10-K SUMMARY
Not applicable.
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Exhibit No.
2.1*
2.2*
2.3*‡
3.1*
3.2*
3.3*
3.4*
4.1*
4.2*
4.3*
4.4*
4.5*

4.6*

4.7*
4.8
10.1* †
10.2* †
10.3* †
10.4* †

Description
First Amended Joint Prepackaged Chapter 11 Plan of Basic Energy Services, Inc. and its affiliated Debtors, dated December 7, 2016
(Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 2.1 to Form 8-K (SEC File No. 001-32693) filed on December 12, 2016)
Findings of Fact, Conclusions of Law, and Order Approving the Debtors’ Joint Prepackaged Chapter 11 Plan of Basic Energy Services, Inc.
and its Affiliated Debtors, dated December 9, 2016 (Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 99.1 to Form 8-K (SEC File No. 001-32693) filed
December 12, 2016)
Purchase Agreement, dated as of March 9, 2020, by and among the Company, Ascribe III Investments LLC, Basic Energy Services, Inc.,
NexTier Holding Co. and C&J Well Services, Inc. (Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 2.3 to the Company’s Annual Report on Form 10-K
(SEC File No. 001-32693) filed on March 13, 2020)
Second Amended and Restated Certificate of Incorporation of Basic Energy Services, Inc. (Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 3.1 to the
Company’s Registration Statement on Form 8-A12B (SEC File No. 001-32693), filed on December 23, 2016)
Certificate of Amendment to the Second Amended and Restated Certificate of Incorporation of Basic Energy Services, Inc. (Incorporated by
reference to Exhibit 3.1 to the Company’s Current Report on Form 8-K (SEC File No. 001-32693) filed on May 12, 2020)
Certificate of Designations (Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 3.1 to Form 8-K (SEC File No. 001-32693) filed on March 11, 2020)
Second Amended and Restated Bylaws of Basic Energy Services, Inc. (Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 3.2 to the Company’s
Registration Statement on Form 8-A12B (SEC File No. 001-32693) filed on December 23, 2016)
Specimen Stock Certificate representing Common Stock of the Company (Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.1 of the Company’s
Registration Statement on Form 8-A12B (SEC File No. 001-32693), filed on December 23, 2016)
Warrant Agreement between Basic, as issuer, and American Stock Transfer & Trust Company, LLC, as warrant agent, dated as of December
23, 2016. (Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.1 to Form 8-A12G (SEC File No. 001-32693) filed on December 23, 2016)
Registration Rights Agreement, dated as of December 23, 2016, between Basic and certain stockholders (Incorporated by reference to
Exhibit 10.1 of the Company’s Registration Statement on Form 8-A12B (SEC File No. 001-32693) filed on December 23, 2016)
Indenture, dated as of October 2, 2018, by and among Basic Energy Services, Inc., the subsidiary guarantors party thereto and UMB Bank,
N.A., as trustee and collateral agent (Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.1 of the Company’s Current Report on Form 8 K (SEC File No.
001 32693) filed on October 9, 2018)
Form of 10.75% Senior Secured Note due 2023 (included as Exhibit A in Exhibit 4.4)
First Supplemental Indenture, dated as of August 22, 2019, by and among Agua Libre Midstream LLC, Agua Libre Holdco LLC, Agua Libre
Asset Co LLC, Basic Energy Services, Inc., the subsidiary guarantors party thereto and UMB Bank, N.A., as trustee and collateral agent
(Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.6 to the Company’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q (SEC File No. 001-32693) filed on November 1,
2019)
Second Supplemental Indenture, dated as of April 1, 2020, by and among C&J Well Services, Inc., KVS Transportation, Inc, Indigo Injection
#3, LLC, Basic Energy Services, Inc., the subsidiary guarantors party thereto and UMB Bank, N.A., as trustee and collateral agent
(Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.7 to the Company’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q (SEC File No. 001-32693) filed on August 7,
2020).
Description of Securities
Basic Energy Services, Inc. Management Incentive Plan, effective as of December 23, 2016 (Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to the
Company's Registration Statement on Form S-8 (SEC File No. 333-215319) filed on December 23, 2016)
Basic Energy Services, Inc. Non-Employee Director Incentive Plan (Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to the Company’s Registration
Statement on Form S-8 (SEC File No. 333-218224), filed on May 25, 2017).
First Amendment to the Basic Energy Services, Inc. Non-Employee Director Incentive Plan (Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.2 to the
Company’s Registration Statement on Form S-8 (SEC File No. 333-231519) filed on May 15, 2019)
Basic Energy Services, Inc. 2019 Long Term Incentive Plan (Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to the Company’s Registration
Statement on Form S-8 (SEC File No. 333-231521) filed on May 15, 2019)
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Form of Time-Based Restricted Stock Unit Award Agreement (Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.9 of the Company’s Current Report on
Form 8-K (SEC File No. 001-32693), filed on December 27, 2016)
Form of Time-Based Stock Option Award Agreement (Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.10 of the Company’s Current Report on Form
8-K (SEC File No. 001-32693), filed on December 27, 2016)
Form of Performance-Based Restricted Stock Unit Award Agreement (Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to Form 8-K (SEC File No.
001-32693), filed on February 28, 2017)
Form of Performance-Based Stock Unit Award Agreement (Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to the Company’s Current Report on
Form 8-K (SEC File No. 001-32693) filed on February 14, 2018)
Form of Key Employee Retention Bonus agreement (Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.5 of the Company’s Quarterly Report on Form
10-Q (SEC File No. 001-32693), filed on July 29, 2016)
Form of Key Employee Incentive Bonus agreement (Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.6 of the Company’s Quarterly Report on Form
10-Q (SEC File No. 001-32693), filed on July 29, 2016)
Form of Performance-Based Stock Option Award Agreement (Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.2 to Form 8-K (SEC File No. 00132693) filed on February 28, 2017)
Form of Phantom Share Award Agreement (Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.3 to Form 8-K (SEC File No. 001-32693) filed on
February 28, 2017)
Form of Non-Employee Director Stock Award Agreement and Notice (Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.3 of the Company’s Quarterly
Report on Form 10-Q (SEC File No. 001-32693), filed on July 31, 2017)
Form of Restricted Stock Award Agreement (LTIP) (Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.3 to the Company’s Current Report on Form 8-K
(SEC File No. 001-32693) filed on May 16, 2019)
Form of Performance-Based Phantom Share Award Agreement (LTIP) (Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.4 to the Company’s Current
Report on Form 8-K (SEC File No. 001-32693) filed on May 16, 2019)
Form of Time-Based Phantom Share Award Agreement (LTIP) (Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.5 to the Company’s Current Report
on Form 8-K (SEC File No. 001-32693) filed on May 16, 2019)
Form of Non-Employee Director Time-Based Restricted Stock Unit Award Agreement (Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.6 to the
Company’s Current Report on Form 8-K (SEC File No. 001-32693) filed on May 16, 2019)
Amended and Restated Employment Agreement of James F. Newman, effective as of November 24, 2008 (Incorporated by reference to
Exhibit 10.27 of the Company’s Annual Report on Form 10-K (SEC File No. 001-32693) filed on March 1, 2010)
Amendment to Amended and Restated Employment Agreement of James F. Newman, effective as of November 1, 2013. (Incorporated by
reference to Exhibit 10.1 of the Company’s Current Report on Form 8-K (SEC File No. 001-32693), filed on December 2, 2013)
Employment Agreement of Douglas B. Rogers, effective as of March 16, 2009. (Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.28 of the Company’s
Annual Report on Form 10-K (SEC File No. 001-32693), filed on March 1, 2010)
Form of Amendment to Employment Agreement, dated as of October 24, 2016 (Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.2 of the Company’s
Current Report on Form 8-K (SEC File No. 001-32693), filed on October 25, 2016)
Employment Agreement of William T. Dame, effective as of November 1, 2013 (Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.44 of the Company’s
Amendment No. 1 to Annual Report on Form 10-K (SEC File No. 001-32693), filed on April 6, 2017)
Separation and Release Agreement , dated February 7, 2020, by and between the Company and William T. Dame (Incorporated by reference
to Exhibit 10.1 to the Company’s Current Report on Form 8-K (SEC File No. 001-32693) filed on February 13, 2020)
Consulting Agreement, dated February 13, 2020, by and between the Company and William T. Dame (Incorporated by reference to Exhibit
10.1 to the Company’s Current Report on Form 8-K (SEC File No. 001-32693) filed on February 19, 2020)
Employment Agreement of Eric Lannen, effective as of August 1, 2015 (Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.45 of the Company’s
Amendment No. 1 to Annual Report on Form 10-K (SEC File No. 001-32693), filed on April 6, 2017)
Employment Agreement of David Schorlemer, effective as of August 27, 2018 (Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to the Company’s
Current Report on Form 8-K/A (SEC File No. 001-32693) filed on August 31, 2018)
Offer Letter of David Schorlemer, dated August 12, 2018 (Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.2 to the Company’s Current Report on
Form 8-K/A (SEC File No. 001-32693) filed on August 31, 2018)
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Separation and Release Agreement, dated September 28, 2020, by and between the Company and David S. Schorlemer (Incorporated by
reference to Exhibit 10.1 to the Company’s Current Report on Form 8-K (SEC File No. 001-32693) filed on September 30, 2020)
Amended and Restated Employment Agreement of Brett Taylor, dated December 12, 2018 (Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.2 of the
Company’s Current Report on Form 8-K (SEC File No. 001-32693) filed on December 13, 2018)
Form of Amendment to Employment Agreement by and between the Company and each executive officer other than Mr. Taylor and each
dated December 12, 2018 (Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 of the Company’s Current Report on Form 8-K (SEC File No. 00132693) filed on December 13, 2018)
Separation and Release Agreement, dated September 13, 2019, by and between the Company and T.M. Patterson (incorporated by
reference to Exhibit 10.1 to the Company’s Current Report on Form 8-K (SEC File No. 001-32693) filed on September 13, 2019)
Amendment to Separation and Release Agreement dated October 25, 2019, by and between the Company and T.M. Patterson (Incorporated
by reference to Exhibit 10.2 to the Company’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q (SEC File No. 001-32693) filed on November 1, 2019)
Offer Letter to Keith Schilling, dated December 16, 2019 (Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.2 to the Company’s Current Report on
Form 8-K (SEC File No. 001-32693) filed on December 19, 2019)
Employment Agreement of Keith Schilling, dated December 19, 2019 (Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to the Company’s Current
Report on Form 8-K (SEC File No. 001-32693) filed on December 19, 2019)
Employment Agreement of Jack Renshaw, dated March 9, 2020 (Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.5 to Form 8-K (SEC File No. 00132693) filed on March 11, 2020)
Form of Indemnification Agreement (Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.2 of the Company’s Current Report on Form 8-K (SEC File No.
001-32693) filed on May 17, 2017)
Key Employee Retention Bonus Plan , dated September 30, 2020 (Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to the Company’s Current
Report on Form 8-K (SEC File No. 001-32693) filed on October 6, 2020)
Employment Agreement of Michael Henry, dated November 9, 2020 (Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to the Company’s Current
Report on Form 8‑K (SEC File No. 001‑32693) filed on November 12, 2020)
ABL Credit Agreement, dated as of October 2, 2018, among Basic Energy Services, Inc., as borrower, Bank of America, N.A., as
administrative agent, swing line lender and L/C issuer, UBS Securities LLC, as syndication agent, PNC Bank National Association, as
documentation agent and an L/C issuer, and the other lenders from time to time party thereto (Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to
the Company’s Current Report on Form 8-K (SEC File No. 001-32693) filed on October 9, 2018)
Limited Consent and First Amendment to ABL Credit Agreement, dated as of March 9, 2020, among Basic Energy Services, Inc., as
borrower, certain subsidiaries of borrower, and Bank of America, N.A., as administrative agent, swing line lender and L/C issuer,
(Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.3 to Form 8-K (SEC File No. 001-32693) filed on March 11, 2020)
Second Amendment to ABL Credit Agreement, dated as of June 15, 2020, by and among the Company, the guarantors party thereto, the
financial institutions party thereto and Bank of America, N.A. (Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to the Company’s Current Report on
Form 8-K (SEC File No. 001-32693) filed on June 16, 2020)
Third Amendment to ABL Credit Agreement, dated October 15, 2020, by and among the Company, the subsidiaries of the Company party
thereto, the financial institutions party to the amendment constituting the Required Lenders, and Bank of America, N.A., as administrative
agent for the Lenders (Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.3 to the Company’s Current Report on Form 8-K (SEC File No. 001-32693)
filed on October 21, 2020)
Limited Waiver, dated March 31, 2021, by and among Basic Energy Services, Inc., as borrower, certain subsidiaries of borrower, the
financial institutions party to the Limited Waiver constituting the Required Lenders and Bank of America, N.A., as administrative agent, swing
line lender and L/C issuer
Security Agreement, dated as of October 2, 2018, among Basic Energy Services, Inc., as Borrower, the other Debtors party thereto, and
UMB Bank, N.A., as administrative agent (Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.2 to the Company’s Current Report on Form 8-K (SEC File
No. 001-32693) filed on October 9, 2018)
Supplement No. 1 to Security Agreement, dated as of August 22, 2019, by and among Basic Energy Services, Inc., as Borrower, the other
Debtors party thereto, and UMB Bank, N.A., as collateral agent (Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.4 to the Company’s Quarterly Report
on Form 10-Q (SEC File No. 001-32693) filed on November 1, 2019)
Supplement No. 2 to Security Agreement , dated as of April 1, 2020, by and among Basic Energy Services, Inc., as Borrower, the other
Debtors party thereto, and UMB Bank, N.A., as collateral agent (Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.2 to the Company’s Quarterly Report
on Form 10 Q (SEC File No. 001 32693) filed on August 7, 2020)
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Security Agreement, dated as of October 2, 2018, among Basic Energy Services, Inc., as Borrower, the other Debtors party thereto, and
Bank of America, N.A., as administrative agent (Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.3 to the Company’s Current Report on Form 8-K
(SEC File No. 001-32693) filed on October 9, 2018)
Supplement No. 1 to Security Agreement, dated as of August 22, 2019, by and among Basic Energy Services, Inc., as Borrower, the other
Debtors party thereto, and Bank of America, N.A., as administrative agent (Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.3 to the Company’s
Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q (SEC File No. 001-32693) filed on November 1, 2019
Exchange Agreement, dated as of March 9, 2020, by and between Basic Energy Services, Inc. and Ascribe III Investments LLC
(Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to Form 8-K (SEC File No. 001-32693) filed on March 11, 2020)
First Amendment to Exchange Agreement, dated November 5, 2020, by and between Basic Energy Services, Inc. and Ascribe III
Investments LLC (Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.2 to Form 8‑K (SEC File No. 001‑32693) filed on November 5, 2020)
Second Amendment to Exchange Agreement, dated March 31, 2021, by and between Basic Energy Services, Inc. and Ascribe III
Investments LLC
Stockholders Agreement, dated as of March 9, 2020, by and between Basic Energy Services, Inc. and Ascribe III Investments LLC
(Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.2 to Form 8-K (SEC File No. 001-32693) filed on March 11, 2020)
Senior Secured Promissory Note, dated March 9, 2020, issued by Basic Energy Services, Inc. in favor of Ascribe III Investments LLC
(Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.4 to Form 8-K (SEC File No. 001-32693) filed on March 11, 2020)
Bridge Note Guaranty Supplement, dated as of April 1, 2020, to Senior Secured Promissory Note issued by Basic Energy Services, Inc. in
favor of Ascribe III Investments LLC (Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.3 to the Company’s Quarterly Report on Form 10 Q (SEC File
No. 001 32693) filed on August 7, 2020)
Second Lien Delayed Draw Promissory Note, dated October 15, 2020, by and between the Company and Ascribe III Investments LLC
(Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to the Company’s Current Report on Form 8-K (SEC File No. 001-32693) filed on October 21,
2020)
Second Lien Security Agreement , dated as of October 15, 2020, by and among the Company, certain subsidiaries of the Company party
thereto and Ascribe III Investments LLC (Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.2 to the Company’s Current Report on Form 8-K (SEC File
No. 001-32693) filed on October 21, 2020)
Commitment Agreement, dated November 5, 2020, by and between Basic Energy Services, Inc. and Ascribe III Investments LLC
(Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to Form 8‑K (SEC File No. 001‑32693) filed on November 5, 2020)
Subsidiaries of the Company
Consent of KPMG LLP
Certification by Chief Executive Officer required by Rule 13a-14(a) and 15d-14(a) under the Exchange Act
Certification by Chief Financial Officer required by Rule 13a-14(a) and 15d-14(a) under the Exchange Act
Certification by Chief Executive Officer pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as adopted pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act
of 2002
Certification of Chief Financial Officer pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as adopted pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of
2002
XBRL Instance Document
XBRL Taxonomy Extension Schema Document
XBRL Taxonomy Extension Calculation Linkbase Document
XBRL Taxonomy Extension Label Linkbase Document
XBRL Taxonomy Extension Presentation Linkbase Document
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XBRL Taxonomy Extension Definition Linkbase Document
Incorporated by reference
Management contract or compensatory plan or arrangement
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The exhibits and schedules to this Exhibit have been omitted in accordance with Regulation S-K Item 601(b)(2). The Company agrees to furnish
supplementally a copy of any omitted exhibit or schedule to the SEC upon its request.
The exhibits and schedules to this Exhibit have been omitted in accordance with Regulation S‑K Item 601(a)(5). The Company agrees to furnish
supplementally a copy of any omitted exhibit or schedule to the SEC upon its request.
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SIGNATURES
Pursuant to the requirements of Section 13 or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the registrant has duly caused this report to be signed on
its behalf by the undersigned, thereunto duly authorized.
BASIC ENERGY SERVICES, INC.
By:

/s/ Keith L. Schilling
Name: Keith L. Schilling
Title:
President, Chief Executive Officer and Director

Date: March 31, 2021
Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, this report has been signed below by the following persons on behalf of the
registrant and in the capacities and on the dates indicated.
Signature

Title

Date

President, Chief Executive Officer and
Director (Principal Executive Officer)

March 31, 2021

Executive Vice President,
Chief Financial Officer,
Treasurer and Secretary
(Principal Financial Officer)

March 31, 2021

Vice President and
Chief Accounting Officer
(Principal Accounting Officer)

March 31, 2021

/s/ Julio Quintana
Julio Quintana

Chairman of the Board

March 31, 2021

/s/ Lawrence First
Lawrence First

Director

March 31, 2021

/s/ John Jackson
John Jackson

Director

March 31, 2021

/s/ Derek Jeong
Derek Jeong

Director

March 31, 2021

/s/ James D. Kern
James D. Kern

Director

March 31, 2021

/s/ Ross Solomon
Ross Solomon

Director

March 31, 2021

/s/

/s/

Keith L. Schilling
Keith L. Schilling
Adam L. Hurley
Adam L. Hurley

/s/

Michael S. Henry
Michael S. Henry
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Exhibit 4.8

BASIC ENERGY SERVICES, INC.
DESCRIPTION OF SECURITIES
The following summary of each of our capital stock, Second Amended and Restated Certificate of Incorporation (as
amended, the “Certificate of Incorporation”), Certificate of Designations of Series A Participating Preferred Stock (the “Certificate
of Designations”) and Second Amended and Restated Bylaws (the “Bylaws”) does not purport to be complete and is qualified in its
entirety by reference to the provisions of applicable law, our Certificate of Incorporation, Certificate of Amendment to our
Certificate of Incorporation, our Certificate of Designations and our Bylaws, which are filed as Exhibits 3.1, 3.2, 3.3 and 3.4 to this
Annual Report on Form 10-K, respectively.
Authorized and Outstanding Capital Stock
Basic Energy Services, Inc., a Delaware corporation (“we”, or the “Company”), has authorized capital stock consisting of
198,805,000 shares of common stock and 5,000,000 shares of preferred stock. As of March 26, 2021, there were 24,899,932
shares of the Company’s common stock and 118,805 shares of the Company’s Series A Preferred Stock (as defined below)
outstanding.
Common Stock
Our Certificate of Incorporation authorizes us to issue 198,805,000 shares of common stock, par value $0.01 per share. As of
March 26, 2021, there were 24,899,932 shares of the Company’s common stock outstanding, all of which are fully paid and nonassessable. Our common stock is traded on the OTCQX Best Market tier of the OTC Markets Group Inc. under the symbol
“BASX”.
Holders of common stock are entitled to one vote per share on all matters to be voted upon by the stockholders. Because
holders of common stock do not have cumulative voting rights, the holders of a majority of the shares of the voting shares
represented by outstanding common stock and Series A Preferred Stock (as defined below) can elect all of the members of the
board of directors (the “Board”) standing for election. Upon our liquidation, dissolution or winding up, and subject to any prior
rights of outstanding preferred stock, the holders of our common stock will be entitled to share pro rata in the distribution of all of
our assets available for distribution to our stockholders after satisfaction of all of our liabilities and the payment of the liquidation
preference of any preferred stock that may be outstanding.
The holders of common stock are entitled to receive dividends as may be declared by the Board in its discretion out of any
assets or funds of the Company legally available for the payment of dividends.
Other Rights
The holders of our common stock will have no preemptive or other subscription rights to purchase our common stock. There
are no redemption or sinking fund provisions applicable to the common stock.
Preferred Stock
Our Certificate of Incorporation authorizes us to issue 5,000,000 shares of preferred stock, par value $0.01 per share, in one
or more series with such voting powers, full or limited, or no voting powers and such designations, preferences and relative
participation, optional or other

special rights, and the qualifications, limitations or restrictions thereof as shall be stated in the resolutions of the Board providing
for their issuance.
Series A Participating Preferred Stock
As of March 26, 2021, there were 118,805 shares of the Company’s Series A Participating Preferred Stock (“Series A
Preferred Stock”) outstanding, all of which are fully paid and non-assessable. The rights of the stockholders of Series A Preferred
Stock may not be amended by merger, consolidation or otherwise, in any manner which would adversely affect the rights,
privileges or powers of the Series A Preferred Stock without, in addition to any other vote of stockholders required by law, the
affirmative vote of the holders of two-thirds of the outstanding shares of Series A Preferred Stock, voting separately as a single
class.
Ranking
Unless otherwise provided in the Certificate of Incorporation, or a certificate of designations relating to a subsequent series of
preferred stock of the Company, the Series A Preferred Stock ranks junior to all other series of our preferred stock as to the
payment of dividends and distributions of assets on liquidation, dissolution or winding up and senior to the common stock of the
Company.
Liquidation Rights
Upon any voluntary or involuntary liquidation, dissolution or winding up of the Company, the holders of shares of Series A
Preferred Stock are entitled to receive for each share of Series A Preferred Stock an amount equal to the product of the
aggregate amount to be distributed per share to holders of the common stock of the Company multiplied by one thousand,
hereinafter referred to as the Liquidation Multiple. The Liquidation Multiple is subject to adjustment in the event of any declaration
or payment of dividends or distributions on the common stock of the Company payable in shares of common stock, or any
subdivision or split or combination, consolidation, reverse split or reclassification of the outstanding shares of common stock into a
greater or lesser number of shares of common stock. In each such case, the Liquidation Multiple thereafter applicable is to be the
Liquidation Multiple immediately prior to such event multiplied by a fraction the numerator of which is the number of shares of
common stock outstanding immediately after such event and the denominator of which is the number of shares of common stock
that were outstanding immediately prior to such event.
Consolidation, Merger, Combination or Exchange
Upon any consolidation, merger, combination or other transaction in which the shares of common stock of the Company are
exchanged for or changed into other stock or securities, cash and/or any other property, each outstanding share of Series A
Preferred Stock is entitled to, at the same time, be similarly exchanged for or changed into the aggregate amount of stock,
securities and/or other property for which or into which each share of common stock is changed or exchanged multiplied by the
highest of the Vote Multiple (as defined below), the Dividend Multiple (as defined below) or the Liquidation Multiple in effect
immediately prior to such event.
Voting Rights
The holders of shares of Series A Preferred Stock are entitled to one thousand votes per share of Series A Preferred Stock
on all matters submitted to a vote of the holders of common stock of the Company. The number of votes which a holder of shares
of Series A Preferred Stock is entitled to cast, herein referred to as the “Vote Multiple”, is subject to adjustment from time to time.
In the event of any declaration or payment of dividends or distributions on the common stock of the Company payable in shares
of common stock, or any subdivision or split or combination, consolidation, reverse split or reclassification of the outstanding
shares of common stock into a greater or lesser number of shares of common stock, then in each such case, the

Voting Multiple thereafter applicable is to be the Vote Multiple immediately prior to such event multiplied by a fraction the
numerator of which is the number of shares of common stock outstanding immediately after such event and the denominator of
which is the number of shares of common stock that were outstanding immediately prior to such event.
Except as otherwise provided by law, the holders of shares of Series A Preferred Stock and the holders of common stock
vote together as a single class on all matters submitted to a vote of holders of common stock.
Dividends and Distributions
The holders of shares of Series A Preferred Stock are entitled to receive dividends or distributions when, as and if declared
by the Board out of funds legally available for that purpose, with respect to each share of Series A Preferred Stock in an amount
per share equal to the product of the aggregate per share amount of each cash or non-cash dividend declared on the common
stock of the Company multiplied by one thousand, herein referred to as the “Dividend Multiple”. The Dividend Multiple is subject to
adjustment in the event of any declaration or payment of dividends or distributions on the common stock of the Company payable
in shares of common stock, or any subdivision or split or combination, consolidation, reverse split or reclassification of the
outstanding shares of common stock into a greater or lesser number of shares of common stock. In each such case, the Dividend
Multiple thereafter applicable is to be the Dividend Multiple immediately prior to such event multiplied by a fraction the numerator
of which is the number of shares of common stock outstanding immediately after such event and the denominator of which is the
number of shares of common stock that were outstanding immediately prior to such event.
We will declare each dividend or distribution at the same time we declare any cash or non-cash dividend or distribution on
the common stock of the Company in respect of which a dividend or distribution is required to be paid, and no cash or non-cash
dividend or distribution on the common stock in respect of which a dividend or distribution is required to be paid may be paid or
set aside for payment on the common stock unless a full dividend or distribution on the common stock has been simultaneously
paid or set aside for payment on the Series A Preferred Stock.
The Board may fix a record date for the determination of holders of shares of Series A Preferred Stock entitled to receive
payment of any dividend or distribution declared thereon. The record date may not be more than sixty days prior to the date fixed
for the payment thereof. If a record date is fixed for a dividend or distribution on the common stock of the Company in respect of
which a dividend or distribution is required to be paid, such record date fixed for the Series A Preferred Stock must be the same
date as the record date fixed for such dividend or distribution on the common stock.
Conversion
Upon written notice, subject to certain conversion procedures and the limitations, if any, imposed by Delaware General
Corporation Law (the “DGCL”), the Company may elect to convert all or any portion of the outstanding shares of Series A
Preferred Stock into shares of authorized but unissued shares of common stock. In addition, upon written notice, subject to certain
conversion procedures and the limitations, if any, imposed by the DGCL, each holder of Series A Preferred Stock may elect to
convert all or any portion of the outstanding shares of Series A Preferred Stock held by such holder into authorized but unissued
shares of common stock available for conversion. In the event that a holder of Series A Preferred Stock elects to convert all or a
portion of its shares of Series A Preferred Stock, the Company will set a conversion date that will not be less than three business
days or more than twenty business days following receipt of conversion notice.

Upon any election for conversion, the shares of Series A Preferred Stock to be converted will be converted into a number of
shares of common stock equal to the product of the number of shares of Series A Preferred Stock being so converted multiplied
by one thousand, herein referred to as the “Conversion Multiple”. The Conversion Multiple is subject to adjustment in the event of
any declaration or payment of dividends or distributions on the common stock of the Company payable in shares of common
stock, or any subdivision or split or combination, consolidation, reverse split or reclassification of the outstanding shares of
common stock into a greater or lesser number of shares of common stock. In each such case, the Conversion Multiple thereafter
applicable is to be the Conversion Multiple immediately prior to such event multiplied by a fraction the numerator of which is the
number of shares of common stock outstanding immediately after such event and the denominator of which is the number of
shares of common stock that were outstanding immediately prior to such event. If the conversion is at the election of the
Company and such request includes shares which constitute less than all outstanding shares of Series A Preferred Stock, the
conversion of shares will be effectuated by the Company pro rata among all holders of Series A Preferred Stock.
All shares of common stock delivered upon conversion will be duly and validly authorized and issued, fully paid and nonassessable, free from all preemptive rights, taxes, liens, security interests, charges and encumbrances (other than liens, security
interests, charges or encumbrances created by or imposed upon the holder thereof or taxes in respect of any transfer occurring
contemporaneously therewith involving the issuance or delivery of shares in name other than that of the holder of the shares to
be converted). All shares of Series A Preferred Stock that are converted will be automatically cancelled and retired and cease to
exist, and will return to the status of authorized but unissued shares of preferred stock undesignated as to series.
Redemption
The shares of Series A Preferred Stock are not redeemable at the option of the Company or any holder thereof.
Notwithstanding the foregoing sentence, we may acquire shares of Series A Preferred Stock in any other manner permitted by
law, by the provisions of the Series A Preferred Stock Certificate of Designation and by the Certificate of Incorporation.
Reacquired Shares
Any shares of Series A Preferred Stock purchased or otherwise acquired by the Company in any manner whatsoever will be
retired and cancelled promptly after the acquisition thereof. All such shares upon their retirement and cancellation will become
authorized but unissued shares of preferred stock, without designation as to series.
Other Rights
The holders of our Series A Preferred Stock have no preemptive or other subscription rights to purchase our Series A
Preferred Stock or common stock. The Series A Preferred Stock will not have the benefit of any sinking fund.
Stock Options and Warrants
There are currently outstanding warrants held by our former equity holders to purchase up to approximately 2,066,627
shares of our common stock. These warrants are exercisable at a purchase price of $55.25 per share and expire on December
23, 2023. These warrants were issued by us on December 23, 2016 pursuant to the First Amended and Restated Joint
Prepackaged Chapter 11 Plan of Basic Energy Services, Inc. and its affiliated debtors.
As of March 26, 2021, we had 194,264 outstanding options to purchase our common stock, issued under the Basic Energy
Services, Inc. Management Incentive Plan (“MIP”), and 158,664 shares of unvested restricted stock, issued under the Basic
Energy Services, Inc. 2019 Long

Term Incentive Plan (“LTIP”). We may in the future issue additional stock options and restricted shares of common stock to certain
officers and directors and to third-party consultants pursuant to the LTIP, the Basic Energy Services, Inc, Non-Employee Director
Incentive Plan or other equity incentive plan adopted by the Board.
Anti-Takeover Effects of Provisions of our Certificate of Incorporation, our Bylaws and Delaware Law
Some provisions of Delaware law, our Certificate of Incorporation and our Bylaws described below could make the following
transactions more difficult: acquisitions of us by means of a tender offer, a proxy contest or otherwise; or removal of our
incumbent officers and directors. These provisions may also have the effect of preventing changes in our management. It is
possible that these provisions could make it more difficult to accomplish or could deter transactions that stockholders may
otherwise consider to be in their best interest or in our best interests, including transactions that might result in a premium over
the market price for our shares.
These provisions, summarized below, are expected to discourage coercive takeover practices and inadequate takeover bids.
These provisions are also designed to encourage persons seeking to acquire control of us to first negotiate with us. We believe
that the benefits of increased protection and our potential ability to negotiate with the proponent of an unfriendly or unsolicited
proposal to acquire or restructure us outweigh the disadvantages of discouraging these proposals because, among other things,
negotiation of these proposals could result in an improvement of their terms.
Delaware Law
We are subject to the provisions of Section 203 of the DGCL, regulating corporate takeovers. In general, Section 203
prohibits a publicly held Delaware corporation from engaging in a “business combination” with an “interested stockholder” for a
three-year period following the time that such stockholder becomes an interested stockholder, unless the business combination is
approved in a prescribed manner. A “business combination” includes, among other things, a merger or consolidation, asset or
stock sale, or other transaction resulting in a financial benefit to the interested stockholder. An “interested stockholder” is a person
who, together with affiliates and associates, owns, or did own within three years prior to the determination of interested
stockholder status, 15% or more of the corporation’s outstanding voting stock. Under Section 203, a business combination
between a corporation and an interested stockholder is prohibited unless it satisfies one of the following conditions:
• the transaction is approved by the Board before the date the interested stockholder attained that status;
• upon consummation of the transaction that resulted in the stockholder becoming an interested stockholder, the interested
stockholder owned at least 85% of the voting stock of the corporation outstanding at the time the transaction commenced,
excluding for purposes of determining the voting stock outstanding, shares owned by persons who are directors and also
officers, and employee stock plans, in some instances; or
• on or after such time, the business combination is approved by the Board and authorized at a meeting of stockholders by at
least two-thirds of the outstanding voting stock that is not owned by the interested stockholder.
Certificate of Incorporation and Bylaws
Provisions of our Certificate of Incorporation and Bylaws may delay or discourage transactions involving an actual or
potential change in control or change in our management, including transactions in which stockholders might otherwise receive a
premium for their shares,

or transactions that our stockholders might otherwise deem to be in their best interests. Therefore, these provisions could
adversely affect the price of our common stock.
Among other things, our Certificate of Incorporation and Bylaws:
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•

permit the Board to issue up to 5,000,000 shares of preferred stock, with any rights, preferences and privileges as they may
designate;
provide that all vacancies, including newly created directorships, may, except as otherwise required by law, be filled by the
affirmative vote of a majority of directors then in office;
provide that our Bylaws may only be amended by the affirmative vote of the majority of the Board or the holders of two-thirds
of our then outstanding common stock;
preclude the ability of our stockholders to call special meetings of stockholders;
preclude the ability of our stockholders to remove directors without cause;
eliminate the personal liability of our directors for monetary damages resulting from breaches of their fiduciary duty to the
extent permitted by the DGCL and indemnify our directors and officers to the fullest extent permitted by the DGCL;
provide for a classified Board divided into three classes serving staggered three-year terms, making it more difficult for
stockholders to change the composition of the Board;
provide that stockholders seeking to present proposals before a meeting of stockholders or to nominate candidates for
election as directors at a meeting of stockholders must provide notice in writing in a timely manner, and also specify
requirements as to the form and content of a stockholder’s notice; and
do not provide for cumulative voting rights, therefore allowing the holders of a majority of the shares of common stock
entitled to vote in any election of directors to elect all of the directors standing for election, if they should so choose.

Limitation of Liability and Indemnification Matters
Our Certificate of Incorporation limits the liability of our directors for monetary damages for breach of their fiduciary duty as
directors, except for liability that cannot be eliminated under the Delaware law. The DGCL provides that directors of a corporation
will not be personally liable for monetary damages for breach of their fiduciary duty as directors, except for liabilities:
• for any breach of the director’s duty of loyalty to the corporation or its stockholders;
• for acts or omissions not in good faith or which involve intentional misconduct or a knowing violation of law;
• for unlawful payment of dividend or unlawful stock purchase or redemption; or
• for any transaction from which the director derived an improper personal benefit.
Our Certificate of Incorporation and Bylaws also provide that we will indemnify our directors and officers to the fullest extent
permitted by Delaware law. We believe that the limitation of liability provision in our Certificate of Incorporation will facilitate our
ability to continue to attract and retain qualified individuals to serve as directors and officers.
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LIMITED WAIVER
This LIMITED WAIVER (this “Limited Waiver”) is entered into as of March 31, 2021 by and among BASIC ENERGY SERVICES, INC., a Delaware
corporation ( “Borrower”), the Subsidiaries of Borrower party to this Limited Waiver (collectively, the “ Guarantors”), the financial institutions party to this Limited
Waiver constituting the Required Lenders, and BANK OF AMERICA, N.A. , a national banking association (“ Bank of America”), as administrative agent for the
Lenders (in such capacity, “Administrative Agent”), a Swing Line Lender and an L/C Issuer.
A. Borrower has entered into that certain ABL Credit Agreement, dated as of October 2, 2018 (as amended by that certain Limited Consent and First
Amendment to ABL Credit Agreement dated as of March 9, 2020, as further amended by that certain Second Amendment to ABL Credit Agreement dated as of
June 15, 2020, as further amended by that certain Third Amendment to ABL Credit Agreement dated as of October 15, 2020. and as may be further amended,
restated, amended and restated, supplemented or otherwise modified from time to time, the “Credit Agreement”), with the Lenders party thereto and
Administrative Agent.
B. Borrower has advised Administrative Agent and Lenders that (i) it expects to be unable to comply with the requirement under Section 6.01(a) of the
Credit Agreement that the report and opinion accompanying the audited financial statements of Borrower and its Subsidiaries for the fiscal year ended
December 31, 2020 be delivered without a “going concern” or like qualification or exception (the “2020 Unqualified Audit Requirement”), non-compliance with
which would constitute an immediate Event of Default under the Credit Agreement and (ii) it wishes to reduce the Aggregate Commitments from $75,000,000 to
$60,000,000 (the “Commitment Reduction”).
C . Borrower has requested that Administrative Agent and Lenders constituting at least the Required Lenders waive the 2020 Unqualified Audit
Requirement and any Default or Event of Default which would otherwise arise as a result of Borrower’s failure to comply with the 2020 Unqualified Audit
Requirement (collectively, the “Potential Defaults”).
D. Subject to and upon the terms and conditions set forth herein, Lenders party hereto have agreed to enter into this Limited Waiver.
NOW THEREFORE, for and in consideration of the mutual covenants and agreements herein contained and other good and valuable consideration, the
receipt and sufficiency of which are hereby acknowledged, Borrower, Administrative Agent, and Lenders party hereto hereby agree as follows:
1. Limited Waiver. In reliance upon the representations, warranties, covenants and agreements contained in this Limited Waiver, and subject to the
conditions precedent set forth in Section 2 hereof, Administrative Agent and the Required Lenders hereby permanently waive the Potential Defaults for
all purposes under the Loan Documents. The waiver provided in this Section 1 shall apply solely with regard to the Potential Defaults, and nothing
contained in this Limited Waiver shall be deemed a consent to, or waiver of, any other action or inaction of Borrower or any other Loan Party that
constitutes (or would constitute) a violation of or a departure from any provision of the Credit Agreement or any other Loan Document, or which
constitutes (or would constitute) a Default or Event of Default. The waiver described in this Section 1 is a one-time waiver limited to the 2020 Unqualified
Audit Requirement and in no way affects or alters Borrower’s obligation to deliver to Administrative Agent its audited financial statements for the fiscal
year ended December 31, 2020 at such time and containing such information as is required by Section 6.01(a) of the Credit Agreement. Neither Lenders
nor Administrative Agent shall be obligated to grant any future waivers, consents or amendments with respect to Section 6.01(a) of the Credit Agreement
or any other provision of the Credit Agreement or of any other Loan Document. Other than the waiver provided for in this Section 1, Borrower and
Guarantors hereby agree and acknowledge that no course of dealing and no delay in exercising any right, power or remedy conferred on Administrative
Agent or any Lender in the Credit Agreement or in any other Loan Document or now or hereafter existing at law, in equity, by statute or otherwise shall
operate as a waiver of or otherwise prejudice any such right, power or remedy.
2. Conditions Precedent. This Limited Waiver shall become effective as of the date first written above only upon satisfaction in full (or written waiver,
including in the form of an email, by the Administrative Agent) of the following conditions precedent to the satisfaction of Administrative Agent (the
“Waiver Effective Date”):
2.1
Counterparts. Administrative Agent shall have received counterparts of this Limited Waiver duly executed by Borrower, Guarantors and
Lenders constituting at least the Required Lenders.
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2.2

Field Exam. Administrative Agent or its field examiners shall have received all information necessary to complete the current field exam.

2.3 Information Requests. Administrative Agent shall be reasonably satisfied that Borrower shall have complied with all the information requests
submitted by FTI Consulting, Inc. to the extent such information is readily available to Borrower.
2.4 Fees and Expenses. Borrower shall have paid (a) all fees and expenses incurred by Administrative Agent on or prior to the Waiver Effective
Date that are required to be paid under the Loan Documents, including all invoiced fees and expenses of Administrative Agent’s legal counsel and
financial advisor, and 9b0 all fronting fees and documentary and processing charges owing to any L/C Issuer under Section 2.03(i) of the Credit
Agreement
3. Reduction of Aggregate Commitments . Effective as of Waiver Effective Date, the “ Commitments and Applicable Percentages ” table set forth on
Schedule 1.01 to the Credit Agreement is amended and restated in its entirety as set forth on Schedule 1 attached hereto.
4. Representations and Warranties of Borrower . To induce Lenders and Administrative Agent to enter into this Limited Waiver, Borrower hereby
represents and warrants to Lenders and Administrative Agent as of the Waiver Effective Date as follows:
4.1
Reaffirmation of Existing Representations and Warranties . After giving effect to the waiver set forth in Section 1 hereof, the
representations and warranties contained in Article V of the Credit Agreement and in each other Loan Document are true and correct in all material
respects (except to the extent that such representations and warranties are qualified by materiality, in which case such representations and warranties
are true and correct in all respects) on the date hereof, except to the extent that such representations and warranties specifically refer to an earlier date,
in which case they were true and correct in all material respects as of such earlier date.
4.2
Effect on Loan Documents . The Credit Agreement and all other Loan Documents remain in full force and effect. Except as provided in
Section 1 hereof, nothing herein shall act as a waiver of any of Administrative Agent’s or any Lender’s rights under the Loan Documents, including the
waiver of any Default or Event of Default. The Loan Parties acknowledge and agree that this Limited Waiver shall in no manner impair or affect the validity
or enforceability of the Credit Agreement.
4.3 No Default or Event of Default . After giving effect to the waiver set forth in Section 1 hereof, no Default or Event of Default has occurred
which is continuing.
4.4 Acknowledgment of No Defenses. As of the Waiver Effective Date, no Loan Party has any defense to (a) such Loan Party’s obligation to pay
the Obligations when due, or (b) the validity, enforceability or binding effect against Borrower or any other Loan Party of the Credit Agreement or any of
the other Loan Documents (to the extent a party thereto) or any Liens intended to be created thereby.
5. Miscellaneous.
5.1 Reaffirmation of Loan Documents. Any and all of the terms and provisions of the Credit Agreement and the Loan Documents shall, except as
modified hereby, remain in full force and effect. The waiver contemplated hereby shall not limit or impair any Lien securing the Obligations, each of which
is hereby ratified and affirmed. The execution, delivery and effectiveness of this Limited Waiver shall not, except as provided herein, operate as a waiver
of any right, power or remedy of any Lender or Administrative Agent under any of the Loan Documents, nor, except as provided in Section 1 and
Section 3 hereof, constitute a waiver or amendment of any provision of any of the Loan Documents.
5 . 2 Parties in Interest. All of the terms and provisions of this Limited Waiver shall bind, and inure to the benefit of, the parties hereto and their
respective successors and permitted assigns.
5.3 Counterparts. This Limited Waiver may be executed in counterparts, including, without limitation, by electronic signature, and all parties need
not execute the same counterpart. Facsimiles or other electronic transmissions (e.g. .pdfs) of such executed counterparts shall be effective as originals.
5.4 ENTIRE AGREEMENT. THIS LIMITED WAIVER AND THE OTHER LOAN DOCUMENTS REPRESENT THE FINAL AGREEMENT AMONG
THE PARTIES AS TO THE SUBJECT MATTER HEREOF AND THEREOF AND MAY NOT BE CONTRADICTED BY EVIDENCE OF PRIOR,
CONTEMPORANEOUS, OR SUBSEQUENT ORAL AGREEMENTS OF THE PARTIES. THERE ARE NO UNWRITTEN ORAL AGREEMENTS AMONG
THE PARTIES.
5.5

Headings. The headings, captions and arrangements used in this Limited Waiver are for
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convenience only and shall not be deemed to limit, amplify or modify the terms of this Limited Waiver, nor affect the meaning thereof.
5.6 Effectiveness. This Limited Waiver shall be effective automatically and without necessity of any further action by Loan Parties, Administrative
Agent or Lenders when counterparts hereof have been executed by Borrower, Guarantors and the Required Lenders, and all conditions to the
effectiveness hereof set forth herein have been satisfied (or waived).
5.7 GOVERNING LAW . THIS LIMITED WAIVER SHALL BE GOVERNED BY, AND CONSTRUED IN ACCORDANCE WITH, THE LAWS OF THE
STATE OF NEW YORK.
5.8 Modification. On and after the Waiver Effective Date, each reference in the Credit Agreement and in any one or more of the Loan Documents
to such agreements and the words “hereunder,” “hereof” or words of like import referring to the Credit Agreement or any one or more of the Loan
Documents, as the case may be, shall mean and be a reference to the Credit Agreement or such other Loan Document, as applicable, as modified by this
Limited Waiver. This Limited Waiver constitutes a Loan Document for all purposes.
5.9
RELEASE OF CLAIMS AND WAIVER OF DEFENSES . IN FURTHER CONSIDERATION OF ADMINISTRATIVE AGENT’S AND THE
REQUIRED LENDERS’ EXECUTION OF THIS LIMITED WAIVER, EACH LOAN PARTY, ON BEHALF OF ITSELF AND ITS SUCCESSORS, ASSIGNS,
AFFILIATES, OFFICERS, DIRECTORS, EMPLOYEES AND AGENTS HEREBY FOREVER, FULLY, UNCONDITIONALLY AND IRREVOCABLY
WAIVES AND RELEASES ADMINISTRATIVE AGENT, LENDERS AND THEIR RESPECTIVE SUCCESSORS, ASSIGNS, PARENTS, SUBSIDIARIES,
AFFILIATES, OFFICERS, DIRECTORS, EMPLOYEES AND AGENTS (COLLECTIVELY, THE “ RELEASEES”) FROM ANY AND ALL CLAIMS,
LIABILITIES, OBLIGATIONS, DEBTS, CAUSES OF ACTION (WHETHER AT LAW OR IN EQUITY OR OTHERWISE), DEFENSES, COUNTERCLAIMS,
SETOFFS, OF ANY KIND, WHETHER KNOWN OR UNKNOWN, WHETHER LIQUIDATED OR UNLIQUIDATED, MATURED OR UNMATURED, FIXED
OR CONTINGENT, DIRECTLY OR INDIRECTLY ARISING OUT OF, CONNECTED WITH, RESULTING FROM OR RELATED TO ANY ACT OR
OMISSION BY ADMINISTRATIVE AGENT, ANY LENDER OR ANY OTHER RELEASEE WITH RESPECT TO THE LOAN DOCUMENTS AND ANY
COLLATERAL, IN EACH OF THE FOREGOING CASES OCCURRING ON OR BEFORE THE DATE OF THIS LIMITED WAIVER.
5.10

Miscellaneous. The miscellaneous provisions set forth in Article X of the Credit Agreement apply to this Limited Waiver.
[Remainder of Page Intentionally Left Blank;
Signature Page(s) Follow(s).]
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IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the parties hereto have caused this Amendment to be executed and delivered as of the date set forth on the first page hereof.
BORROWER:
BASIC ENERGY SERVICES, INC., a Delaware corporation
By:
Name:
Title:

/s/ Keith L. Schilling
Keith L. Schilling
President and Chief Executive Officer
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GUARANTORS
BASIC ENERGY SERVICES GP, LLC
BASIC ENERGY SERVICES LP, LLC
BASIC ESA, INC.
SCH Disposal, L.L.C.
TAYLOR INDUSTRIES, LLC
AGUA LIBRE HOLDCO LLC
AGUA LIBRE ASSET CO LLC
AGUA LIBRE MIDSTREAM LLC
By:
Name:
Title:

/s/ Keith L. Schilling
Keith L. Schilling
President and Chief Executive Officer

BASIC ENERGY SERVICES, L.P.
By:

Basic Energy Services GP, LLC,
Its General Partner

By:
Name:
Title:

/s/ Keith L. Schilling
Keith L. Schilling
President and Chief Executive Office

C&J WELL SERVICES, INC., a Delaware corporation
By:
Name:
Title:

/s/ Keith L. Schilling
Keith L. Schilling
President and Chief Executive Officer
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KVS TRANSPORTATION, INC., a California corporation
By:
Name:
Title:

/s/ Keith L. Schilling
Keith L. Schilling
President and Chief Executive Officer

INDIGO INJECTION #3, LLC, a Texas limited liability company
By:
Name:
Title:

/s/ Keith L. Schilling
Keith L. Schilling
President and Chief Executive Officer
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ADMINISTRATIVE AGENT AND LENDERS:
BANK OF AMERICA, N.A. , as Administrative
Agent, a Lender, an L/C Issuer and Swing Line
Lender
By:
Name:
Title:

/s/ Tanner J. Pump
Tanner J. Pump
Senior Vice President
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UBS AG, STAMFORD BRANCH, as a Lender
and a L/C Issuer
By:
Name:
Title:

/s/ Anthony Joseph
Anthony Joseph
Associate Director

By:
Name:
Title:

/s/ Houssem Daly
Houssem Daly
Director
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TEXAS CAPITAL BANK, NATIONAL
ASSOCIATION, as a Lender
By:
Name:
Title:

/s/ Dan Clubb
Dan Clubb
Senior Vice President
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SIEMENS FINANCIAL SERVICES, INC., as a
Lender
By:
Name:
Title:

/s/ Richard Holston
Richard Holston
Vice President

By:
Name:
Title:

/s/ Mark Schafer
Mark Schafer
Vice President
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SCHEDULE 1
SCHEDULE 1.01
COMMITMENTS and applicable percentages
Lender
Bank of America, N.A.
PNC Bank National Association
UBS AG, Stamford Branch
Siemens Financial Services, Inc.
Texas Capital Bank, National Association
TOTAL

Revolving Credit Commitment
$21,000,000.00
$20,000,000.00
$7,500,000.00
$7,500,000.00
$4,000,000.00
$60,000,000.00

Revolving Credit Applicable Percentage
35.00000000%
33.33333333%
12.50000000%
12.50000000%
6.66666667%
100.000000000%
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SECOND AMENDMENT TO EXCHANGE AGREEMENT
This SECOND AMENDMENT TO EXCHANGE AGREEMENT (this “ Amendment”), is made and entered into as of March 31, 2021, by and between
Basic Energy Services, Inc., a Delaware corporation (the “Company”), and Ascribe III Investments LLC, a Delaware limited liability company (the “ Noteholder”).
Each of the Company and the Noteholder shall be referred to herein as a “Party” and collectively as the “ Parties.”
RECITALS
WHEREAS, the Parties are party to that certain Exchange Agreement dated as of March 9, 2020 (the " Exchange Agreement"), as amended by that
certain First Amendment to Exchange Agreement dated as of November 5, 2020 (the “First Amendment”);
WHEREAS, (i) the First Amendment is void ab initio because the Exchange Offer (as defined in the First Amendment) expired in accordance with its
terms and no Settlement Date (as defined in the Offering Memorandum (as defined in the First Amendment)) occurred, and (ii) the amendments to the
Exchange Agreement set forth in the First Amendment did not become effective or operative because the Proposed Amendments (as defined in the Offering
Memorandum) never became effective and operative;
WHEREAS, pursuant to Section 7(a) of the Exchange Agreement, amendments or modifications to the Exchange Agreement may be made upon the
written consent of each party thereto; and
WHEREAS, the Parties desire to make certain amendments to the Exchange Agreement as set forth herein.
NOW, THEREFORE, for and in consideration of the mutual promises contained herein, the benefits to be derived by each Party hereunder, and other
good and valuable consideration, the receipt and sufficiency of which are hereby acknowledged, the Parties agree as follows:
AGREEMENT
1.
Defined Terms . Except as otherwise defined in this Amendment, capitalized terms used herein shall have the meanings given to them in the
Exchange Agreement.
2.

Amendments to the Exchange Agreement . Section 5(c) of the Exchange Agreement is hereby amended and restated in its entirety as follows:

Make-Whole Payment. As soon as practicable after the Noteholder purchases $34,350,000 aggregate principal amount of the Company’s 10.75% Senior
Secured Notes due 2023 from NexTier pursuant to Section 7.1 of the NexTier PSA, the Company shall pay to the Noteholder an amount equal to
$47,500,000 (the “Make-Whole Reimbursement Amount ”), payable in Additional Notes with an aggregate principal amount (rounded to the nearest
$1,000) equal to the Make-Whole Reimbursement Amount (the “Make-Whole Notes”). Each of the Company and Noteholder acknowledge and agree that
the issuance of the Make-Whole Notes in accordance with this Section 5(c) shall be in full and final settlement of any and all liability or obligation of the
Company with respect to the Make-Whole Reimbursement Amount.
3.

Representations and Warranties of the Noteholder . The Noteholder represents and warrants to the Company as follows:

(a)
Senior Notes Purchase . As of the date of this Amendment, the Noteholder has purchased from NexTier $34,350,000 aggregate
principal amount of the Company’s 10.75% Senior Secured Notes due 2023, for cash, in an amount equal to $34,350,000.
(b)
Transfer Restrictions. The offer and sale of the Additional Notes to be purchased or issued, as applicable, pursuant to this Amendment
are intended to be exempt from registration pursuant to Section 4(a)(2) of the Securities Act. The Noteholder acknowledges and agrees that (i) the Additional
Notes are “restricted securities” (as such term is commonly used with regard to federal and state securities laws) and (ii) the Additional Notes may not be
offered or sold except pursuant to an effective registration statement under the Securities Act or pursuant to an available exemption from, or in a transaction not
subject to, the registration requirements of the Securities Act, and otherwise in accordance with applicable state securities laws.
(c)
Ability to Bear Risk and Sophistication . The Noteholder understands that the transactions contemplated hereby and ownership and
investment in Additional Notes involves substantial risk. The Noteholder has such knowledge and experience in financial and business matters, and its financial
situation is such, that it is capable of evaluating the merits and risks of its participation in the transactions contemplated
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hereby and of bearing the economic risk of its investment in Additional Notes (including the complete loss of such investment).
(d)
Qualified Institutional Buyer. The Noteholder is a “qualified institutional buyer” within the meaning of Rule 144A under the Securities
Act, and is acquiring the Additional Notes for investment purposes and solely for its account and not with a view to further distribution or resale in violation of the
Securities Act.
(e)
Advice. The Noteholder has completed its own independent inquiry and has relied fully upon the advice of its own legal counsel,
accountant, financial and other advisors in determining the legal, tax, financial and other consequences of this Amendment and the Exchange Agreement and
the transactions contemplated hereby and the suitability of this Amendment and the Exchange Agreement and the transactions contemplated hereby and
thereby for the Noteholder and its particular circumstances.
(f)
No Other Representations or Warranties . Neither the Company nor any Affiliate or Representative of the Company nor any other
Person on behalf of the Company, its Affiliates or Representatives has made or is making any representation or warranty of any kind or nature whatsoever, oral
or written, express or implied with respect to the Company, this Amendment or the transactions contemplated hereby or thereby and the Noteholder disclaims
any reliance on any representation or warranty of the Company or any Affiliate or Representative of the Company.
4.
Ratification. Except as specifically provided for in this Amendment, no changes, amendments, waivers or other modifications have been or are
being made to the terms of the Exchange Agreement, which such terms are hereby ratified and confirmed and remain in full force and effect.
5.
Effect of Amendment . Whenever the Exchange Agreement is referred to in the Exchange Agreement or in any other agreements, documents
and instruments, such reference shall be deemed to be to the Exchange Agreement as amended by this Amendment.
6.
Miscellaneous. Sections 7(a) through 7(f) and 7(h) through 7(j) of the Exchange Agreement are hereby incorporated (mutatis mutandis) by
reference in their entirety to this Amendment.
7.
Expenses. No later than April 1, 2021, the Company shall pay all reasonable expenses of counsel to the Noteholder in connection with the
transactions contemplated by the Exchange Agreement, the First Amendment and the exchange offer and rights offering contemplated thereby, and this
Amendment.
[Remainder of page intentionally left blank; Signature pages follow.]

Exhibit 10.51

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the parties have executed this Amendment as of the date first written above.
COMPANY:
BASIC ENERGY SERVICES, INC.
By:
Name:
Title:

/s/ Keith L. Schilling
Keith L. Schilling
President and Chief Executive Officer
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NOTEHOLDER:
ASCRIBE III INVESTMENTS LLC
By:
Name:
Title:

/s/ Lawrence First
Lawrence First
Chief Investment Officer

Exhibit 21.1
Subsidiaries of Basic Energy Services, Inc.
As of December 31, 2020

Name of Subsidiary
Basic Energy Services GP, LLC
Basic Energy Services LP, LLC
Basic Energy Services, L.P.
Basic ESA, Inc.
C&J Well Services, Inc.
KVS Transportation, Inc.
Indigo Injection #3, LLC
Indigo Injection #3-1, LLC
North Dakota SWD Well #1, LLC
SCH Disposal, L.L.C.
Taylor Industries, LLC
Agua Libre Holdco LLC
Agua Libre Asset Co LLC
Agua Libre Midstream LLC
Basic Energy Services International, LLC

Jurisdiction of Formation
Delaware
Delaware
Delaware
Texas
Delaware
California
Texas
Delaware
Texas
Texas
Texas
Delaware
Delaware
Delaware
Delaware
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Consent of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm
The Board of Directors
Basic Energy Services, Inc. :
We consent to the incorporation by reference in the registration statements (No. 333-217288) on Form S-3 and (No. 333-231521 and No. 333-231519) on Form
S-8 of Basic Energy Services, Inc. and subsidiaries of our report dated March 31, 2021, with respect to the consolidated balance sheets of Basic Energy
Services, Inc. and subsidiaries as of December 31, 2020 and 2019, the related consolidated statements of operations, stockholders’ equity (deficit), and cash
flows for the years then ended, and the related notes (collectively, the “consolidated financial statements”) which report appears in the December 31, 2020
annual report on Form 10-K of Basic Energy Services, Inc. and subsidiaries.
Our report dated March 31, 2021 contains an explanatory paragraph that states that the Company has suffered recurring losses from operations, a net capital
deficiency, and liquidity constraints that raise substantial doubt about its ability to continue as a going concern. The consolidated financial statements do not
include any adjustments that might result from the outcome of this uncertainty.
KPMG LLP
Dallas, Texas
March 31, 2021
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CERTIFICATION BY CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER PURSUANT TO
RULE 13a-14(a) AND 15d-14(a) UNDER THE EXCHANGE ACT
I, Keith L. Schilling, certify that:
1. I have reviewed this annual report on Form 10-K of Basic Energy Services, Inc.;
2. Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary to make the
statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to the period covered by this report;
3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present in all material respects the
financial condition, results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this report;
4. The registrant’s other certifying officer and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in Exchange
Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) and internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f)) for the
registrant and have:
a) Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under our supervision, to
ensure that material information relating to the registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by others within those entities,
particularly during the period in which this report is being prepared;
b) Designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial reporting to be designed under our
supervision, to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external
purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles;
c) Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant’s disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our conclusions about the
effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this report based on such evaluation; and
d) Disclosed in this report any change in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the registrant’s most recent
fiscal quarter (the registrant’s fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annual report) that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially
affect, the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting; and
5. The registrant’s other certifying officer and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over financial reporting, to the
registrant’s auditors and the audit committee of the registrant’s board of directors (or persons performing the equivalent functions):
a) All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial reporting which are reasonably
likely to adversely affect the registrant’s ability to record, process, summarize and report financial information; and
b) Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the registrant’s internal control
over financial reporting.

/s/ Keith L. Schilling
Keith L. Schilling
Chief Executive Officer

Date: March 31, 2021

Exhibit 31.2
CERTIFICATION BY CHIEF FINANCIAL OFFICER PURSUANT TO
RULE 13a-14(a) AND 15d-14(a) UNDER THE EXCHANGE ACT
I, Adam L. Hurley, certify that:
1. I have reviewed this annual report on Form 10-K of Basic Energy Services, Inc.;
2. Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary to make the
statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to the period covered by this report;
3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present in all material respects the
financial condition, results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this report;
4. The registrant’s other certifying officer and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in Exchange
Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) and internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f)) for the
registrant and have:
a) Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under our supervision, to
ensure that material information relating to the registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by others within those entities,
particularly during the period in which this report is being prepared;
b) Designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial reporting to be designed under our
supervision, to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external
purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles;
c) Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant’s disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our conclusions about the
effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this report based on such evaluation; and
d) Disclosed in this report any change in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the registrant’s most recent
fiscal quarter (the registrant’s fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annual report) that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially
affect, the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting; and
5. The registrant’s other certifying officer and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over financial reporting, to the
registrant’s auditors and the audit committee of the registrant’s board of directors (or persons performing the equivalent functions):
a) All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial reporting which are reasonably
likely to adversely affect the registrant’s ability to record, process, summarize and report financial information; and
b) Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the registrant’s internal control
over financial reporting.

/s/ Adam L. Hurley
Adam L. Hurley
Chief Financial Officer

Date: March 31, 2021

Exhibit 32.1
CERTIFICATION BY CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER
PURSUANT TO 18 U.S.C. SECTION 1350,
AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO
SECTION 906 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002
In connection with the Annual Report of Basic Energy Services, Inc. (the “Company”) on Form 10-K for the period ending December 31, 2020 as filed with
the Securities and Exchange Commission on the date hereof (the “Report”), I, Keith L. Schilling, Chief Executive Officer of the Company, certify, pursuant to 18
U.S.C. § 1350, as adopted pursuant to § 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, to my knowledge, that:
(1) The Report fully complies with the requirements of section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934; and
(2) The information contained in the Report fairly presents, in all material respects, the financial condition and results of operations of the Company.

/s/ Keith L. Schilling
Keith L. Schilling
Chief Executive Officer

March 31, 2021

Exhibit 32.2
CERTIFICATION BY CHIEF FINANCIAL OFFICER
PURSUANT TO 18 U.S.C. SECTION 1350,
AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO
SECTION 906 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002
In connection with the Annual Report of Basic Energy Services, Inc. (the “Company”) on Form 10-K for the period ending December 31, 2020 as filed with
the Securities and Exchange Commission on the date hereof (the “Report”), I, Adam L. Hurley, Chief Financial Officer of the Company, certify, pursuant to 18
U.S.C. § 1350, as adopted pursuant to § 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, to my knowledge, that:
(1) The Report fully complies with the requirements of section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934; and
(2) The information contained in the Report fairly presents, in all material respects, the financial condition and results of operations of the Company.

/s/ Adam L. Hurley
Adam L. Hurley
Chief Financial Officer

March 31, 2021

